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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERHRE

To Shareholders,

On behalf of China Zenith Chemical Group Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2022 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$1,074
million. The Group also recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$1,064 million, representing an increase of
136% compared with that of the last financial year. The increase was due to
provision of impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets. For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$370
million, representing an increase of 62% compared with that of the last
financial year. The increase in revenue was mainly derived from the increase
in revenue of the calcium carbide segment (the “CC segment”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The calcium carbide production division is in the recovering trend. The
operation of Heihe Longjiang Chemical Limited (“HLCL”) is on the right track.
[t was believed that the HLCL will become profitable upon the increase in the
production volume.

In the heat and power division, the escalating coal price resulting in huge
operating loss for the Group. For the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders, the management intended to deliver the operation of the
heat and power division to the municipal government in Mudanjiang (the
“Suspension”). Since the Suspension would affect the heat supply of the
residents in Mudanjiang City, the operation of Mudanjiang Better Day Power
Limited (“Mudanjiang BD Power”) has been temporarily taken over by
HOOT ™ E R M 8 & B (n English, for identification purpose only,
Mudanjiang Authority of Housing and Urban-Rural Development) (the
“Authority”). Upon the cessation of control over Mudanjiang BD Power,
it shall be deemed as deconsolidated and the heat and power division be
classified as a discontinued operation in subsequent period.

In the construction services division, due to the effect of COVID-19 and
the travelling restriction were imposed in Mudanjiang City, the Group had
disposed the construction services division during the year to reduce the
burden of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHE (&)

PROSPECT

Looking forward, our management is closely monitoring the market conditions
and investigating the possibility in the resumption of the lower stream
operation as well as the polyvinyl-chloride and vinyl acetate production lines.
Aiming to improve the profit margin of HLCL, the management is optimizing
the internal control, the production lines and the production procedures.

Our management is seeking for opportunity to carry out new projects
and transactions which could bring economic value and benefit to our
shareholders.

GRATITUDE

On behalf of the Company, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, the business partners and the management and staff for their
unreserved support and continuing trust to the Group.

By order of the Board

Chan Yuk, Foebe
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 21 October 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately HK$370
million (2021: approximately HK$229 million), representing an increase
of approximately 62% compared with that of the last financial year. Loss
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$1,064 million (2021: approximately HK$450 million), representing an
increase of 136% compared with that of the last financial year.

The increase in the Group’s revenue was mainly derived from the increase in
revenue of the calcium carbide segment.

The Group’s selling and distribution costs for the Year was approximately
HK$20 million (2021: approximately HK$27 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 26% compared with that of the last financial
year. The decrease in selling and distribution costs was mainly due to the
implementation of stricter cost control over the heat and power segment.

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year was approximately HK$126
million (2021 (restated): approximately HK$106 million), representing an
increase of approximately 19% compared with that of the last financial year.
The increase in administrative expenses was mainly due to the resumption of
calcium carbide production during the Year.

The Group’s other operating expenses for the Year was approximately
HK$65 million (2021 (restated): approximately HK$114 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 43% compared with that of the last financial
year. The decrease in other operating expenses was due to the decrease in
provision of litigation claims during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Heat and power division

During the Year, the heat and power segment recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$171 million (2021: approximately HK$198 million)
from external customers, representing a decrease of approximately 14%
compared with that of the last financial year. Income from supply of heat for
the Year was approximately HK$159 million (2021: approximately HK$182
million), representing a decrease of approximately 13% when compared with
that of the last financial year. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease
in revenue was derived from the decrease in heat supply in the industrial
sector during the Year. Due to the escalating coal price during the Year, the
heat and power segment record a gross loss of approximately HK$58 million
(2021: gross profit of HK$48 million). The huge gross loss resulted an overall
gross loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss even there is a
gross profit in the calcium carbide segment. Segment loss for the Year was
approximately HK$819 million (2021: HK$73 million), representing an increase
of approximately 1,022% compared with that of the last financial year. The
increase in segment loss was mainly due to the escalating coal price resulting
in huge operating loss and impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets. In view of the peak coal price in the foreseeable
future, the management of the Group had ceased the operation of heat and
power segment.

Coal-related chemical production division

The coal-related chemical production division includes the calcium carbide
segment (the “CC segment”), the polyvinyl-chloride segment and the vinyl
acetate segment. During the Year, the CC segment recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$199 million (2021: approximately HK$23 million)
from external customers, representing an increase of approximately 765%
compared with that of the last financial year. The increase in sales of CC
segment was mainly due to the resumption of production since September
2021.

Construction services division

During the Year, the construction services division was disposed at a
consideration of approximately RMB1.2 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1.5 million). Due to (i) the slump of economic environment, (i) reduction
of capital consumption on infrastructure and (jii) the outbreak of COVID-19
resulting in travelling restriction, the management of the Group expected the
construction services division will continue to make loss in the foreseeable
future. Thus, the Group had disposed the construction services division
during the year to reduce the burden of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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PROSPECT

Although the COVID-19 pandemic still has impact on the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) economies and market price of coal is at its peak, the
Board overcome several barriers to resume the production of calcium carbide
in HLCL, a subsidiary of the Company. The Board believes that HLCL will
continue to be the growth driver of the Group in the forthcoming years.

Coal-related chemical production division

During the Year, HLCL has commenced the production of calcium carbide.
Although the outbreak of COVID-19 resulting the suspension of production
in early 2022, HLCL has reached the production of approximately 88,000
tonnes during the Year. Despite the decrease in market selling price of
calcium carbide as compared with last year, the business in sales and
production of calcium carbide is still profitable. The management expects the
profit margin will reach a record high figure once there is a rebound on the
economic environment. The management will closely monitor the situation
and will consider to resume the lower stream operation as well as the
Polyvinyl-chloride and Vinyl acetate production lines.

Heat and power division

During the Year, the heat and power division suffered a huge loss from the
escalating coal price. Therefore, the Group had been in discussion with the
Mudanijiang Municipal Government to deliver the operation of Mudanjiang BD
Power to the Mudanjiang Municipal Government. On 26 August 2022, the
Group received a notice (the “Notice”) issued by the Authority stating that in
order to ensure the stability of the heat supply to the residents of Mudanjiang
in the coming winter, the Authority has temporarily taken over the operations
of Mudanjiang BD Power. Upon the effective of the Notice, Mudanjiang BD
Power shall be deemed as deconsolidated from the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and be classified as a discontinued operation. The
Group is also liaising with the Authority relating to the Notice and the control
and operation of Mudanjiang BD Power.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
Capital structure

During the Year, the Group financed its operations and business development
with internally generated resources, non-equity funding and equity funding.

Liquidity and financial ratios

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$1,238
million (2021: approximately HK$2,071 million), which were financed by
current liabilities of approximately HK$1,117 million (2021: approximately
HK$1,284 million), non-current liabilities of approximately HK$947
million (2021: approximately HK$699 million), non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$48 million (2021: approximately HK$59 million) and
shareholders’ equity of deficit by approximately HK$873 million (2021: surplus
by approximately HK$30 million). As at 30 June 2022, the current assets of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$150 million (2021: approximately
HK$326 million), comprising inventories of approximately HK$22 million (2021:
approximately HK$6 million), trade receivables of approximately HK$30
million (2021: approximately HK$23 million), prepayments, deposits and other
receivables of approximately HK$74 million (2021: approximately HK$137
million), financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$2 million (2021: approximately HK$1 million), and cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$13 million (2021: approximately HK$47
million).

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s current ratio (current assets/current
liabilities), quick ratio (current assets — inventory)/current liabilities),
gearing ratio (total debts/total assets) and debts to equity ratio (total
debts/shareholders’ equity) of the Group were approximately 0.1
(2021: approximately 0.3), approximately 0.1 (2021: approximately 0.2),
approximately 167% (2021: approximately 96%) and deficit by approximately
250% (2021: surplus by approximately 2,235%), respectively. The higher
gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the impairment of assets of
Mudanjiang BD Power, whilst the total debts of the Group remained stable.
Throughout the Year, the management had taken several measures to
improve the liquidity position and financial position of the Group.

Although the Group was in a net current liabilities position and net liabilities
position as at 30 June 2022, the management has closely monitored the
Group’s liquidity position and has taken appropriate measures to ensure it
had sufficient resources to meet its financial obligations.

gy E)]

XGRS
e
RAFE  AEBEBRBELER - ERAE
ERBAEERNEEREBERITBES -

RBETRUBER

REBESRUHER

RIBE-—FXA=1+8 KEBMZHELEEDN
B1238BEEBT(ZTE_—F 92,0711 BER

o) JyEARBEEITEEETL(ZE - —
F 128488 ET)  ERDBEENMUTESE
BIL(ZE=—F  #9699F BB 7T) « IEIEARHERS
H4sEBETL(ZT—F : L9597 EETT) MR
REREENST3EEA L (ZS—F « BfHY
FEEAT)EN R-ZE-—FXA=1TH" &K
EB R EENAIS0AEETL(Z T - — ﬁ:

#326BEBTL)  BRIEFEY22BEEL(Z
——F:4H6EEBT)  EBKES EEIE?\’USOEF%

BT(ZE-—F : Y23@8EBExT)  BANZE

A REMBRFIBN7TIEEBL(ZE=_—F :
HI7TEBEEL)  RATEFABRZZEREE
HoaERT(ZEZ—F  H11E8B L) UKR
T RRSEEEENISEEAL(ZZE—F : 4
ATEBATL) °

MRZBE-—FXNA=1+H  AEEZEBLERCR
PHEE/RPEE)  RILR(RBEE -7
g)/REBEE)  AEABLER(BERBE
BE)REFEERLE(BERREER) DR A
#90.1(ZZ=—%F : £90.3) » H0A(ZZT=——%F:
#0.2) ~ HI167%(ZF = —%F : 8996% ) K E 18
H1250% (=ZF = —4F : BERr#I2,235%) - BEEA
BHERSNEERERAHATIEBREEER
B MAEBENBESERETE  NEEALTFE
W EEEERNZERBEARENER 2 RE
BRSO o

BEAEEANR —_ZE-__FXA=+THERRBE
BFEMRA L BEFENRL  HEBEDEYE
RAKBERREE AN + WIS EHE HEATE

{%$%I%ﬁﬁi%@éﬁ%@ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%%& o



FEXCIRERRAT

TR FFR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
(Continued)

Non-equity funding

Bank loans

As at 30 June 2022, the bank loans of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$22 million (2021: approximately HK$59 million). Based on the agreed
repayment schedule set out in the loan agreements, bank loans of
approximately HK$9 million (2021: approximately HK$43 million) were
repayable within 12 months, of which approximately HK$16 million was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and approximately HK$6 million was
denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) (2021: approximately HK$19 million was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and approximately HK$40 million was
denominated in RMB, respectively).

Bonds

As at 30 June 2022, the aggregate amount of bonds payable was
approximately HK$1,066 million (2021: approximately HK$1,086 million). The
net proceeds raised from the placing of bonds were applied to enhance the
working capital of the Group.

Equity funding

On 6 January 2022, the Company completed a rights issue. The net proceeds
raised from the rights issue by issuing 886,853,659 shares at HK$0.12 on the
basis of one right share for every two existing shares held were approximately
HK$101.13 million. As at the date of this report, approximately HK$94.1
million was used to repayment of the Group’s indebtedness and interest
expenses and approximately HK$7.03 million was used as general working
capital of the Group.

Details of the rights issue were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 23 November 2021, 15 December 2021 and 6 January
2022.

On 21 June 2022, the Company completed the issue of the zero-coupon
convertible bonds due 2023 in the principal amount of HK$35,400,000 (the
“Convertible Bonds”) to two individual subscribers, Mr. Chiau Che Kong
(Mr. Chiau) and Ms. Wong Chui Bing (Ms. Wong). The conversion price of
the Convertible Bonds is HK$0.1 per conversion share. The closing price of
the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) on 21 June 2022 was HK$0.067.
The subscription monies payable by Mr. Chiau in the sum of HK$18,600,000
under the Subscription Agreement shall be satisfied by setting off the Indebted
Amount A due from the Company to Mr. Chiau while the subscription monies
payable by Ms. Wong in the sum of HK$16,800,000 under the Subscription
Agreement shall be satisfied by setting off the Indebted Amount B due from
the Company to Ms. Wong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
(Continued)

Equity funding (Continued)

Details of the issue of the Convertible Bonds were disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 21 June 2022.

Significant investment held by the Company

As at 30 June 2022, the Company did not have any significant investments,
except for the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$2 million (2021: approximately HK$1 million). During the
Year, the Company had recorded a fair value gain on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, net of approximately HK$2 million (2021: fair value
loss of approximately HK$4 million) and gain on disposal of financial assets
FVTPL of approximately HK$0.2 million (2021: approximately HK$1 million).

Charges on the Group’s assets

As at 30 June 2022, bank loans and other loans of approximately HK$22
million (2021: approximately HK$59 million) and approximately HK$120 million
(2021: approximately HK$69 million), respectively, were secured by charges
over the Group’s certain property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
and 51% of equity shares of a PRC wholly owned subsidiary.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Termination of disclosable transaction in relation to
the disposal of 40% equity interests in a subsidiary

On 4 September 2020, Mudanjiang Longtuo New Energy Co., Ltd.
(“Mudanjiang New Energy”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into an equity transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer
Agreement”) with Mr. Lv Wangsheng (“Mr. Lv”), an independent third party,
to dispose of 40% of the equity interest (the “Disposal”) in Mudanjiang BD
Power. As at 28 December 2021, the Disposal has not been completed and
Mudanjiang New Energy had only received an aggregate of RMB25 million
from Mr. Lv. Given that Mr. Lv has failed to commit further payment in settling
the whole consideration of RMB70 million in accordance with the manner
stipulated in the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Board announces that the
Vendor has exercised its right to terminate the Equity Transfer Agreement on
20 December 2021. Mudanjiang New Energy did not proceed to completion
of the Disposal nor execute any Transactions. Mudanjiang New Energy
had forfeited the aggregate of RMB25 million received from Mr. Lv upon
termination.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEETWR D (&)

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)

Disclosable and connected transaction in relation

to the disposal of 100% equity interests in a
deconsolidated subsidiary

On 7 October 2021, Prosper Path and Mr. Sze entered into the Share
Transfer Agreement in respect of the disposal of the 70% of the entire issued
shares of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary by Prosper Path to Mr. Sze at cash
consideration of HK$3,800,000.

Mr. Sze held 30% of the entire issued shares of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiary and was a director of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary. Accordingly
Mr. Sze was a connected person and the Disposal constituted a connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As (i) Mr. Sze was a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level; (i) the Board had
approved the Disposal; and (jii) the independent non-executive Directors had
confirmed that the Disposal is on normal commercial terms and its terms are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 47 of the consolidated financial statements, the
Group did not have any significant event after June 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2022, save as disclosed in note 44 of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Although most of the Group’s operations were carried out in the PRC in
which transactions were denominated in RMB, the Directors consider that the
Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations, despite
of the devaluation of RMB during the Year. The Directors also consider that
there will be sufficient cash resources denominated in Hong Kong dollars
for the repayment of borrowings and future dividends. During the Year, the
Group did not use any financial instrument for hedging purposes and the
Group did not have any hedging instrument as at 30 June 2022.

In face of currency market instability, the Group will make use of hedging
instruments to mitigate the exchange rate risk as and when appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEETWR D (&)

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Subsequent to the passing of the special resolution approving the proposed
change of company name by the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 9 December 2021, the Certificate
of Incorporation on Change of Name and the Certificate of Secondary Name
were issued by the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda on 1 February 2022,
certifying the change of primary name of the Company from “Xinyang Maojian
Group Limited” to “China Zenith Chemical Group Limited” and the change of
secondary name of the Company from “[ZfF5ELREBE B R AR to “FEX
L TEB AR AR The Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong issued the
Certificate of Registration of Alteration of Name of Registered Non Hong Kong
Company on 18 March 2022, confirming the registration of the Company’s
new English and Chinese names of “China Zenith Chemical Group Limited”
and “FEIR(E TEEBR A A, respectively, in Hong Kong under Part 16 of
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

With effect from 9:00 a.m. on 14 April 2022, the stock short name changed
from “XINYANG MAOJIAN” to “C ZENITH CHEM” in English and from “/5F5
F4AL” to “AEIR{E T in Chinese for the purpose of trading in the Shares on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
stock code of the Company on the Stock Exchange remained unchanged
as “362". The corporate website address of the Company changed from
xinyangmaojian.com.hk to chinazenith.com.hk with effect from 25 April 2022.

Details of the change of name of the Company were set out in the circular
of the Company dated 16 November 2021 and the announcements of the
Company dated 5 July 2021, 11 April 2022 and 25 April 2022, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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NUMBER AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had 496 full time employees in the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group recognises the importance of human resources to its
success. Remuneration is maintained at competitive levels with discretionary
bonuses payable on a merit basis and in line with industry practice. Other
staff benefits provided by the Group include mandatory provident fund,
insurance schemes and performance-related commissions.

The Company also operated a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group. The Scheme was proposed by the Board on 29
November 2012 and approved by its shareholders on 20 December 2012.
As at 30 June 2022, there were 99,135,542 Share options outstanding. The
Share options with exercisable period up to 2 November 2023 at the adjusted
exercise price of HK$0.397 per Share.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

fHRESLHLE

This report describes the Group’s corporate governance practices applied
throughout the year ended 30 June 2022 (the “Year”).

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance corporate value
and accountability.

The Company has, throughout the Year, complied with the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”), except
for a certain deviation which is summarised below:

DISTINCTIVE ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1

Paragraph C.2.1 of the Code provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Throughout the Year, the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
were performed by the same individual, Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe, and were not
separated. The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) meets
regularly to consider issues related to corporate matters affecting operations
of the Group and considers that this deviation will not impair the balance
of power and authority of the Board and the Company’s management and
thus, the Board believes the current structure will enable effective planning
and implementation of corporate strategies and decisions of the Group.
Notwithstanding the above, the Board will review the current structure from
time to time and shall make necessary amendments at the appropriate time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and practices

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s strategic planning and
development, and for determining the objectives, strategic and policies
of the Group while delegating day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management. Besides, each member of the Board is expected to make a full
and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and ensure that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The
Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a director to perform
his or her responsibilities to the Company, and whether he or she is spending
sufficient time performing them.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised seven members, namely,
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the
Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Gao Ran and Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric as executive
Directors, Mr. Liu Yangyang as non-executive director and Mr. Ma Wing Yun
Bryan, Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit as independent non-executive
Directors. Details of their respective experience and qualification are set out
in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section of
this annual report. An updated list of Directors and their respective roles and
functions has been maintained on the websites of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

The Board has maintained a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the businesses of the Group. Its composition represents
a mixture of management, accounting and finance, marketing, manufacturing
and procurement with comprehensive experience in and exposure to
diversified businesses. It is the opinion of the Directors that the Board has the
necessary skills and experience appropriate for discharging their duties as
Directors in the best interests of the Company.

Besides, to the best knowledge of the Company, there is no material/relevant
relationship, whether financial, operational, business, family, etc., among
members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition and practices (Continued)

The Company had received confirmation from the independent non-executive
Directors that they complied with the guidelines on independence set out
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and had not violated any provision
thereunder throughout the Year. Amongst them, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan,
Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit have the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management expertise
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Appropriate liability insurance for Directors has been arranged for indemnifying
their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. This insurance coverage is
reviewed on an annual basis.

Training and support for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Each newly-
appointed director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s
businesses and the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of
a listed company. To comply with code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all
Directors during the Year, namely Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe, Mr Gao Ran, Mr.
Law Tze Ping Eric, Mr. Yu Defa, Mr. Liu Yangyang, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan,
Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit have participated in the Group
briefings and other training provided by the Group to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Group continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. Circulars or guidance notes were issued to
Directors and senior management, where appropriate, to ensure awareness
of best corporate governance practices.

During the Year, the Directors also read various literature on Directors’
obligations and responsibilities. A record of the training received from each
of the Directors are kept and updated by the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EREREE (R)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEEgw
The Board meeting - full Directors’ board meeting EEXgeE 2REEEER

The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at quarterly intervals and EZS@FHBITEESZINAZEESS  1TE
holds additional meetings as and when the Board thinks appropriate. EEEERASERBHABEIINGE -

During the Year, 10 Board meetings were held for discussion of the RAEEEHIHALNFTNETELETHAEESE
Company’s matters. The attendance of each director, on a named basis and % > NEE R - WHEZLRBERIFEHDTFELESH
BEFEER2REEHIET

by category, at the Board meetings during the Year is set out below:

Number of meetings

attended/Number of
Board meetings held
HESERE
Directors B=E EESERBETAY™
Executive Directors HiTER
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe PRS2zt 10/10
Mr. Gao Ran mEEE 2/10
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric O 10/10
Mr. Yu Defa (Note () TR A (ME) 0/5
Non-executive Director IHEBTEE
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note (ii)) B33 55 S0 A (BIREG) 01
Independent non-executive Directors BUHNTESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan BEEMIETE 10/10
Mr. Tam Ching Ho ERZLE 10/10
Mr. Hau Chi Kit BT E 10/10
Notes: PfHsE -
i) Mr. Yu Defa has retired as an executive director on 9 December 2021. (i) FEBEAER_E-_—F+-ANBEREWNTE
£
(ii) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May 2022. (ii) BEFEER S _—_FRAA-+NBEZTA

FEMITEE -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting - executive Directors’ board

meeting

In addition, during the Year, 23 executive Directors’ board meetings were held
to deal with the compliance of legal and administrative procedures, including
internal corporate re-structuring and company secretarial matters.

To handle the above-mentioned matters, at least two executive Directors

were required to form a quorum.

The attendance of each Director, on

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2022

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)
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REER  REARERMESBRESHFEH

a named basis and by category, at the

executive Directors’ Board meeting during the Year is set out below: TEZEESFH 2REEINAT
Number of meetings
attended/Number of
executive Directors’
board meetings held
HESRRE,
BITEES
Directors B=E BRBTRE
Executive Directors HiTER
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe PRS2+ 23/23
Mr. Gao Ran mEEE 13/23
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric BTV EAE 23/23
Mr. Yu Defa (Note () TR A (ME) 0/12
Non-executive Director HMITEE
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note (ii)) 2157 7 5 A (P EE (i) N/A “~3E
Independent non-executive Directors BUHNITESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan BEEMSEE N/A i
Mr. Tam Ching Ho ERFLE N/A 3
Mr. Hau Chi Kit BB E N/A i A
Notes: I3E
i) Mr. Yu Defa has retired as an executive director on 9 December 2021, (i) FEHEEER T -_—F+-ANLBEINTE
5.
(i) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May 2022. (i) B EAER T FRA -t BEZTA

FMITEE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEERKRE(E)
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEEgw
The Board meeting - committee meeting EESSE Z£E88E

During the Year, 9 Board committee meetings were held. The attendance RAFEEERITNANEELZESEE - AFE
of each director, on a named basis and by category, at Board committee A+ IREZ LERIFEI 0 BREZLFEEEE
meetings during the Year is set out below: EEWmIIREEINNT

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

HESBERY FHRETAH

Remuneration Audit Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Directors B=x FHZzEY ERZEY REZEEE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe PREZ+ N/A i A N/A i A 3/3
Mr. Gao Ran =% N/A i F N/A i N/A i F
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric BTFRE N/A i A N/A “NiE N/A “~iE A
Mr. Yu Defa (Note (i)) T g s A (B EE() N/A 7 A N/A “INiE N/A “~3E
Non-executive Director FHITEE
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note (ii)) 257 7 5o (BRE(G)) N/A “~ig N/A i@ R N/A A3
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHTESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan FSERRSEAE 3/3 3/3 3/3
Mr. Tam Ching Ho BRREE 3/3 3/3 3/3
Mr. Hau Chi Kit EEAEE 3/3 3/3 3/3
Notes: M3 -
i) Mr. Yu Defa has retired as an executive director on 9 December 2021. [0} FREEEER_E-_—F+-_ANBERENTE
=

(ii) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May 2022. (ii) BFFEER —E - R -+ NBEZTA

FEMITEE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting - committee meeting (Continued)
Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, meetings or extraordinary
meetings of the Board may be convened by means of telephone or similar
telecommunication facilities. Regular meetings of the Board were held during
the Year. Extra meetings were also held to cater for important matters
arising from time to time. Notices of regular Board meetings are served
to all Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. Board papers
together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to
all Directors/committee members at least three days before each meeting to
keep the Directors appraised of the latest developments and financial position
of the Company to enable them to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board/committee meetings would be kept by the Company
Secretary and shall be open for inspection by Directors. Where Directors have
a material or conflict of interests in any transaction discussed in the Board/
committee meetings, such a transaction will not be dealt with by way of
written resolutions unless clear declaration of interest is made by the relevant
Directors. The Directors concerned could express their views on the matter
but would not be counted as part of the quorum and shall abstain from voting
on the relevant resolutions.

In addition, to facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors have free
access to the management for enquiries and to obtain further information,
when required. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice,
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging
their duties to the Company. All Directors have unrestricted access to the
Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board/committee
procedures are complied with and for advising the Board/committee on
compliance matters.

Non-executive Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
should attend Board, committee and general meetings and contribute to the
Company’s strategy and policies.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointment and re-election of directors
The Company has established formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment and succession plan of directors.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term.
The term of office for Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan is two years with effect from 1
April 2021. The term of office for Mr. Tam Ching Ho is two years with effect
from 7 December 2021. The term of office for Mr. Hau Chi Kit is two years
with effect from 18 December 2021.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

The Board as a whole, with the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing
and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession plan of directors and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Board
confirmed that all the Directors had complied with the required standard of
dealings set out in the Model Code throughout the Year. No incidents of non-
compliance of such guidelines was noted by the Company during the Year.
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EEERHE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”) and the Nomination Committee for overseeing particular
aspects of affairs of the Company. These committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, as approved by the Board, which set
out the committee’s major duties.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the
Company.

Audit committee

The Company set up the Audit Committee on 8 April 2001, with written
terms of reference, for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision
over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal control systems. In
accordance with the requirements of the Code, the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee were revised on 21 October 2006, 21 March 2012 and 31
December 2018, respectively, in terms substantially the same as the code
provisions set out in the Code.

As at 30 June 2022, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (chairman), Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit, all of whom are not involved in the day-to-day
management of the Company.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the Company’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee is also
responsible for reviewing the auditor’s appointment, the auditor’s remuneration
and any matters relating to the termination of, the appointment of and the
resignation of the auditor. In addition, the Audit Committee also examines the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and risk management, which
involve regular reviews of the internal controls of various corporate structure
and business processes on a continuous basis, and take into account their
respective potential risk and urgency, to ensure the effectiveness of the
Company’s business operations, risk management system and the realisation
of its corporate objectives and strategies. The scope of such examinations
and reviews include finance, operations, regulatory compliance and risk
management. Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access
to the external auditor and all senior management of the Group in order to
discharge its responsibilities. Save as disclosed above, during the Year, the
Audit Committee reviewed the audited financial statements of the Company
for the Year and the unaudited financial statements of the Company for the
six months ended 31 December 2021. It also reviewed the system of internal
control and risk management of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit committee (Continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee met twice with the external auditor.
Please refer to the table set out in the section “The Board Meeting -
Committee Meeting” of this report for the attendance record of individual
Audit Committee members. The Audit Committee met with the external
auditors and management to discuss and review, among others, (i) the
scope of work, timetable and auditors’ fee; (ii) the auditors’ disclaimer of
opinion set out in the financial statements for the Year; (i) interim results for
the six months ended 31 December 2021; (iv) the adequacy and quality of
accounting and financial reporting staff; and (v) risk management and the
internal control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee reviewed and
confirmed the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and to evaluate
the effectiveness of the internal control systems, together with the scope of
audit services and fees in connection therewith.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited, be nominated for re-appointment as auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 July 2005 with its specific
written terms of reference revised on 21 March 2012 and 31 December
2018, respectively, in compliance with the code provisions of the Code. As
at 30 June 2022, the Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (chairman), Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, inter alia, advising the
Board on the remuneration policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company, as well as reviewing
and either determining with delegated responsibility the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management or
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management in accordance with
code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code; making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors, and approving the
compensation to executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of their office or appointment, and reviewing and approving
compensation relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct.
No Director was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

BEEZEEmW

BEREEg W@

REEA - FZEE QI EIEZ RS E M
Ko BEABENEZEZEGXNE 2 HELH - F2
HAmE Esegsn—ZEeg% ] —EMHE5
o EBERZECHINERBMLEREERTE
o AT RARET (AR B () TIEEE « R
ERZBMER  (\ANFEMBHRRATEZIZH
MTBRRER  (IEBE-_T-—F+-_A=1+—
BibAEAzRHEIZES  (VETETBHREAR
ZRBUENEER  RVAEEZERERERAE
EEHE - BiZE B gD BH W ERINEZEAD
ZEMMERZREM - W ERIBEEIRTIE 2 B X
M ARBEZARSEE R BRRE -

ERZESRRESFERNARFAEERRBE KR
SRAEF(FE) S MEBMAERAREER
NAVZELED -

FWEES

ARRR —_EERFLA-BRUFHEES
WHEREEMBEEERDRIN —E——F=
A-t+—AR=ZF-NF+-A=+—HEF]"
AP FRIZTFANR c R=ZF-—FRXA=+
B ¥HEEem=RBIUFATEEHFEME
H(XF)  BRREERGEEHEEERK -

RIEFRZ FRMGCEEI 200K - HFHEES
BEHPER)RFHERLEERARA R
EEABMEHFMABRESESRHEER  1#
RECENRETEWITESREREEARL
HHASKNEFTEEZRERTEERRRER
ABZHMFE  HFRTESNFHRESS
TEHER  URBRATEERSREEARL
B RSB S AR I R 2 W EIA R =B A&
EFRRRIRRITAREEEZMHE -MEES
BREERTHH -

25




26

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2022

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration committee (Continued)

Remuneration of directors and senior management

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band for the Year is set out below:

EEZESW

FMEESWm)
EERSHREEAETH

RIETALY TREX EEA 56 - AEESREIE
AEBREBHMEERIIMT :

Number of individuals

Remuneration band (HK$) FroNEE (B oT) AE
Nil to 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 8

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. During the Year,
the Remuneration Committee met four times, during which it assessed the
performance of the executive Directors. The attendance of each member
of the Remuneration Committee, on a named basis and by category, at the
committee meetings during the Year is set out in the section “The Board
Meeting — Committee Meeting” of this report.

Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 2 November 2007, with
its specific written terms of reference revised on 21 March 2012 and 31
December 2018, respectively, in compliance with the code provisions of the
Code. To ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board,
the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee require that a majority of
the members should be independent non-executive Directors. As at 30 June
2022, the Nomination Committee comprised one executive Director, namely
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (chairman), and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau
Chi Kit.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)
The Nomination Committee is responsible for, inter alia, the following:

(@  to review the structure, size and composition (including the skKills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(c)  toassess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer;

(e)  to do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its powers
and functions conferred on it by the Board;

) to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws;
and

(@ to ensure the chairman of the Committee, or in the absence of the
chairman, another member of the Committee or failing this his duly
appointed delegate, be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Nomination Committee would review the composition of the Board from
time to time where Board diversity would be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of services. Details of workforce by gender of the Group will be set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published for the
Year. The Group will strive to maintain gender diversity when recruiting
and selecting key management and other personnel across the Group’s
operations.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy on 31
December 2018. The Nomination Committee, acting on behalf of the Board,
reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy
on an on-going basis and at least once in each financial year and reports
to the Board. The Board overall is satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board’s diversity policy for the Year. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse composition of
the Board, gender and other qualities will be considered in determining the
optimum Board composition. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates are likely to bring to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met four times during which
discussed and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.
Please refer to the table set out in the section “The Board Meeting -
Committee Meeting” of this report for the attendance record of individual
Nomination Committee members.

Corporate governance functions

During the Year, the Board determined the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company, and performed, inter alia, the following duties: (a)
developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and made recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (c) developed, reviewed and monitored the
code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors; (d) reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report; and (e) reviewed and monitored the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management.

Company secretary

Mr. Ma Kin Ling was appointed as the Company Secretary since May 2016.
Mr. Ma has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year. The Company is of the view that Mr. Ma
has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for (i) overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group with a view to ensuring
such financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards; and (ii) selecting suitable accounting policies
and applying them consistently with the support of reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates.

The independent auditor’s report of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set
out on pages 59 to 64 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” section of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of this annual
report, there are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit
Committee in respect of the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal
of external auditor.

The remuneration paid to McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited, the external
auditor of the Company, and the nature of services are set out as follows:
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Type of services provided by Fee paid/payable
the external auditor NS A BT A iR (R AR S 2 U g4 ENER
HK$’000
FAT
Audit services: BER -
Audit of annual financial statements EBEREFUHRE 1,100
Non-audit services: FEZERTE -
Reviewing the Group’s EHAEE
1. working capital forecast, statement of pro 1., BEASTEN  BEAEEEFERER
forma net tangible assets and statement of B
indebtedness; 180
2. the adjustment to the share options and 2. HHERERBRRESHFE &
convertible bonds; and 16
3. the condensed consolidated financial 3. BE-ZT-—F+-A=+—HI~EA
information for the six months ended 2 ERRsRE g E R
31 December 2021 80

276
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and risk management systems. The internal control and risk management
systems are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and the risks to
which it is exposed, and by their nature can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute assurance against misstatement or loss.

Procedures have been set up to safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, control capital expenditure, maintain proper accounting
records and ensure the reliability of financial information used for business
and publication. Qualified management throughout the Group maintains and
monitors the internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

The internal audit department was set up on 15 May 2006, under the
supervision of the Board. During the Year, the Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls
and risk management. The review covers aspects relating to financial and
compliance controls of the major subsidiaries of the Company. Moreover,
operation professionals had been appointed to perform reviews on the new
information systems and operations. These reviews included operational
workflow and risk management controls over new manufacturing functions
of the Company. It was also the Board’s review to consider the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

The Board is satisfied that the systems of risk management and internal
control in place for the year under review and up to the date of issuance of
the annual report and accounts are reasonably effective and adequate.

UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY

According to the independent auditor’s report on pages 59 to 64 of this
annual report, the Company’s auditors expressed a disclaimer of opinion on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30
June 2022 regarding:

(@  Uncertainties relating to going concern; and

(b)  Deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
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TEERKRE(E)
UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING BRERERBUHGE ARKREB L
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A Al TNABEZER@®
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
The followings are further information regarding the above matters: UTABHELMSEEMNE—FTER
(@) Uncertainties relating to going concern (a) ERFELKE ZTHBEERE

The management’s position and basis (the “Going Concern Basis’) EREHRBERERRNEERAE([HE

on the going concern assumption has been referred to in note 2 to the KERE | DNBHATE_ZF+A=+—

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 in AMAFREREE S - —FA=1+H1t
this Report (“2022 Financial Statements”) dated 21 October 2022. FENGREVBRE( B _F0BR
= Mot -

Referring to independent auditor’s report on pages 59 to 64 of this SENFRFLIE 64 B /T 1% B AN R

annual report, the management of the Company noted that the & KRREEBBAARRAMZEA ([ %H

Company’s auditors (the “Auditors”) considered the following: B

1. The going concern basis of preparation of the consolidated 1. RELGEESVBRRNSELEEED
financial statements had been adequately disclosed in the REREIHERRAED R E
consolidated financial statements;

2. The Group incurred net loss of approximately HK$1,073.8 2. AEBREBEZZ-_—FA=1H
million for the year ended 30 June 2022 and, as of that date, IFFEEEFEELN1,073.88 85
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by T REEZBLE ASENRE
approximately HK$966.5 milion. As at 30 June 2022, the Group BEBLERBEELI6.5H S
had bank loans and bonds payable amounted to approximately TLeMRZE-—FRA=Z1+H 4&&
HK$22.4 million and approximately HK$1,066.2 million EMRITERRENES DAL
respectively, out of which approximately HK$6.3 million and 22.4F BB T RA1,066.2B88E T
approximately HK$83.3 million respectively had been overdue HA SR B46.35 &8 T k4183.38
and had not been settled by the Group. No waiver was granted EBTEDBaBRAEEERER - R
by the respective lenders during the year and up to the date AEEMBE_T - —FUHBHRRE
when 2022 Financial Statements were authorized for issue; BETE B SEFRFRERD

FRFR

3. Up to the date of the report, no agreement has been reached 3. EHEAWREAH - HARELHISEEE
with bondholders for the bonds in the amount of approximately BILEFNESFE AENRE
HK$158 million;

4. Up to the date of this report, the sales of land use rights of certain 4, HEAREAH  HATKEERSE

lands in Hong Kong and the PRC had not been completed; PR A BIE T ) T s A
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EEERHE (F)

UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

(a)

Uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued)
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group has
sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is for 18
months ending 31 December 2023, on the assumption that the
Company would (i) reach an extension agreement regarding the bonds
of approximately HK$158 million due to the bondholders; (i) complete
the sales of land use rights of certain lands in the PRC shortly; (iii) reach
an extension or waiver agreement regarding the approximately HK$77
million provision for litigation claims; and (iv) successfully implement
the cost cutting measures to reduce administrative expenses and cash
outflows (collectively the “Going Concern Measures”). However,
as the Auditors were unable to obtain sufficient evidence from the
management for the above underlying assumptions on going concern,
the Auditors issued a disclaimer of opinion in relation to limitation
of scope of the adoption of going concern basis in preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

The Company considers it necessary to implement the Going Concern
Measures for addressing the audit qualification made for the year
ended 30 June 2022.

The Company is currently working on possible action plans (the “Action
Plans”) to address the audit qualification regarding going concern
assumption for the subsequent financial years, including negotiation
and conclusion for a longer term of renewal of existing borrowings and
other liabilities (the “Debts”) and possible ways for repayment of the
Debts.

The Company would strive to finalise and implement the Action Plans
which should address the audit qualification regarding going concern
assumption for the financial year ending 30 June 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

(@) Uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued)
The Auditors considered that, in respect of the going concern
assumption as set out in note 2 to the 2022 Financial Statements, the
audit modification on going concern would be removed in the next
year’s auditor report if:

1. The Company can successfully obtain extension of the bond
payable in the mount of approximately HK$158 million;

2. The Company can complete the sale of land use rights of certain
lands in the PRC;

3. The Company can successfully reach an extension or waiver
agreement regarding a provision of approximately HK$77 million
in litigation claims; and

4, The Company can successfully implement cost cutting measures.

The audit committee has discussed with the Company, reviewed the
2022 Financial Statements, and agreed with the going concern basis
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements as well as the
necessity to implement the Going Concern Measures and to finalise
and implement the Action Plans for addressing the audit qualification.

The audit committee has also discussed with the Auditors and reviewed
the audit qualification and basis of the qualification.
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EEERHE (F)

UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

(b) Deconsolidation of a subsidiary

The Company and the audit committee are of the view that the issues
giving rise to the Deconsolidation would have effect on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022
as the disposal of Deconsolidated Subsidiary was completed on 13
April 2022. A qualified opinion regarding the corresponding figures and
consolidated statement of cash flows and consequential effect arising
from the Deconsolidation will contain in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2022.

The Board has obtained the understanding with the auditor of the
Company that the Company considers itself to have addressed the
issues giving rise to the disclaimer of opinion in the consolidated
financial statement for the year ended 30 June 2022 and barring
unforeseen circumstances, a disclaimer of opinion in respect of
the same issues should no longer be required to be included in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company encourages two-way communications with both institutional
and private investors. Extensive information about the Company’s activities
is provided in its annual reports and interim reports, which are sent to
shareholders of the Company.

Designated executive Directors and senior management maintain regular
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of
the Company’s developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the Company at
its principal place of business in Hong Kong for any inquiries.

The shareholders’ communication policy is reviewed at least annually to
ensure its continued effectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (continued)

At general meetings, the Chairman of the meetings raises separate resolutions
for each effectively independent matter. The general meetings of the Company
provide an opportunity for communication between the shareholders and
the Board. The Chairman and the chairman of the Board committees, or in
their absence, other members of the respective committees, must attend
the annual general meeting to address shareholders’ queries. The external
auditor is also invited to attend the Company’s annual general meetings and
is available to assist the Directors in addressing queries from shareholders
relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of its
auditor’s report.

Shareholder(s) holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings can make a requisition to convene an extraordinary general
meeting pursuant to article 62 of the Company’s Bye-laws. The procedures
for shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings are stated as
follows:

(@  The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by all the shareholders concerned and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
shareholders concerned.

(b)  The written requisition must be stated with the head office of the
Company at Room 4007, 40/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Directors or the
Company Secretary.

(c)  The written requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the relevant
resolution in the agenda for such general meeting. Such general
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

(d) If within 21 days of such deposit, the Directors fail to proceed
to convene such a general meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may themselves convene a meeting, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Directors to do so shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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EEERHE (F)
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR REREFRREER R @

RELATIONS (Continued)

During the Year, one general meeting was held. The 2021 annual general WAFE BT ARERE - T - —FK
meeting was held on 9 December 2021. The attendance record of each ~RBEFAER T - —F+-ANLHET - AF
Director, on a named basis and by category, at the general meetings held B - IZMZ MERIFE D BLESEEREX

during the Year under review is set out below: G RBEEHSAT ¢
Number of general
meetings attended/
Number of general
meetings held
HERRAERE,
Directors B=x REXEETRE
Executive Directors HITEE
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe PRI 1/1
Mr. Gao Ran mEEE 01
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric ETVSEE 0/1
Mr. Yu Defa (Note (i) TR A (ME) 0/1
Non-executive Director HPITEFE
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note (i) B3 55 S0 A (BTREG)) 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BUIHBITESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan FHEm & 0/1
Mr. Tam Ching Ho BRRE 0/1
Mr. Hau Chi Kit FELERE 0N
Notes: M3 -
i) Mr. Yu Defa has retired as an executive director on 9 December 2021. () FEBEAER T -_—F+-_ANAEREINTE
%o
(ii) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May 2022. (ii) BEFEER S FRA -+ AEZEA

FEMITEE -

No amendments were made to the Company’s Bye-laws during the Year. REFNRN - NATZ A BB EAETIEET o AN
The Company’s Bye-laws is available on both the websites of HKEx and the A &) 72 &40 Bl A BE S BT K 2NN Bl 49 0L A L 25 R o
Company.
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EEERHE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Shareholder services

Any matter in relation to the transfer of shares, change of name or address, or
loss of share certificates should be addressed to the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office as follows:

Tricor Tengis Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Tel: 2980 1888

Fax: 2861 0285

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send their enquiries to the Board in writing
with contact details (including registered name, address, telephone number
and email address) to the Company Secretary as follows:

Address:  Room 4007, 40/F., China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
Telephone: 2845 3131

Fax: 2845 3535

Email: info@chinazenith.com.hk
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEREEAER[N

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (PR £ ), aged 53, is the chairman (the “Chairman”)
and chief executive officer of the Group and joined the Group as an executive
Director in January 2004. Ms. Chan is responsible for the overall management
and business development of the Group. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree
in Accountancy from the Queensland University of Technology in Australia. Ms.
Chan has more than 10 years of experience in the areas of corporate finance
and management. Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Chan did not hold any other
directorships in listed public companies in the last three years. Ms. Chan was
appointed as the Chairman and a member of nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) with effect from 2 February 2012.

Mr. Gao Ran (5 ), aged 31, is an executive Director and vice-chairman.
He is currently the chairman of Shenzhen Global Fund Management Co.,
Ltd.* (FYIITH 2 EE S EEBBR A 7)) and an executive director and chairman
of Cornerstone Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 8112), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). He was the non-executive director of Lapco Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8472), a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange until
20 November 2020. He has extensive experience in fund investment and
asset management, corporate strategy, corporate finance and business
development and management. Mr. Gao was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 23 July 2020.

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric (#& ), aged 42, is an executive Director. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Law worked as a business consultant and provided
consultancy services for listed and non-listed companies in Hong Kong.
Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Law did not hold any other directorships in
listed public companies in the last three years. Mr. Law was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 3 March 2015.

* English name is for identification purpose only

=2

HITEE

PREZ L 535k  ANEEEfE([EE])FRITHE
H RIZEZOF-AMALRER @ EERTE
E-BRLTAEAEEEREEREBERE - K
ZTHBERMNETHEHBRARESHE L2240 - K
ZIREEREREEFAABBI10FLR - K
NEFRITPEEIN  METRBE=ZFILEET
I ARARNEMEMESRMN - Rt ESR
AR RFIRAZES([RBEEG ) ETHE MK
8§ BE——_F-A-HRBER-

BHEELE 315 ARTEEREEE - HIRE
ARNTRIRESEEBRARNER  UARE
AemiElRER A (RHMNRI : 8112 %A A
EEBBAZIHBERAR ([BRAT])GEM L)
HHITEERERF - BWEETLSIERBER AR
(BADRSR - 8472 + 3 A RITEHE X FTGEM_ETH) Y
EHITEE BE-_EZ-_EF+—A=-+H %
EESREREEEE DEBKE  CEEMN
MEBEREEEFAHBLEELR - RITER
TECEFLA -+ =BEZTAWMTES -

BTFERE 425 AITES - RMBAEE
Al BAUEDETERKER  YAEBLETRIE
EHRARHREEBRS - BAFTRAEEEIN -
BEENBE=FWEET LT ARQTAIEM
HiEERN - BLEEZTANTES A=
T-REZAZHBRER -

* EXEHELRBT



FEXCIRERRAT

TR FFR

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERERERASHN(H)

DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Yangyang (2I3¥3¥), aged 27, appointed on 26 May 2022, is an non-
executive Director. Mr. Liu is currently the director of China business division
of Cornerstone Financial Holdings Limited, a listed company on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8112). Mr. Liu is vastly experienced in
project investment and asset management, sales and market development
and management. From November 2019 to April 2020, Mr. Liu served as the
chairman of Shen Zhen AVIC Int'l Corporate Management Co., Ltd.. From
July 2018 to September 2019, Mr. Liu also served as the business director
of Shen Zhen Catic Taikee Co., Ltd.. Mr. Liu is currently enrolled in the public
affair management programme of the Communication University of China.
Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Liu did not hold any other directorships in listed
companies in the last three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (524fi%), aged 57, is an independent non-executive
Director and is also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) and a member of each of the remuneration committee
of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Ma is the finance director of Union Sun International Group
Limited, a non-listed company with affiliates dealing in property development
in the PRC. He was an independent director of Celestial Nutrifoods Limited
(the shares of which are listed on the main board of Singapore Exchange
Securities Trade Limited (the “Singapore Exchange”)) until 18 July 2011.
He has approximately 20 years of experience in the areas of audit, financial
management and operational management. Mr. Ma is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in February 2001.
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EERERERASHN(H)

DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Tam Ching Ho (B %), aged 51, appointed on 30 June 2007, is an
independent non-executive Director and is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Tam is a certified public accountant (practising) registered
with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”).
He has worked in a reputable international accounting firm for about eight
years and specialised in providing assurance services for pre-listing, listed
and multinational companies. He has also held senior positions in several
companies, including as a financial controller of a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and another company listed on the main board
of the Singapore Exchange for a total of about seven years. Mr. Tam has
accumulated extensive experiences in corporate finance and administration,
listing compliance, investor relations, accounting and auditing. Mr. Tam
holds a bachelor’s degree of arts with honors in accountancy. He is an
associate member of the HKICPA and a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tam is also currently an independent
non-executive director of Chaoda Modern Agriculture (Holdings) Limited
(Stock Code: 682), the shares of which are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Tam did not hold any other
directorships in listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. Hau Chi Kit (fR&#§), aged 50, appointed on 18 December 2013, is an
independent non-executive Director and also a member of each of the Audit
committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
He was a barrister-at-law in private practice in Hong Kong from 2001 to
2008. Prior to becoming a barrister, he worked at the Securities and Futures
Commission. Mr. Hau is currently a solicitor and is an independent non-
executive director of Zhongzheng International Company Limited (formerly
known as “e-Force Holdings Limited”) (Stock Code: 943), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Hau was an independent non-
executive director of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (currently known
as “Farnova Group Holdings Limited”) and hmvod Limited (formerly known
as “Trillion Grand Corporate Company Limited”), a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8153) and (Stock Code: 8103) until 18
July 2019 and 12 August 2022, respectively. Mr. Hau was an independent
non-executive director of Fresh Express Delivery Holdings Group Co., Limited
(Stock code: 1175), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from 6 January 2022 until 15 August 2022. Save as disclosed
herein, Mr. Hau did not hold any other directorships in listed companies in the
last three years.
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EERERERASHN(H)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Kin Ling ( 5 # % ), aged 40, is the chief financial officer and the
company secretary of the Group. Mr. Ma is responsible for the financial
reporting and company’s secretarial functions of the Group. Mr. Ma
graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in Accountancy and Law. Mr. Ma joined the Group in May 2016. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked in a reputable international accounting firm and
has over 10 years of professional experience in accounting, auditing and
financial management. Mr. Ma is a member of the HKICPA. Mr. Ma is also an
independent non-executive director of SunCorp Technologies Limited (Stock
Code: 1063) and Wisdom Wealth Resources Investment Holding Group
Limited (formerly known as “Hong Kong Finance Investment Holding Group
Limited”) (Stock Code: 7), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, respectively. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Ma did not
hold any other directorships in listed companies in the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
SYSTEM

The remuneration system of the senior management of the Group is a
combination of the economic benefit of the senior management (including
executive directors) and the operational results and share performance of the
Group. Most of the members of the senior management have signed result
examination contracts’ with the Company. In this system, the remuneration of
the senior management comprises three parts, namely, basic salary, bonus
and share options. The floating remuneration of the senior management
represents approximately 70% to 75% of their total potential remuneration,
which includes result bonuses and share options representing approximately
15% to 25% and 50% to 60% respectively of their total potential
remuneration. Floating remuneration is linked with the specific business
performance indicators, for example, the net profit, capital return and cost
reduction indicator.

BREEAR

BRESRE - 405 AASEEREVEERAR
WE - BAEEARAKREZMBERNETAR
MEBE - BLEREREFBWHAR  HAE
FHLERBTEM - BAER-_FT—RXFRAM
BAREE - MBAEEZA - RERALERE
FHEMETSPAER: - ABI0F ST - RBRME
EREELR SRERBTEBEHMASESE -
T TR AR E D 2 BB S P AR T RO R
REER AR (MR - 1063) R EEERIRE
EREEARAR(AE AT EeRRERRE
EERARF D (BRORIE - 7) 2 BILIERITES -
BRAFEHAREEN  BEENBE=FLELE
ELM AR EREAMEERA

BREEASHMEIE

AEBEZSREEABHFMEIERARESRE
BAB(BRATESR) KBNS REARE Y
BEZENRNRAGEETE - KB SREE
ABHEBRARRBFILFEZZAR - RUbHE
T SREEABZME A =880 M4AK - BIEXR
TE R MBERE sMEERARZFHHE
ERFECHMERENT0%ETE% - BiE7 58
EREEMNE AR 15%E25%IA & 50%E60%
ZEERSNERE - FEHNE D REEEEBRER
WIRREE - PINAER] - BARRER KK AR

B

M1




42

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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EEEHRE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report and the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022 (the
“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by business segments is
set out in note 12 to the financial statements and in the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the Year and the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 65
to 72 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEREE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION B ERHE

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the A TN A K ERMERRENES BRI TE
assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as Il 2 AN B &30 FEB B S 2 T A 245

extracted from the audited financial statements and restated as appropriate: BEERGEUARESZIBE -
Results E
Year ended 30 June
BERA=THLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—B-—f T CZTZF% “Z-NE  ZE)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THET THI THT THT
(Restated)
(&)
(Re-presented)
(fg=751)
REVENUE e 369,628 229,021 194,337 323,048 367,632
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS KeEs (894,181) (240,815) (254,861) (606,188) (143,287)
Finance costs BIFE AR (179,464) (126,030) (110,944) (92,627) (82,594)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB AIE R (1,073,645) (366,845) (365,805) (698,815) (225,881)
Income tax (expenses)/credit FER(FEY)/#ER - (890) - 1,233 7,267

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM RE FELE ¥ BN AEE

CONTINUING OPERATIONS (B8),/ %58 (1,073,645) (367,735) (365,305) (697,582) (218,614)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM RECRLRBEBNAEE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION Bl (176) (91,851) - - -
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEER (1,073,821) (459,586) (365,805) (697,582) (218,614)
Attributable to: FE{L -

Owners of the Company ARAIEAA (1,064,206) (450,353) (354,886) (667,369) (199,324)

Non-controlling interests IR (9,615) (9,233) (10,919) (30,213) (19,290)

(1,073,821) (459,586) (365,805) (697,582) (218,614)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEREE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) B E R E m)
Assets, liabilities and equity BE  AEkER

At 30 June

RAA=+H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
B —T-—fF ZTITF T-hEF ZT-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHExT TAT FHL FAT FHET

Non-current assets ETBEE 1,088,264 1,745,820 1,757,042 1,930,613 2,819,057
Current assets TEEE 149,983 325,533 173,941 252,313 357,732
TOTAL ASSETS BEM4E 1,238,247 2,071,353 1,930,983 2,182,926 3,176,789
Non-current liabilities ETHEE 946,575 698,699 1,173,366 1,125,313 1,113,572
Current liabilities FEAE 1,116,522 1,283,945 394,071 276,518 386,302
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEHE 2,063,097 1,982,644 1,567,437 1,401,831 1,499,874
TOTAL (DEFICIT)/EQUITY (B4t) BB E (824,850) 88,709 363,546 781,095 1,676,915

Attributable to: JEAG -
Owners of the Company AARHEAA (873,168) 29,564 302,562 706,827 1,583,802
Non-controlling interests FEE R R 48,318 59,145 60,984 74,268 93,113
(824,850) 88,709 363,546 781,095 1,676,915

Note: The results of the Group for the Year and the assets, liabilities and equity of the ~— Fift : REBAFE 2 EEURREBN T - —FX

Group as at 30 June 2022 are those set out in the audited financial statements A=1RHZEE -  AEREROFIENREFHRE
on pages 65 to 67 and pages 68 to 69 of this annual report, respectively. 65567 H K FE68ECOH 2 LEZLIIFEIRE ©

The results of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2018, 2019, 2020 and AEBBE-T—N\F - —NE =TT
2021, respectively, have been extracted from the audited financial statements of ER-_TE-_—FXA=+ EI iiﬁZ%ﬁ/\ Hﬁ%
the Company for the respective years and have been restated as appropriate. SREARREBMFE CKEEZVBRERRERE

BIERTE -

The assets, liabilities and equity of the Group as at 30 June 2018, 2019, KEBRZZT—N\F - —NF - ZTTF
2020 and 2021, respectively, have been extracted from the audited financial F—FBE-—FXA=T El Zﬁ% BERERD
statements of the Company for the respective years. RIS B AR B AAFE KB R B @R o
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the financial statements,
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

The Company’s current share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was proposed
by the Board on 29 November 2012 and approved by its shareholders on
20 December 2012. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or
rewards to the eligible participants for their contribution to the Group. The
Directors may, at its absolute discretion, offer any employee (whether full time
or part time, including any executive Directors, any non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors), any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to the Group,
any shareholder of any member of the Group, any adviser (professional
or otherwise) or consultant to the Group and any joint venture partner or
counterparty to business transactions of the Group, to take up share options
(the “Options”) to subscribe for Shares on the terms set out in the Scheme.
Details of the Scheme were provided in the Company’s circulars dated 29
November 2012, 17 February 2017, 14 November 2017, 20 November 2019
and 13 November 2020.

Unless otherwise terminated by the Company’s shareholders at general
meeting in accordance with the terms of the Scheme, the Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 20 December 2012, after
which no further Option will be granted or offered, but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting Option granted
prior to the expiry of this 10-year period or otherwise as may be required
in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme. The remaining life of the
Scheme is one year.

Y% - BERRE

AEBYE  BMEMKEBELFEAEEEZEEF
159 RIE R B ISR EMITE19 %20 o

PR % B B e

RAslRTEREE([ZF 8D hRESeN =
T ZF T+ —AZ+NBRETHERER=ZZ
——F+Z AT HE ZAEIEEREER
SLEEHAEEEL 2 ERIRHEEKER - &
EAREREERNBREAEE (EREBGk
B BEMARTES)  AFFENTEE(2E
B IEHITES) - ARNEEIRMEHE - FEIE
MM N EMATRERE  AEBEKE QT
IR - AEENTAERN (EmEEET)
SRR RAEBEB RS EENEMNEER
P TTIR T RARE ([ BIRRE ) IRRZET &
FREl G RREB IR D - st B BH N AR R A H
AB-E——_F+—AZ+hH - ZZE—+tF=A
++A  ZF—tF+—A+WEA  ZT—NF
+—AZ+ER_ZE_TF+—A+=HAEK -

BRIEM AR RIBR R A & R IR L AT 8 R
IF BAZAER T ——F+-A-+TH#E10
FRERBAEMAARS & BTEREKE
BB RE - BB RT BB RGN+
RN FANER - A0S HIRR fEim Al B 31T 3R
FEREOBRAEN A ERIEZ S ERERNE
7T o ZATEIBR T HIR A —F -

45




46

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2022

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which Options may be granted
under the Scheme when aggregated with the maximum number of Shares in
respect of which Options may be granted under any other scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the Company’s issued Shares on the adoption date without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other Options
granted and yet to be exercised under any other scheme shall not exceed
30% of the Company’s issued Shares from time to time. No Option may be
granted to any person such that the total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon the exercise of Options granted and to be granted to that
person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1%
of the Company’s issued Shares from time to time, unless the approval of
the Company’s shareholders is obtained. As at 21 October 2022, being the
latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual report (the “Latest
Practicable Date”), the Scheme mandate limit was 177,370,731 Options,
and the Company may further grant 177,370,731 Options, representing
approximately 5.9% of the issued Shares of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

The period within which the Options must be exercised will be specified
by the Company at the time of grant, and must expire no later than 10
years from the date of grant of the Option (being the date on which the
Board makes a written offer of grant of the Option to the relevant proposed
beneficiary) unless the Company obtains separate shareholders’ approval in
relation to such grant.

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors
to each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of Options is made but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the Option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of Options to a grantee, there is
no minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an Option
before it can be exercised.
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EEEHRE(E)

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The subscription price for Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of Shares as stated in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited’s (the “Stock Exchange”) daily quotations sheet on the date of the
offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an Option within such time as may be specified
in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).

P 7S K% B AR R o)
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Details of the movement of the Options pursuant to the Scheme during the — BERRIE R ARFEE BB %52 2 B IS H NI
Year are set out in note 31 of the financial statements and are included in the ~ ¥RF&RMIFE31 @ FIATEK ¢
table as follows:
Options Options Adjusted Adjusted
cancelled lapsed due to Options Date of Date of exercise
Number of Options held during the during the  rights issue held at grant of expiry of price of
category of at 30 June Year Year during the 30 June Options Options Options
participants 2021 (Note i) (Note i) Year 2022 (Notei) (Note i) per Share
RIBZ-F  AEERH  AFEEAN AEE RIZZZHF BRE BhReE SREERE
SEEER ~A=tH YR R MEEIRE Bt  KSA=TH RLAH &% B 5 Pk L
R¥E HENRRE (Bzzi) (P ziii) MFRAE HENERE () (Bi) TEE
Directors
=
Chan Yuk Foebe 13,000,000 - - (548,1993) 12,451,807 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$0.397
[F 0.397%7T
Law Tze Ping Eric 13,000,000 - - (548,1993) 12,451,807 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$0.397
ETY 0.397/7T
Yu Defa 13,000,000 (13,000,000 - - - 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 N/A
TiE% @R
Hau Chi Kit 8,500,000 - - (358,434) 8,141,566 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$0.397
R 0.397/8 7T
Ma Wing Yun Bryan 8,500,000 - - (358,434) 8,141,566 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$0.397
BRM 0.3973 T
Tam Ching Ho 8,500,000 - - (358,434) 8,141,566 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$0.397
I 0.3978 7T
Other Employees 55,000,000 - (55,000,000) - - 24/12/2018  23/12/2021 N/A
HET TER
52,000,000 - - (2,192,770) 49,807,230 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$0.397
0.3978 7T
Total 171,500,000  (13,000,000) (55,000,000 (4,364,458) 99,135,542

st
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EEEHRE(E)

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Notes:

(i) The vesting period and exercise period of the Options are both the period
between the date of grant of Options and date of expiry of Options.

(ii) Mr. Yu Defa was retired on 9 December 2021, 13,000,000 share options granted
to Mr. Yu Defa was cancelled on 9 December 2021.

(iii) 55,000,000 share options granted to other employees were expired during the
year ended 30 June 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws
and there was no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Bermuda,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing shareholders.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit an annual confirmation of their independence
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company are of the
view that all independent non-executive directors of the Company have met
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers that they are independent.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 70 of this annual report and note 32(b) to the financial statements as
set out on page 180 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2022, no Company’s reserves are available for distribution to
the Shareholders (2021: Nil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 57% of the Group’s total sales for the year and the sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 49%.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 83% of the Group’s total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 25%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group as set out in note 46 to the
financial statements constituted fully exempted connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed in this annual
report, there was no other transaction which would need to be disclosed as
connected transactions in compliance with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe

Mr. Gao Ran

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric

Mr. Yu Defa (retired on 9 December 2021)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Liu Yangyang (appointed on 26 May 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan

Mr. Tam Ching Ho

Mr. Hau Chi Kit

In accordance with clauses 99 and 102 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Gao
Ran, Mr. Liu Yangyang and Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “AGM”).
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Pursuant to code provision B.2.3 of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, if an independent non-
executive director serves more than nine years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in February 2001 and therefore would have served for more than
9 years as at the date of the AGM. Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan has confirmed
his independence with reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding his years of service as an independent
non-executive Director, (i) the Board has assessed and reviewed the annual
confirmation of independence based on the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and affirmed that Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan remains independent;
(ii) the Nomination Committee has assessed and is satisfied of the
independence of Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan; and (jii) the Board is satisfied that
through exercising scrutinising and monitoring functions as an independent
non-executive Director, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan has continued to provide
independent and objective judgement and advice to the Board to safeguard
the interests of the Group and the Shareholders. As such, the Board believes
that Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan has the character, integrity, independence
and expertise to continue to fulfil his role as an independent non-executive
Director effectively and will continue to bring valuable experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board and would recommend Mr. Ma Wing Yun
Bryan for re-election as an independent non-executive Director at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 38 to 41 of this annual report.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF LISTING RULES

No information was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe has entered into a service contract with the Company
commencing from 22 November 2004, which shall, subject to the
re-appointment as a director of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either party giving not less
than three months’ notice in writing to the other. Mr. Gao Ran has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of one year
commencing from 23 July 2020, which shall, subject to the reappointment
as a Director in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, continue until
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing
to the other. Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric have entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of two years commencing from 3 March
2015, which shall, subject to the reappointment as a director of the Company
in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, continue until terminated by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.
The term of his appointment was since renewed for a further term of two
years commencing from 3 March 2021.

Mr. Liu Yangyang has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of one year commencing from 26 May 2022, which shall,
subject to the reappointment as a Director in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s notice in writing to the other.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan was appointed for a term of two years as an
independent non-executive director of the Company commencing from
28 February 2001. The term of his appointment was renewed for a further
two-year term commencing from 28 February 2003. Upon expiry of his
appointment on 27 February 2005, the Company did not renew the service
contract with Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan until 24 March 2006. The Company
renewed the service contract with Mr. Ma Wing Yun, Bryan for a further term
of three years, commencing from 1 April 2006. The term of his appointment
was since renewed for a further term of two years commencing from 1 April
2009, 1 April 2011, 1 April 2013, 1 April 2015, 1 April 2017, 1 April 2019 and
1 April 2021, respectively.

The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Tam Ching Ho
commencing from 30 June 2007 to the then following annual general meeting
(i.e. 6 December 2007) of the Company. On 7 December 2007, the Company
renewed the service contract with Mr. Tam Ching Ho for a term of two years
as an independent non-executive director of the Company commencing from
7 December 2007. Moreover, the term of his appointment was renewed for a
further term of two years commencing from 7 December 2009, 7 December
2011, 7 December 2013, 7 December 2015, 7 December 2017, 7 December
2019 and 7 December 2021, respectively.

The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Hau Chi Kit for a term
of two years commencing from 18 December 2013 as an independent non-
executive director. Moreover, the term of his appointment was renewed
for a further term of two years commencing from 18 December 2015, 18
December 2017, 18 December 2019 and 18 December 2021, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest in any transactions, arrangements or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or in
existence during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2022, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company

RIZZBEZ—FRAZ+H ARARESEREST
BABRARAR REMEEE (TR RBEEEME
ST1EBAFLHBERA([EHRE KL EXV
)z m - MR RMEST - BEREFEFK
A& 150 S5 35216 R s KM Pt B Re iR 2
the register referred to therein or which were required to be notified to the — #% : SR #E F TR F BT AEZEITES
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 32 5 iViZ 2y Bl ([ 422 <P Y | ) B A S A A &) KB

and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)),
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (‘Model Code”) in the Listing  XFTZ iz
Rules were as follows:
Interests in the Shares and Underlying Shares R RAEBRG 2Es

Number of % of issued Share % of issued

Shares held capital of options capital of

Name of director Type of interest (long position) the Company held the Company

FiEROEE EARATS BT i ERARE BT

EEpE ERER (##8) BRABSL BRE BRABDLE

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe Beneficial interest 2,860,000 0.1 12,451,807 0.41
REZT EanlEm

Mr. Gao Ran Beneficial interest 2,440,000 0.08 N/A NEA N/A TNEA
=ELE Engn

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric Beneficial interest N/A TiEH N/A TNE A 12,451,807 0.41
G e oy o

Mr. Liu Yangyang Beneficial interest 3,320,000 0.11 N/A NEA N/A i A
SEERE EalEm

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan Beneficial interest N/A i@ A N/A @A 8,141,566 0.27
BEMEE EnEn

Mr. Tam Ching Ho Beneficial interest N/A TiE M N/A TNE A 8,141,566 0.27
BEHRLE oy

Mr. Hau Chi Kit Beneficial interest N/A T N/A i A 8,141,566 0.27
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Interests in the Shares and Underlying Shares (Continued)
Save as disclosed herein, as at 30 June 2022, none of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company and their respective associates had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are deemed or
taken to have under provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO

As far as the Directors are aware and the disclosure information published on
the Stock Exchange’s website, as at 30 June 2022, the following persons,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares in the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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Capacity Approximate
Name Number of Ordinary shares (subject to the notes below) percentage interest
HE ZEKREE H10 (ZF T HEERER) BAORER D
Mr. Chan Yuen Tung Long position Beneficial owner 23.05%

BRARIRSTAE )
613,187,537

BaEEAA
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Directors are aware, as at 30 June
2022, no other person had an interest or a short position in the shares and
underlying shares in the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND LONG-TERM
INCENTIVE SCHEME OF THE GROUP

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had 496 full time employees in the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group recognises the importance of human resources to its
success. Compensation for the Group is made in reference to the prevailing
market conditions, individual performance, contributions as well as duties and
responsibilities.

The Scheme is in place to provide appropriate long-term incentive to key staff
of the Group including executive Directors. Details of the Scheme are set out
in section “Share Options Scheme” of this report and note 31 to the financial
statements in this annual report.

BASIS OF DETERMINING EMOLUMENT TO
DIRECTORS

The same remuneration philosophy is applicable to the Directors. Apart from
benchmarking against the prevailing market condition, the Company will
assess individual performance, contributions, duties and responsibilities in
determining the remuneration for each Director.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, there
is sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Shares in the market as
required under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, no Director is
considered to have an interest in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group,
pursuant to the Listing Rules, other than those businesses of which the
Directors were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance and such permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the
Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the audited consolidated
results of the Group for the Year.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR

As disclosed in sections headed “Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” in the independent auditors’ report of the Annual
Report, the auditors of the Company, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited (“McMillan Woods”) did not express an audit opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year as a result of
certain matters.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provisions in the
Model Code during the Year.

EERBFERE 2ES

FEEARBERFRABPIL  MESEERE L
AR AR AR A 10 B 3 AT B B 7N & [ 3 75 B i sk
BERAHF 2R T ARG EEFRERIR
RARAR/ RAEEARRNEEE 2 ZEES
BRI o

EEWERE

KABEBEGEHMNEZRITRAEBETRE
MEBNEEAEZ R AMBERER(EERLSE
A 622F A A HEN B 46915 IRE A B R
REE—BEBM °

XER

ARRIRANDEE
HmEL -

SREPIBNAFRIEEER

BEREEE2EH

ARRBREZEGCEHAEALAFENKER
RAEE -

BYRHAHEQXTAREFERS
MBmRZ®E

WINEFRABLZEMBEP TERER IR
[MERERZER B - AR AR &
B(EE)RHMEBRERAR(TRE(ER)])
AETEE @ WESAKERANFEENES B
BREREZER

BETRFRINEESTH
NARBERM ETAR B ER10FTE L THBITAE
%L‘ﬁﬂ‘\’*%W%?EE?E‘J(H?—;%E?EHM’EZ%E
EHRITESFRZH 2 NEPRTER - KHE2EBES
EHEBRENE  2REERARSEAREE—
BB RS2 SFAINES -

57




58

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2022

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Events after the reporting
period” in this annual report, the Group had no significant events after 30
June 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

AUDITOR

During the year, McMillan Woods had been appointed as auditor of the
Company with effect from 31 May 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of Elite Partners CPA Limited with effect from 27 May 2022.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
30 June 2022 were audited by McMillan Woods which would retire at the
conclusion of the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders to
re-appoint McMillan Woods as auditor of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in auditor of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Yuk Foebe
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
21 October 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
B A BEN RS

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA ZENITH CHEMICAL GROUP LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS XINYANG MAOJIAN GROUP LIMITED)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of China
Zenith Chemical Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 140 to 204, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(@) Opening balances and corresponding figures

In the predecessor auditor’s report dated 29 October 2021 in respect
of the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 30 June 2021 (the “2021 Financial Statements”), the
predecessor auditor did not express an opinion on the 2021 Financial
Statements. The disclaimer of opinion was resulted from (i) uncertainties
relating to going concern and (i) deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
There were no alternative audit procedures to satisfy ourselves as to
whether the opening balances and corresponding figures were free
from material misstatement. Any adjustments that might have been
found necessary may have effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities
as at 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 and hence its results for the year
ended 30 June 2022, and the presentation and disclosure thereof in
the consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)
(b) Material uncertainties relating to going concern

As mentioned in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$1,073.8 million for the
year ended 30 June 2022 and as of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$966.5
million and had net liabilities of approximately HK$824.9 million. As
of 30 June 2022, the Group’s bank and other loans, bonds payable
and convertible bonds (collectively referred to as the “Borrowings”)
amounted to approximately HK$142.8 million, HK$1,066.2 million and
HK$46.5 million respectively, out of which approximately HK$129.5
million, HK$149.4 million and HK$29.9 million are subject to renewal or
to be settled within the next twelve months.

Moreover, subsequent to the end of reporting period on 26 August
2022 (the “Effective Date”), the operation of Mudanjiang Better Day
Power Limited (the “Mudanjiang BD Power”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, had been temporarily taken-over
(the “Taking Over”) by Mudanjiang Authority of Housing and Urban-
Rural Development (the “Authority”). Immediately following the Taking
Over by the Authority as of the Effective Date, the Group has ceased
to control over the operation of Mudanjiang BD Power. Details of
which are further disclosed in note 47(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Having taken into account the aforementioned facts and circumstances
which indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Notwithstanding the abovementioned, these consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends upon the Group’s ability to repay, renew or extend
the Borrowings and other payables upon their maturities, through cash
flows generated from operations and continuing support obtained
from the Group’s finance providers and creditors to meet its liabilities
as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future. The consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments that would
result from the failure to meet the Group’s financial obligations in the
foreseeable future. We consider that the material uncertainties have
been adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
However, in view of the extent of the material uncertainties relating to
the Group’s ability to repay, renew or extend the Borrowings and other
payables upon their maturities through cash flows generated from
operations and continuing support obtained from the Group’s finance
providers and creditors, we disclaim our opinion in respect of the
material uncertainties relating to the going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to the financial statements to adjust the value of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

(c) Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (c)

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group acquired 70% equity
interest in Aevitas Wines Limited (the “Deconsolidated Subsidiary”), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in trading
and sourcing of wine and related accessories (the “Acquisition”).

Since May 2021, the sole director of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary,
being the vendor of the Acquisition, who held 30% equity interest in
the Deconsolidated Subsidiary immediately following the Acquisition,
did not cooperate with the management of the Group to maintain the
appropriate internal control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiary and
provide all books and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary despite
various communications with the sole director of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiary. For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021, the
Directors of the Company were unable to obtain sufficient and
appropriate books and records regarding the financial information of
the Deconsolidated Subsidiary. In this connection, the Directors of the
Company were of the view that the Company was unable to exercise
effective control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiary following various
efforts has been made by the Directors of the Company to resolve the
aforesaid matter. As a result, the Directors of the Company resolved
that it was impracticable to consolidate the financial information of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiary under which the financial results, assets
and liabilities have been deconsolidated from the Group with effective
from 30 June 2021 (the “Deconsolidation”). The Deconsolidation had
resulted a loss of approximately HK$4.4 million to the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2021.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group and the sole director
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary entered into a sale and purchase
agreement dated 7 October 2021, pursuant to which the sole director
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary has agreed to acquire, and the Group
agreed to dispose of the entire equity interest in the Deconsolidated
Subsidiary, being 70% equity interest in the Deconsolidated Subsidiary
at a cash consideration of HK$3.8 million (the “Disposal’). The
Disposal was completed on 13 April 2022 which resulted a gain on the
Disposal of HK$3.8 million recognised in the Group’s profit or loss for
the year ended 30 June 2022.

REBEE_ZT-_—FA=1tHIFE B
EEUKEREBEMKY - EBRBER
BB N Aevitas Wines Limited ([ #& 1k
HEANRMBAT ) M70%M4E ([ WESE
B -

BT —FHAR BERKILGRE AR
MEBARME—ERETE08R - (BRIE
BAEAERNBRARNE—E=(ABKESEE
MBS REEREEEEFARIEGZAA
ERMTBARISO%BE)REHE ESEER
BEE  BRILGEAARHBARSESEE
RINEREEIE IR IR LR S ABRHT
RRINATERE R - BiRE BEEEH
E-E - —FXA=1THILFENESH
BHkE  BRARESEERRIELGA AR
B AR ERESTES LMEENESR
ik o Bt BEAREEREMSEEZE
ERBALMER B BEARIREEL
RIEGEAANERBRARITTEABIZS - &
It BAREZFHR - BRIEEA AR
BARNMBERRE ARTER(T ° &
HERT » BEEEE T -_—F A=+
At - RIEKERMBEE BERBELR
AAR(REZEEAR]) - HE_ZT=—F
NAZTHIEFEE - RILGAEARBBUSE
K4 4B BBTT

HE-_Z_—F#A=tHLFE"
BB A ARK B AR —E S
AfA-TS-_—F+ALAESEH=: &
gt - IR A ARMBARME—E=RE
g - i BEBERELERIEGE AR
BRRIMEIAE (B LA ARKB A
AIB70%MARE) - RERERSSESEAET
([HEEE]) - HEFHER T
A+=A%K WEHER BEEHZEZ
T —FNA=THLEFEMNERRTER
HEEHWERI.8E BB ©

=
&



62

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
By % BE RS ()

TRRERZE®R @)
HRILFREANRMEB QT @

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

(c) Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (Continued) (c)

Given the above, we are unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to ascertain whether the Group had control or significant
influence or none of the above over the Deconsolidated Subsidiary
and hence unable to ascertain whether the accounting treatment so
adopted to account for the Deconsolidated Subsidiary but not an
associate or an investment in financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss as at 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 were being appropriate
or not. We are unable to satisfy ourselves whether the opening
balances and corresponding figures and there were no alternative audit
procedures to satisfy ourselves as to whether the opening balances and
corresponding figures were free from material misstatement. Moreover,
we have not been provided with sufficient audit evidence relating to
the financial information of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary and there
were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to whether a loss of approximately HK$4.4 million and a
gain of HK$3.8 million arose from the Deconsolidation and the Disposal
were properly accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2022 respectively.
We were also unable to perform satisfactory audit procedures to assess
whether the disclosures of the Acquisition (in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021) and the
recoverability of amount due from the Deconsolidated Subsidiary as at
30 June 2021 are free from material misstatement.

Any adjustments that might have been found to be necessary in
respect of the above would have an effect on the Group’s net assets
as at 30 June 2021 and the financial performance and cash flows of
the Group for the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2022 and may have
resulted in additional information being disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements as to the nature of the transactions and any
contingent liabilities, commitments, related party transactions relating to
the Deconsolidated Subsidiary.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BAZBE®RE ()

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2021, were audited by another auditor who expressed disclaimer of
opinion on those statements on 29 October 2021.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the Directors in discharging the responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. We report solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. However, because
of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BAZBE®RE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number — PO6633

24/F, Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

21 October 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEERR

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

2022 2021
—E-CF -
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
PEE FHET FAT
(Restated)
€ =3u9)
(Re-presented)
€ =7))
Continuing operations BESEER
Revenue = 10 369,628 229,021
Cost of sales and services rendered SHE IR HARTEA AR (395,348) (179,127)
Gross (loss)/profit E(8&) /A (25,720) 49,894
Other income and other gains or losses E A YA B2 Bt Uz s s 15 11 56,782 4,328
Loss on reclassification from assets classified ~ B2 BAFIEHENEESH
as held for sale DI B (5,393) =
Provision of allowance for receivables and LR WGRIE ST B N R T A
written off of prepayments, net KIBEFE
— trade receivables — EIE SRR (3,311) 6,774)
— prepayments, deposits and other —TENFUE ~ 5] REMER
receivables A (22,813) (34,985)
Selling and distribution costs SHE &9 SHRAR (19,876) @27,117)
Administrative expenses TR (126,353) (106,433)
Other operating expenses Efib A 2 (64,842) (114,078)
Share of result of an associate DR E RS 21 (137) 266
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 1% - BE K& ERIE (646,212) =
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE (46,526) (1,522)
Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary B R RIS E ARZERE 42 - (4,394)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —FRIBRT B A B2 s 43 10,220 =
Loss from operations REEER (894,181) (240,815)
Finance costs BTG R AR 13 (179,464) (126,030)
Loss before tax FRB AT E 1R (1,073,645) (366,845)
Income tax expense PSR 14 - (890)
Loss for the year from continuing REBERLEEBNANEERFE
operations 15 (1,073,645) (867,735)
Discontinued operation BRI R
Loss for the year from discontinued operation KB B 4 1F & EFSHNAREE
&8 15, 43 (176) (91,851)
Loss for the year AEE 518 (1,073,821) (459,586)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

HRERER(E)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

2022 2021
—E-CF -
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
PEE FHET FAT
(Restated)
(#&EE)
(Re-presented)
€ =7))
Attributable to: FEqh -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZZ SN
Continuing operations FEEETS (1,064,030) (358,502)
Discontinued operation BRI R ETS (176) (91,851)
(1,064,206) (450,353)
Non-controlling interests FEFE R i A
Continuing operations RHEIRE TS (9,615) (9,233)
(1,073,821) (459,586)
Loss per share FREE 18
From continuing and discontinued operations 2R B 3548 & £ 48 | HAS & 3 7%
— Basic (HK cents) — EARCHA) (49.06) (31.34)
— Diluted (HK cents) —#E (Bl (49.06) (31.34)
From continuing operations KBRS & 5
— Basic (HK cents) — EARCE) (49.05) (24.95)
— Diluted (HK cents) —#58 GEL) (49.05) (24.95)
From discontinued operation REBERIEEEER
— Basic (HK cents) —EARCGE) (0.01) (6.39)
— Diluted (HK cents) —EEE (Bl (0.01) (6.39)




FEXCTEBERAT —T-—4545%

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEERERAEMEZEIRAR

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

2022 2021
—EC- T —4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FER FAT
(Restated)
€ =3u9)
(Re-presented)
(re=751)
Loss for the year AEEEIE (1,073,821) (459,586)
Other comprehensive income after tax: BREIEEMEEKA -
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to ~ BE7Z A& HIEE 5o HAE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating HEFHNETFIE X =5
foreign operations 1,567 50,139
Share of other comprehensive income of AMEEE BEEMEERA
an associate (592) 871
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or HENBARMENSEEERZIER
loss on disposal of a subsidiary =58 6,312 =
Other comprehensive income for the year, AREEHM2SEWA - HIKRHIE
net of tax 7,287 51,010
(1,066,534) (408,576)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2EIRAERE
Continuing operations FBECE R (1,072,670) (316,725)
Discontinued operation B EET 6,136 (91,851)
(1,066,534) (408,576)
Attributable to: FEAh :
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZZEN
Continuing operations FHER S ET% (1,061,843) (313,169
Discontinued operation B E T 6,136 (91,851)
(1,055,707) (405,020)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR i A
Continuing operations FIBIS AT (10,827) (3,556)
(1,066,534) (408,576)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
maEMBRRE

As at 30 June 2022 R=—F - —FNHA=+H

2022 2021
—E-F T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FHET FHT
(Restated)
€<
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - E k& 19 840,473 1,455,539
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 247,791 280,173
Investment in an associate REGE R ZIKE 21 - 10,108
Other intangible assets mREE 22 - -
1,088,264 1,745,820
Current assets MEEE
Inventories FE 24 22,197 5,735
Trade receivables EUE 5 8R1E 25 29,759 23,020
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FB[fFKIE + 7]& K E A fEU IR 26 73,803 105,096
Amount due from a deconsolidated subsidiary  EUAR IE4RE ABRHT B A 7 F0E 42 - 32,000
Financial assets at fair value BAFER AB=([RAFER
through profit or loss (“FVTPL?) AB#E )z eHEE 27 1,971 564
Bank and cash balances RITRIRE 1T 28 12,874 46,775
140,604 213,190
Assets classified as held for sale DEARFELENEE 29 9,379 112,343
149,983 325,533
Total assets BEE 1,238,247 2,071,353
Capital and reserves ERR#E
Share capital A& 30 266,056 160,371
Reserves 0] 33 (1,139,224) (130,807)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANA RIEA AFE(ERER (873,168) 29,564
Non-controlling interests IR RS 48,318 59,145

Total (deficit)/equity (BS4L) HEzsm (824,850) 88,709
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

mEMBMRRE(E)
As at 30 June 2022 R=—F - —FNHA=+H
2022 2021
g5 —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FHExT Tt
(Restated)
€<
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Bank loans RITE 37 13,267 16,281
Bonds payable BRI ES 38 916,770 635,596
Convertible bonds AR ES 40 16,538 45,339
Lease liabilities HEAE 39 - 1,483
946,575 698,699
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables JEN B 5RIE 34 57,638 52,077
Tax payable FERIARIR 815 878
Other payables and accruals H A eI I R EET & A 35 747,748 666,966
Other loans HEEK 36 120,400 68,676
Bank loans RITER 37 9,115 42,885
Bonds payable ESES 38 149,384 450,188
Lease liabilities HEBE 39 1,483 2,275
Convertible bonds Al AR ES 40 29,939 =
1,116,522 1,283,945
Total liabilities HEE 2,063,097 1,982,644
Total equity and liabilities HWEZNEE 1,238,247 2,071,353
Net current liabilities REBEEEE (966,539) (958,412)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABAE 121,725 787,408
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfE) EEFE (824,850) 88,709

Approved and authorised for issued by the Board of Directors on 21 October

2022 are signed on its behalf by:

Chan Yuk Foebe

Law Tze Ping Eric

RE ETV¥
Chairman Executive Director
*E HITEE

RECZE-—F+A -+ HESESHAERRE

TUEE R IA T ALTRREE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADTREARLE
Convertible Retained
Issued Share bonds profits/ Non-
share Share option Exchange equity  (accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses) Sub-total interests Total
BB BhE TRRES  RERH/ FER
e R EE B HERE BifE  (ZRER) gt B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr T Thr TR TR Thr THEL Thr ThI
MNote330li)  Note 330l (Note 33bJi))  (Note 33b))
(Rrss(o))  (Pekasb)i))  (RisEas(o)))  (Miskaa(b)(v)
At1 July 2020 RZE-EFLA-A 133,993 60,808 11,752 68,828 - 27,181 302,562 60,984 363,546
Loss forthe yeer KEEER - - - - Sy (450359 028 (4595
Other comprehensive income: H2ERA
- Exchange differences -EHER - - - 4,462 - - 44462 5677 50,139
— Share of other comprehensive income  —2MABE £
of an associate £ - - - 871 - - 871 - 871
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2EMA LR - - - 45,333 - (450,353 (405,00) (3,556) (408 576)
Acquisition of a subsidiary k@ Aa - - - - - - - o77) @77)
Employee share option benefs [EERRERT - - 19,505 = = = 19,505 = 19,505
Deconsolidation of a subsidlary R IHA NEHBAR - - - - - - - 2,604 2,604
Issue of convertble bonds ERAARES - - - - 34,065 - 34,05 - 34,085
Issue of shares on conversion of ERTARESR
convertiole bonds R 9,260 28,347 - - (12,604) - 24,99 - 24,993
Placing of shares RERH 10,000 19,362 - - - - 29,362 - 29,362
Exercise of share options IlERRE 7,128 21,801 4832 = = = 24,007 = 24,007
Lapsed of share options BREAN - - (7,040) - - 7,040 - - -
Changes in equity for the year FRERES) 26,378 69,510 7,633 45,333 21,461 (443313) (272,99 (1,839) (274,837)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZZ=-5xA=Z1AR
“E--Ftf-A 160,371 130,318 19,385 114,161 21,461 (416,132) 29,564 59,145 88,709
Loss for the year REEER - - - - - (1,064206) (1,064,206) (9618 (1,073,821)
Other comprehensive income: A2 ERA -
- Exchange differences -EiER - - - 2,719 - - 2719 (1,212) 1,567
— Share of other comprehensive income. — BB (M EEA
of an associate ESTTN - - - (592) - - (592) - (592)
~ Disposal of a subsidiary ~HENEBAF - - - 6,312 - - 6,312 - 6,312
Total comprehensive income for the year AFE2ERALE - - - 8,499 - (1,064,208 (1,095,707) (10,827)  (1,066,534)
Redemption of convertiole bonds ROmakEs - - - - (14,648) 14,648 - - -
Recognition of equity componentof BB ATERESH
convertiole bonds B&H2 - - - - 5,602 - 5,602 - 5,602
Issue of shares on rights issue RERETRG 88,685 17,737 - - - - 106,422 - 106,422
Placing of shares RERD 17,000 23,051 - - - - 40,951 - 40,951
Lapsed of share options EREXH - - (8,797) - - 3,197 - - -
Changes n equty for the year Engagy 105,685 41,688 (3,797) 8,499 (046 (1,045,761 (902,732) (10827)  (013,559)
At 30 June 2022 R-Z-—&£xB=1A 266,056 172,006 15,588 122,660 12415 (1,461,893 (873,168) 48,318 (824,850)




PEXCIREERAT —T——FFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERETRER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

2022 2021
—ECCf —E -4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(Restated)
(fEsEa)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EBCRERE
Loss before tax BRTEATES 18 (1,073,821) (458,696)
Adjustments for: fELL T A%
Finance costs BF TG R AR 179,464 126,121
Interest income A BUA (65) (951)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - BE REEITE 73,377 72,516
Depreciation of right-of-use assets @Eﬁﬂ EEENE 9,053 9,102
Share of result of an associate DB R 137 (266)
Impairment for prepayments, deposits and other TEIFIE ~ 5] REMEIEIR
receivables, net BEFRE 22,973 119,043
Provision of allowance for trade receivables FHEEWE F iR 3,311 5,880
Reversal of impairment of inventories FERERD (3,726) =
Written off of inventories FEHsE - 171
(Gain)/loss on fair value of financial assets at Tﬁ@?fﬁ%)\%ﬁﬁéz(ﬁﬁﬂﬁéz
FVTPL, net AFER), EIEFEE (1,765) 3,980
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL HERATEFABEZ CREE
2 Wias (191) (992)
Equity-settled share-based payments R EE R AR D BERTR - 19,505
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary ST B A B 2 Yw= (10,220) =
Written off of property, plant and equipment Y% - R R R - 400
Impairment of property, plant and equipment Y% - WE REERE 646,212 =
Impairment of right-of-use assets HRAEEERE 46,526 1,522
Loss on reclassification from assets classified BRBAREHEZEE
as held for sale B O ER 5,393 =
Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary KR ABRMT B A AR EsiE - 4,394
Forfeiture of deposit received for partial disposal of a  JRUEE D HEKTBE A Al 2 BRIZS
subsidiary (30,238) -
Income from consideration received for disposal of HERIHTRAE ARWBRRIME K
Deconsolidated Subsidiary BARERUA (3,800) =
Gain on early redemption of bonds REEEES W= (10,321) =
Operating cash flows before working capital EEESRBRIZ2RERERE
changes (147,701) (98,271)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGEMm, B (13,406) 2,021
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables FEUE BERTA (G N) R (10,862) 12,760
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and i‘EHm « 7] M E AL EUGRIE
other receivables / (2 50) 40,053 (108,648)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at FVTPL ?E’R?@“r)\?ﬁ 5 B E
R, (3Em) 549 (2,874)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables EEHE SR I, (R 7,090 (8,567)
Increase in other payables and accruals L Ath S SRIE SR FE R T R IE IS AN 114,215 163,876
Cash used in operations KEERAZES (10,062) (39,703)
Interest received BHFIE 65 951
Interest paid ERFLE (16,142) (22,208)
Net cash used in operating activities KRBT 2 IRE FRE (26,139) (60,960)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
=1 iﬁﬁulbi%(%ﬁ)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

2022 2021
—ECHf —E -4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(Restated)
(g&E3h)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHRERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE - BB K& (43,227) (18,767)
Net cash outflow from business combination, net of ¥ A& HFRFERLRL - BEHK

cash acquired FrikiEIR & - (8,360)
Deposit received for assets classified as held for sale D3 ARHELENEEMDIIZE 5,276 =
Proceeds from disposal of Deconsolidated Subsidiary ﬁ:|:1I ERILERE NI B AR ATIS A 3,800 =
Net cash outflow on deconsolidation of a subsidiary ~ #& [F4R& ABRHT B A jﬁ@/?fﬁﬁmuﬂj - (510)
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HEMEARRFR S (1) =
Net cash used in investing activities S EEBFTA 2R FRE (34,152) (27,637)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEFTE2HEESRE
Proceeds from rights issue HARFTIS IR 106,422 =
Placing of shares =S n) 40,951 29,362
Exercise of share options 1TEHE AR - 24,097
Payment of lease liabilities HEAENR (2,275) (1,975)
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BEITAIAARE S TS 30R - 100,000
Redemption of bonds IO {EH (137,398) (2,000)
Repayment of bank loans RITERUER (3,676) (12,297)
Proceeds from bank loans RITE RS FRIE - 6,000
Proceeds from other loans EME AT ?:Erﬁlﬁ 119,380 =
Repayment of other loans HMBERER (65,459) (16,193)
Redemption of convertible bonds fE Bl PTR AR B 5 (31,857) -
Net cash generated from financing activities REREELE 2 RS 55 26,088 126,994
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND RERBREEEEE 2(RD),/

CASH EQUIVALENTS EINFER (34,203) 38,397
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes BEoE 302 235
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING $#R&REELZEHIER

OF YEAR 46,775 8,143
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FRATRRESEEEAE

YEAR 12,874 46,775

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ¥4 RIESZEIEE DT
Bank and cash balances RITMB e &F 12,874 46,775
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands on 7 December 2000 and continued
in Bermuda on 24 April 2017. The address of its registered office is
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda.

The address of its principal place of business is Room 4007, 40th
Floor, China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which
is also the functional currency of the Company.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$1,073,821,000 for the
year ended 30 June 2022. As at 30 June 2022, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$966,539,000 and net liabilities
of approximately HK$824,850,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business.

—RER

AR ZEEEF+ALRAEHEHS
MR AERRERAT - W= —+
FNAZ+OAEBFERFSE - Hifftiis
B2 i 7 Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda °

ARz ETELEMEUNEEEEEE
2657 FE A E 40184007 = AR ARG 7
BEMERZMAR AR ([HRAT )R L
7 o

AR REEEBARR] © 76 WHHRERIAE
(BT DR  BLMARRABNIEE

N EPNSIECES S E SN Rl b e
#o3 e

FEEERE

HE-_Z-—F#X A=1HILEE A&
[ = A4 B3 18 49 1,073,821,0008 7T » AN &
BRA_E - —FNA=THZADEEZF
8 49 /5 966,539,000 7% 7T & B ESFE L A
824,850,000/ 7T ° s FAM N BN FEEKN
TERBAEZE « e HAEE 2 FHEL &N
EEBARME - Bt - NEE A sEEERNE
ARERBERETEBEELEERSERLRE -

73




74

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE ISR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

2.

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the management has
given careful consideration to the current and anticipated future liquidity
of the Group and the ability of the Group to achieve positive cash
flows from operations in immediate and long terms. The Directors have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast prepared by management,
which cover the period up to 30 June 2023. The Directors are of the
opinion that, taking into account of the plans and measures below, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within twelve
months from 30 June 2022. In order to strengthen the Group’s capital
base and maintain sufficient financing necessary for future business
development, the Directors have taken the following measures:

- On 26 August 2022 (the “Effective Date”), the operation
of Mudanjiang Better Day Power Limited (“Mudanjiang BD
Power”) was temporarily taken-over (the “Taking Over”) by
Mudanjiang Authority of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
(the “Authority”). Immediately following the cease of control over
Mudanjiang BD Power, it shall be deemed as deconsolidated
(the “Deconsolidation”) from the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and be classified as a discontinued
operation as from the Effective Date. In view that the net liabilities
attributable to Mudanjiang BD Power amounted to approximately
HK$390 million as at 30 June 2022, the Group would expect
to record a net gain of approximately HK$390 million upon the
Deconsolidation. Up to the approval date on these consolidated
financial statements, the Group is liaising with the Authority
relating to the Notice (as defined in note 47(a)), the control and
operation of Mudanjiang BD Power;

- The Company is in the process of negotiating for a settlement
of a bond payable to several bondholders in the amount of
approximately HK$80 million. In the event that a proposed
settlement is reached between the Company and bondholders,
the Company expects the payment schedule of relevant bond
payable in the amount of approximately HK$60 million to be
deferred or discounted;

- Other loans of the Group of approximately HK$45 million out
of approximately HK$120 million as at 30 June 2022 has been
refinanced in August 2022;
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

The Group had several idle right-of-use assets and buildings
located in Mudanjiang City, Heilongjiang Province, the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) and Hong Kong with a total carrying
amount of approximately HK$112 million and approximately
HK$63 million respectively. These right-of-use assets and
buildings are available to be disposed of, which have a total
market value of approximately HK$201 million with reference to
the estimated market approach analysis of the right-of-use assets
and buildings carried out by an independent third-party valuer, in
the event the Group requires further financing;

On 4 July 2022, the convertible bonds with carrying amount of
approximately HK$29,939,000 were converted into 354,000,000
ordinary shares;

On 28 December 2020, a subsidiary of the Group, Heihe
Longijiang Chemical Limited (“HLCL”) entered into an agreement
(the “Disposal Agreement”) with Heihe Longhe Investment
Management Limited (“HLIML”), an independent third party,
pursuant to which HLCL had agreed to transfer the land use
rights of certain lands located in the PRC at an aggregate
consideration of approximately Renminbi (‘RMB”) 156,440,000,
comprising approximately RMB139,440,000 with land
compensation of RMB17,000,000 (the “Land Disposal”).

Although the Land Disposal was suspended due to the
resumption of operation of the HLCL, the management is of the
view that the other payables of approximately RMB139,440,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$163,479,000) due to HLIML will
not be recalled in case HLCL is under normal operation;

The Group will consider equity fund raising activities to meet the
financial obligations; and

The Group will apply cost cutting measures to reduce
administrative expenses and cash outflows for the next twelve
months for the reporting period.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

2.

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

Based on the above measures, the Directors are therefore of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
the consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities
as current assets and liabilities, respectively. The effect of these
adjustments had not been reflected on these consolidated financial
statements.

RETROSPECTIVE RESTATEMENT

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2021 have been restated to correct prior period error.
The accounting error is related to the classification of investment in
Mudanjiang Xusheng Limited (the “Mudanjiang Xusheng”) which had
been classified as joint venture with carrying amount of approximately
HK$10,108,000 as at 30 June 2021 as set out in the notes 5(d) and 20
to the Group’s published audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 30 June 2021 (the “FY2021 Financial Statements”).

After reviewing the cooperation agreement, board composition
and articles of association relevant to the investment in Mudanjiang
Xusheng, the management noted that the right of appointing
management members in Mudanjiang Xusheng, including but not
limited to, legal representative, sales representative and financial
representative are controlled by the counter investor instead of the
unanimous consent of the Group and the counter investor which
was unable to meet the definitions of joint venture as set out in Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 28 — Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures and is not in conformity with the classification as disclosed in
notes 5(d) and 20 to the FY2021 Financial Statements.

In view of the above, the management is of the opinion that the
classification of the investment in Mudanjiang Xusheng should be
reclassified as investment in an associate accordingly in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 in
appropriate reporting period.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

3.

RETROSPECTIVE RESTATEMENT (continued) 3. BEPEI @
Notwithstanding the above, as both investments in an associate and BER LA - AREEBE AR RE &
a joint venture are using equity method, other than the reclassification ENRBEYRAERAE  BEHaEhE
from investment in a joint venture to investment in an associate and the E’]Tﬁﬁi%ﬁ“ﬁ%‘ﬁﬂ%‘é@ 7] E’]&é&ﬁﬂﬁ
reclassification from the share of result of a joint venture to investment EEEREESTHEAN —HHEARZ
in an associate, there are no other impact or effects of the retrospective %xﬁﬂl\ CBPENEHEES I _FR T
restatement on the assets and liabilities, the profit and loss and other ——FXNA=ZtTHIEFENEERARE B
comprehensive income, the changes in equity and the cash flows of the m R EMARE W - R e ARSI
consolidated financial statements for the years ended 30 June 2022 RESREWEEME -
and 2021.
Amendments has been applied retrospectively and resulted in changes ERTEBPER - WEHURE MEHRE TR
in the consolidated amounts reported in the consolidated financial EMEHEERENTEL
statements as follows:
In the Consolidated Statement of Financial mEMBRREKRA
Position
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
(Restated)
(1e=%1))
Increase in investment in an associate WAk [l kAN EL =PI - 10,108
Decrease in investment in a joint venture DMhEEBEFRERD - (10,108)
In the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss mEBRBERA
2022 2021
ot~ - T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FAT
(Restated)
(re=5)
Increase in share of result of an associate i ENCIWA L pe il (137) 266
Decrease in share of result of a joint venture REERFE 2R 137 (266)
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

3.

RETROSPECTIVE RESTATEMENT (Continued)

Subsequently to above reclassification of the investment in Mudanjiang
Xusheng, the Group entered into a conditional sale and purchases
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of the associate
during the year ended 30 June 2022. The Directors expect it is highly
probable that a disposal of the associate will be completed within
twelve months and interest in an associate was classified as assets
held for sale and presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and
disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 5 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #Z —Z— —#F A =1+HIFFZ

5.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSs

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for
the first time for the annual reporting period commencing on 1 July
2021:
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4

and HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

The amendments listed above did not have any material impact on
the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current and future periods.
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5. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 5. EAFNiEEMEHRELENR

TO HKFRSS (Continued) H&5T @
New and amended standards that have been 98 7 {8 18 5Kk 4 RH0 3T 5T R 18
issued but not yet effective FT2ER
A number of new and amended standards have been published that N-ZE——F+t A —HRABNFEHE  §
are not yet effective for reporting period beginning on 1 July 2021 and B TR REEETERIE B R MR ER
have not been early adopted by the Group. These new and revised MAEKEB I ARIZE IR o 5% FHF] REHER]
HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant to the Group: AR E ERI B T AL BN A A4
AR ZER :
Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual Framework! HRMEmEEN  BEaiERRRL
HKFRS 3 EIRIEFT
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor BAPBmEEL REFHRHBENFNE
HKFRS 10 and and its Associate or Joint Venture? SI0RREEGT BhEZRANBEELE
HKAS 28 RERIF28F 2 ER]  FTE®
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current EEEHNENFE1R HHEABERRIKIERD
HKAS 1 and related amendments to Hong Kong ZIEE] REBEEFSTAEH
Interpretation 5 (2020)? BRI (ZEZZF)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies? SR GTERIFE1R SBUREE?
and HKFRS Practice REBIM S EE
Statement 2 A BB E 25
pA )
Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates? BASIERET SFHEFTAER?
HKAS 8 ZIEET
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising BREGHEAE12 HE-QIHGEEANEER
HKAS 12 from a Single Transaction? id ) B ERBENETTIE?
Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before BEGERISE W% - BB KRR BT
HKAS 16 Intended Use' SR IER] FR&ERIR TS E"
Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract' BRERIERIEST ZEAN-BIANN
HKAS 37 SRZAERT B%N
Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards BEMBMEEN AEVBEBRSENR=T
2018-2020' ZIER] —\GEE_Z_TFH
Hiz FERGE"
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 v RZTZ—F—A—HIZERBNFE
BRI AE R
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 2 RZEZ=F— A B2 EHRENFE
Hﬂ AR

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined € RFE B Bigk 2 1 FE R0 E AR A 3K
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5.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSSs (Continued)

New and amended standards that have been
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

The Directors have performed an assessment on these new and
amended standards and have concluded on a preliminary basis that
the adoption of these new and amended standards is not expected
to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial performance and
position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 7.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30
June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities,
i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

5.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

6. FESHEX@m)

(Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued) (@) #HRE@
When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting ERH TR - ASBeZEEE
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties. £i% K%M&E‘ﬂﬁi\ﬁﬂxﬁ?—rﬁzfgﬁ
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the &KTE ERFEABERENTE
practical ability to exercise that right. BIERZER 8 Z RSN o
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is e~ E) B G EE A RS E R B H
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date ARG ETE o« WEREHIERIER R
the control ceases. BTN EiREe AR o
The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in HEMB AR (EBREEFIEZE
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair T2 B TE()HERE QT EE
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any RN ZH B A TZEFH% RS- WA/N
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s EEHEHARRR D HZB AR EE
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining @‘TELHE@EZWJJ%A AEBE R
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation T B LA R AE RETE K ERE
reserve relating to that subsidiary. ZERE o
Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are SEARRIMZRS « EHR R ARER
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 5§7T|Ji’-]7‘"%¥ﬁ%i o BRIEBRARZ FIRME
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset BERIBACEEEELENE - TR
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been ifi AR ESE N T LA - B AR Z

SRR AR EREENR - BERE
BRANER B PRAN 2 UK — B ©

changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

RSBV IFEEAEREBR

$ AlZMBARER o JEERER
RS B IR R B ’\%’*\@@J%

ZHEmANTIER o MErE1Bmak Mir

equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in BakHME2ERERA - JEE HﬂE

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated w2 Y AE FEm NS EE R 2 E S

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as A IR R E AR THEA A Z

an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for EEopaNiw

the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of

the Company.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in

Bk ZEMEMBRAREL FBR
ZK RIBEE A REERAR - Bl
B IR S M AR H R AL IR

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. 7" °
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FEFHEEX@

(Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued) (a) #HRE@
Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary RARRB AR 2 A EER 22
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity (T 2EHREEHEEAERR
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity SN (BB A (AREZHEE A
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non- FD)#ETRS) o ER R IEERE R
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their ZIREELFHEARBEERZITEA
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the RIS B8 o AR FHEEIEER
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and EmreREEEARERRENAT
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised B WEZENEEREERER
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company. RIFBRARGHEB A °
In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment RAREZABARRAEKRA - FRIERE
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the DERAFELE (HF AP BERFE
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal HEZHEHR) @ FAIRKE A A
group that is classified as held for sale). K1% & TR A RUR B R 1R Y BR -

(b) Business combination and goodwill (b) ¥KEHREE
The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition REEE G UM E A R T LA
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration EANER o XA HPTEEREZRE
transferred in a business combination is measured at the AEERUEER BN A TE - P37
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments =T E  FTEEBEEREMHIAR
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration. Bt 2 o WEBBEKAREEKS R
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the ESREHAMERAFAST - WESE
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are BRI B ARMAIHRIEERE ER
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the W HE BB AT ER = -

acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the Fres BB ASEMEMHE
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable NElA#BREERABRNA T EFE
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of B ABRARE - AEBETGHE
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets ARIAHAEERAGENAFERE
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is BEMEERESENDINEGEE
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain wERSAEEEGZRERE W -

purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held HRORERETZEBREHME - &
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition- AIE A 2 B A Rl 2 IR FE Thi I i
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in BEIZ AFEEHGTE - MALES
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum ZBENGEEEANER - AFER
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to MAZFEBEHFRERRESEN

calculate the goodwill. FHERE-
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fRE ISR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

(c)

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of
CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwiill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right
contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

6. FESHEX@m)
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fRE ISR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is
included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

6. FESHEX@m)

(c)
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FESTBR@

(Continued)

(c) Associates (Continued) (c) H¢&E T @
The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a HEMERNREHREBEATEZK
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i) ek E R ()1 SR E A T E B R B
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value BRAURBIRE 2 AT {E 2 F (i) 2R
of any investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group’s SEHEGMBHEQARZIKREE(ERE
entire carrying amount of that associate (including goodwill) and PR ) R Rt INERE
any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If 2 BB ZERE o IREEE AR ZIRE K
an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint BREEREZRE  ANEBEER
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and AESZEZETSEMHMT=EREBE
does not remeasure the retained interest. 7o
Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its REEHEBRERNRZEARXZHARE
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests IR 058 I S BN 2 (B A B 8 R R MO A
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless HiH o REREBET S TUEHE - KR
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the X HIRFEEEEREELRREN
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been B - ME QAN ESTTBREMLER
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies SEHE RN - AR E E ATE AN
adopted by the Group. ZBE 5 -
In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments RARE ZHBARREA - REEE A
in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses, unless AW EBIRKARAEEEYE - &
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is FENBAFHELE (KT ADE AR
classified as held for sale). EHEM T EAR) BIVERIFR °

(d) Joint arrangements (d 6EZH
A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more EETERIEMESIMEL LT AES
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed HENEFIERN L - HRZEG 5%
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when BRNEHEIBELRERNES - ERE
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous EREMAEREZAZEFNS S
consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant activities are —HRIER - ZEHAFE - HEE
activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. HEHLTHWRBERTLENEY o
When assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential LA ER - AEEeERA
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other BRI EREAREMTFEREER
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder ZEEERAEARBTEZENN

has the practical ability to exercise that right. BERBE N - T EREBENRONRE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FESTBR@
(Continued)
(d) Joint arrangements (Continued) (d) éﬁzﬂ#(ﬁa)
A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. EELTHAUEAERLEREED
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that ¥ hEgLEg—BARTH - HR
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, HEERREHENEETFZFEY
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A HEHENEERNLRAGERT - a4
joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have hER-HEETH Bl - HLH
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of HEHERAZEGENEESTEEZEZ
the arrangement. The Group has assessed the type of each of its ZHRFEE - A&BEFHESE
joint arrangements and determined them to all be joint ventures. SERHHERE  UWHEBEEREE
B2 o

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated A**ﬁ%ﬂ’]&éﬁiﬁ/\ﬁﬂ%iﬁi‘%qj
financial statements by the equity method and is initially AR AZE - WIRKAEITYISR
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint R WEREECENTHANEE
venture in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at REBEAKEENATERE ?xﬁ
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment AR A E B LG &b 5] R
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s E&E%E’U’REF@/%%ECP%H@%EE’U
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill, which is B R REE - MERGt ARE
included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess HEREEF - REEERHAIEER
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable BERNAFEFEFRS 0B DR
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in BRARERS - AIRNARE B TER o

consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence ZIS’EIEFME EEFEREGEELE
that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When BERE BTEER - BFEEM
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of uﬂﬁﬁv BRI B B EEERIE

the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 36%;"%%&?(@%%%)Ziuﬂﬁﬁﬁi
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its BIERB —EEETRENR - 7
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less 7 e B EL AT Yz [B] < 8 (LA {8 R B A B
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss ATFEREENAZRmETE )M

recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that HIRESR o (2 R EEBIL
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal FPEEEBRZIRERA SR 2 — 0
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS DZEMEE(BEFGE) - RIERS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment SEIERIFI6E R ZBEREZ T
subsequently increases. AT [B] LA 5% 3% & EL 18 T hn 2 m] YR [l

BEAR °
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FEFHEER@
(Continued)
(d) Joint arrangements (Continued) (d) &EZRHE@m

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits AEEBEGEDENWERERRE
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in fth 2 E W = R TR R (D BB Ar & B
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive REMEPEANGZRAER - EXKE
income. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture BiEa &t EEERERNgBREE
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes AECEPNER(BIEEE LB
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the REEHEEDEFIRE o T
Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not A REAER ) - AEBETERE—
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or HHETE - RIEHBERESEREN
made payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture EBXENR - WEEDLEREERE
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its Al RIS EEEEE N RMNER
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the RERKEIENRRE A BN EREE
share of losses not recognised. 1E& A o

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results in &G & M E B3 5k 2 B3 Hil 7
a loss of joint control represents the difference between (i) the KB =EAE()EEREMAFEN L
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of ZaELERREBNEMZEENAF
any investment retained in that joint venture and (i) the Group’s BEHAEEEZE EEERHEEL
entire carrying amount of that joint venture (including goodwill) FREE(EERE) RMEMEEN Rt
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. SN R 2 =7 o A B ER
If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an WEZBEBENRNIEE  ~5E
associate, the Group continues to apply the equity method and BEERAERZBETEENTER
does not remeasure the retained interest. B o

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its REBEBESEPE I FANRERRZS
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests WAMAAEEES EREFRERR
in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless RT LAY - RIER ZIREEBBEE
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset EREE @ BRIAKAZRMNEBIT
transferred. Accounting policies of joint ventures have been T LA SH o AREIREANE EERA K
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies R AECENZHBREEY
adopted by the Group. BRFEITER o

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments EARTNBBRREF  HEEh
in joint venture are stated at cost less impairment losses, unless ENRERRAREREBIEZS)
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is RIEFBEAKERE EBRERE

classified as held for sale). ARAFENLEESP) -
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(1)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HKS$, which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured at
fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

6. FESHEX@m)
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FESTBR@
(Continued)
(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued) (e) INEBRE @)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (i) #ESRERRHE

The results and financial position of all the Group e EEA QRN ES T

entities that have a functional currency different from the TRAZHMBEEERBZXER

Company’s presentation currency are translated into the HBIRRIEA T A BRE /AR

Company’s presentation currency as follows: NANEINEE :

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial —  REMBRAKRZIHE
position presented are translated at the closing rate = R B EIRZ SRR
at the date of that statement of financial position; RAHMWEENRRE

- Income and expenses are translated at average -  WARZHIZEARFS
exchange rates for the period (unless this average PRI E (BRIEM FIIE
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative K IR 5 A B E A E
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, KRR EBZEREY
in which case income and expenses are translated oo ERIBFBRT - WA K
at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and SRR R 5 A HRE

E@E) &

— Al resulting exchange differences are recognised in — ERLEAZENZERE
other comprehensive income and accumulated in e A EL Ath 2 B UK 2 A
the foreign currency translation reserve. R WHNINEETE H R

F o

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the RiraERER - REBREI

translation of monetary items that form part of the net ERREFE—HMONEKIER

investment in foreign entities are recognised in other BARTEANERZ8E  ARNA
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign HEE Y EER - WRINEE
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation REHERET - BEINEKE
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to b ZEREESENSEER

consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on eiEREAHEREIEERN

disposal. —&5 .

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the R EEIERBELECHE

acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and /“Elzﬁaﬂ”ﬁﬁf’ﬁ?ﬁl\éi‘&f

liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing ZEENABE  USULERE

rate. RIPE o
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than properties under construction as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of
the lease, and 30-50 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years

Pipelines and trench 30 years

Plant and machinery
Furniture, office equipment
and motor vehicles

10 to 30 years
5to 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and equipment pending installation, and is stated
at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the
relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

() The Group as a lessee
Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group
are primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

6. FESHEX@m)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE ISR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-
of-use assets.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Leases (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a
lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions
which arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases, the Group
took advantage of the practical expedient not to assess
whether the rent concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as negative lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.
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fRE ISR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Other intangible assets

(i)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally
generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s
development is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

- The technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

- Management intends to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

- There is ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— [t can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic benefits;

- Adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

- The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 5 years. Where no
internally generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Other intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

Intangible assets acquired separately -
patents and trademarks

Patents and trademarks are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 20 years.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected from use
or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B B R AR Y ()

FEXCTREERAT

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #Z —Z— —#F A =1+HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Other intangible assets (Continued)
(i) Intangible assets acquired separately -
patents and trademarks (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Technical know-how

Technical know-how is measured initially at purchase
cost and is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 10 years.

Trade name and exclusive right

Trade name and exclusive right are measured initially
at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 25 years.

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are measured initially at fair
value and are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the contract period of 1-2 years.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.

TR FFR
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R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FESTBR@

(Continued)

(i) Contract assets and contract liabilities i) EHEEREHEE
Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue EREBEDRNASBEEHEEEEKFT
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under I AHER T 2 R E 2 BRI 2
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are AIFERU R TER - A EERME
assessed for expected credit losses (“‘ECL”) in accordance with B(cc) FT & B R AR A TR Bl s BB 18
the policy set out in note 6(cc) and are reclassified to receivables ([FAHEERE])  TRKRREZ
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional. FEFIRK A SR E T D SB A UK

I8 o

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays BHBEIREFPRASLE R HR
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. Wamz A NRERER 548
A contract liability would also be recognised if the group has an BRI GRAL ERREBR R A
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group N EE A E IR W ER R (B R i
recognizes the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding R EZFBRT - AEREKGRIE
receivable would also be recognised. IS T HER ©
For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset MEEFEI—HEH - H2E648
or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, BEFEXEGHNAETE - WAEEZMH
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are EH) - THENEAF ZERNEER
not presented on a net basis. BHBETSNFREEEZY -
When the contract includes a significant financing component, EHBEEEARENDF  5RER
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective T BEERBERF AT E 2 BT
interest method. SN

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial (k) BRERLILEREHTA
instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the CREERSRBERAEENAT
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group B & RG22 5THI 7 R kR & B AR
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the SRR
instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at TRIEERSRMAEVIPRAFER
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 2 WERBTEHEERERAER
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities BEEL 2R IHNAGERFERGA
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) BaseREERSBBERIN
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial R HERHFEEMEEXESRAR
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. ZAFEBEIASIR(IER) - |
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of BIERATEFABEZCREERS
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised BABEEEEGZRIEA - BIRR

immediately in profit or loss. Bz R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FESTTHE®@

(Continued)

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial (k) BRERALBREHTA@

instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

6. FESHEX@m)

THEE
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BB DIFTREE 2 B BIEZR AR
BEZUBEEBANHE - FFEE
R TEE E R 1R 2 BIRESHR A 3
AFERFHEEENFR)FE

() Financial assets (1)
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

BRERE
AEBHEOEBREDER
AT e — A 8RR -

() Debt investments (i)
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI") - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of ECL, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Financial assets (Continued)
(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings.
It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit
or loss as other income.

(m) Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FEFHEER@

(Continued)

(n) Cash and cash equivalents (n) REeRBFSLEEER
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, RekREFEEEBRERITRFE
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, Re  ROKEMSRERS T
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily K AR AT DARERF SR A B AE REIR
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject S HESAEEESRARZEHSR
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within BHERE(REGBR=EAANER) °
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are REXRFEEAFKAEEHRCERE
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s —EORRITES - Mt ARER T
cash management are also included as a component of cash mEXRNRE &I e EEIEB ARE
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash n e R NREFEIER I EHE
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for EEBETHE -
ECL.

(o) Assets held for sale and discontinued (o) FIEHEZEERKIERE
operations
Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held WEERDEENEEMRE 2 REE
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally BEHEEBRFER S MIEBBITE
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing ERE - AIgERBEESREAS
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is SERFAERE  c ERANREEEN
highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for R EERREHE AR R IR AR A]
immediate sale in its present condition. The Group must be HEER  SHRBTE A GG -
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for AN B RS R B (E L A - IR
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of FER AR B BRI AT —F WA B8 TE
classification. REBETHEE °
Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale B AREREZIERDEENEE
are measured at the lower of the asset’s or disposal group’s HETREAESRBEASEREE
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. BEAABEEREEEBERAME K

KEZ -

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group (i.e. the BRI 2 REREES S AHER
operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished BZAREBAN D - BNELEER
from the rest of the Group) that either has been disposed of, or is R\ REAERNEE 2 A5
classified as held for sale, and which represents a separate major BEy BERR—EHEBFZEK
line of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of Rk EHE - KAE— R ER
a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of BE-EHEEHTEXBRRKLE MR
business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary o SRWEEFTEEEENZ

acquired exclusively with a view to resale. FRF] e
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

(q)

Assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (Continued)

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the component meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if earlier. It also occurs
when the component is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented in the statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

- The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

- The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group constituting the discontinued
operation.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.
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fRE ISR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially
measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of:

- the amount determined in accordance with the ECL model
under HKFRS 9; and

- the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance
with the principles of HKFRS 15.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or
the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for
assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values are
accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the
cost of the investment.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the bonds
into a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion
price are regarded as compound instruments consisting of
a liability and an equity component. At the date of issue, the
fair value of the liability component is estimated using the
prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt.
The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible
bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded option for the holder to convert
the bonds into equity of the Group, is included in equity as
convertible bonds reserve. The liability component is carried as a
liability at amortised cost using the effective interest method until
extinguished on conversion or redemption.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
equity components of the convertible bonds based on their
relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion related
to the equity component is charged directly to equity.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

(t)

(u)

(v)
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FESTTHE®@

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a

performance obligation

()  Output method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognizes revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.

(i)  Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

(Continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE ISR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Continued)
(i)  Principal versus agent (Continued)
The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

(iijj Other income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset.

Dividend income is recognsied when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefits schemes

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the
employees’ contributions subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group’s contributions
to the MPF Scheme are expensed as incurred. 5% of
relevant income vests immediately upon the completion of
service in the relevant service period, while the remaining
portion vests in accordance with the MPF Scheme’s
vesting scales. Where employees leave the MPF Scheme
prior to the full vesting of the employer’s contributions,
the amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce
the contributions payable by the Group. During the Year,
no contribution was forfeited by the Group on behalf of its
employees who had left the scheme prior to vesting fully in
such contributions under the MPF Scheme which may be
used by the Group to reduce the contribution payable in
future years. As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, there were no
forfeited contributions which were available for utilisation
by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions
to the MPF Scheme.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Employee benefits (Continued)

(x)

(i)

(iii)

Retirement benefits schemes (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions. Under the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme, the contributions once made by the employer
will vest fully with the employees, and no forfeiture could
be made by the Group. Accordingly, there is no forfeited
contribution available for the Group to reduce its existing
level of contributions to the retirement benefit scheme in
future years.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services are measured at
the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(x)

v)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retained
profits/(accumulated losses). When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits/(accumulated losses).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(y) Borrowing costs (Continued)

6. FESHEX@m)

v)

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible

for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

(z7 Government grants

()

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the

loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
recorded as deferred income and recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FESTTHE®@

(Continued)
(aa) Taxation (aa) Bi1E

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FEFHEEX@

(Continued)

(aa) Taxation (Continued) (aa) Bi1E (@)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the RIERIAE E 2 BREER &SR E R
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is EIRET - WK N B R BEH B HFER
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available i Al AR U [B] 2 B0 ok 30 0 & E R 1
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. R, ©
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates REBIEEERBEDRERS AR
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is EEMREE B R (REE) R
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) BEAENEFREEHHERER
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of TRERETE ©

the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the RIENIBEEREEZTERIIER
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which AN ETE A 2 5 TR R EA AR U Bl 3%
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover EEHEERBEZREAE LB
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. R

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally i B & 7% Al 58 ) 077 48 ) AT %% B EA AR
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax EHEEHEABHBEEEHRE  BZE
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same BERAERR-HHEBERK R
taxable entity by the same taxation authority. SHAR - AIEEHEEERAER]

B E%8H o

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, BVEA R R AT A A 18 2 A B AR, - M B
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other REMEERASEEZERERER
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, Z B HREERRN - RZIBERAT - 8
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other B R RAEFRIE TR 9 B A E 2 E A
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where KEERESTPER - MEKAHFH
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a 16 € 51 B B EE AR B EA B TR SR A
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting IH - MR AEBEHNER
for the business combination. B2ZA -

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, REHE B REIE T A2 E AT EE
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant E=r - AEBEZREHENGHER
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or Lo st mER SEEE R EMEH
proposed to be use by individual group entities in their income EASREF TR A sk e IR A 2 NRESE B 7S
tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are BRIR 5K o MR Al gedERE 4 - Y BDER
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax NOFIER I8 2 & FE B FR R P S i 2
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority wil MISERIE A5 o B IS EE
accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is PARAIREE N T REE S EIE %
reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected BB T A& 2 285 B ] i

value. EEZEHENTEHERTIARE
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 6. FESTTHE®@

(Continued)

(bb) Impairment of non-financial assets

(bb) k& EE ERE

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at
FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets,
as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

6. TESHHEE@
(cc) ERMEERSHNEERER

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core operations.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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(cc) TRMEERSHNEERE
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

@iy adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

6. FESHEX@m)

(cc) TRMEERSHNEERE®
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

(1)

(iii)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty; or

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

= it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

6. FESHEX@m)

(cc) ERMEERSHNEERE®)
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes
the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together
with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down
in the future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-
looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the
cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with
the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16.

6. FESHEX@m)

(cc) TRMEERSHNEERE
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was
used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the
financial asset in the statement of financial position.

6. FESHEX@m)

(cc) TRMEERSHNEERE
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(dd) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

A)

®)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

)
(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i

(i)

(v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(dd) Related parties (Continued)

(B)  (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

@iy  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

(ee) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(ff)

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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7.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 6, the Directors of the Company are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(@) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on
the Group’s ability to obtain sufficient future funding which
are depends on the results of the measures undertaking by
the Group as described in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(b) Legal titles of certain buildings

As stated in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
the legal titles of certain buildings were not yet obtained as at 30
June 2022. Despite the fact that the Group has not obtained the
relevant legal titles, the Directors have determined to recognise
those buildings as property, plant and equipment on the grounds
that they expect the legal titles should be obtained in future with
no major difficulties and the Group is in substance controlling
those buildings.
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7. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting

policies (Continued)

(c) Significant increase in credit risk
As explained in note 6(cc), ECL are measured as an allowance
equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for
stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase
in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has
significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative
and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking
information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
and residual values are different to those previously estimated, or
it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or nonstrategic
assets that have been abandoned.

At the end of reporting period, the carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment were approximately
HK$840,473,000 (2021: HK$1,455,539,000).
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7. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for trade
receivables and other receivables based on risk of a default and
expected loss rate. The assessment of the credit risk involves
high degree of estimation and uncertainty as the Group’s
management estimates the risk of a default and expected loss
rate for applying provision matrix on debtors based on the
Group’s historical information, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying amount of trade receivables
and other receivables.

At the end of reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
trade receivables and other receivables were approximately
HK$29,759,000 and approximately HK$73,803,000 respectively
(2021: HK$23,020,000 and HK$105,096,000 respectively).

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.

At the end of reporting period, the carrying amount of the
Group’s inventories were approximately HK$22,197,000 (2021:
HK$5,735,000).
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7. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets
Determining whether property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use
and fair value less cost of disposal of the cash-generating units to
which the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
have been allocated. The calculation of value in use requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value.

Furthermore, the estimated future cash flows and discount rate
are subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties in current
year due to uncertainties on how the COVID-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve and volatility in financial market.

Calculation of fair value by market approach requires valuation
techniques which used prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical and
comparable group of assets and liabilities or business, a suitable
discount rate and marketability discount rate.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were approximately HK$840,473,000 (2021: HK$1,455,539,000)
and approximately HK$247,791,000 (2021: HK$280,173,000),
respectively.

(e) Provision for litigations
The Group has been involved in a number of litigations during
the year. Provision for litigations have been assessed by
management with reference to legal advices. Provision on
possible obligations, if any, are made based on management’s
best estimates and judgements.

At the end of reporting period, the amount of provision
for litigations is approximately HK$76,591,000 (2021:
HK$71,082,000).
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8.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in HK$ and RMB which are the functional
currencies of the principal operating entities of the Group. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

(b) Price risk
The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk. The Directors manage this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk profiles.

At 30 June 2022 except for the investment in CGIl HLDGS (as
defined in note 27), if the prices of the Group’s investments
increase/decrease by 10%, pre-tax loss for the year would have
been approximately HK$15,000 (2021: HK$56,000) lower/higher.
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 8. HREERE @
(c) Credit risk (c) EER

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. As at 30
June 2022 and 2021, all bank balances were deposited in
reputable financial institutions and were hence without significant
credit risk. Management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counterparties. Credit sales are made
to selected customers with good credit history. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that outstanding trade receivables are
collected on a timely basis. Trade receivables are subject to the
ECL model. The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables from initial recognition. To measure the ECL,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates
are based on the historical payment profiles of sales and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that outstanding other
receivables are collected on a timely basis. Other receivables
are subject to the ECL model. The Group applies HKFRS 9
general approach to measuring ECL which uses a 12-month
ECL expected loss allowance for all other receivables from initial
recognition. The expected loss rates are based on the historical
payment profiles and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on factors affecting the
ability of the counterparty to settle the receivables.
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, the Group uses trade receivables’ aging to
assess the impairment for its customers because the customers
consist of a large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics representative of the customers’ abilities to pay
all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The
following table provides information about the exposure to credit
risk for trade receivables which are assessed based on provision
matrix within lifetime ECL.

8. HREERE @
(c) FERK @

R-ZZT-—FA=+8  ~"&£EF
FAEKE ZEERKRRIEHEERR
HRE  ARFHRZEAREFRRR
FE/NEEEK  RBEHARS
FIRA MR FrE B HA B A AL
71 o TRIREEHEWRE S REmR
HEERBHER - WHREZHITE
HEEEB R B AR o

At 30 June 2022 R-ZEZ-ZFXA=1+H
Weight
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
mETH
RHERE REAE EREE REFE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T T FH7
Current (not past due) ENE (K En) 2.52% 6,614 167 6,447
1-90 days past due #H1Z90H 2.43% 6,132 149 5,983
91-365 days past due 19123650 3.46% 17,951 622 17,329
Over 365 days past due #HI365 A LA £ 100.00% 20,781 20,781 -

51,478 21,719 29,759
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 8. HMERERERE@
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EERKE@
At 30 June 2021 R-ZF-_—F3XA=+H
Weight
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
AT

BHEEE REAE BiafiE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
Current (not past due) BNE (R E) 1.65% 1,273 21 1,252
1-90 days past due #H31290H 1.89% 5,873 111 5,762
91-365 days past due #HEI91£365H 2.94% 16,491 485 16,006
Over 365 days past due #3665 A A 100.00% 18,736 18,736 -
42,373 19,3563 23,020
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical et EIEE R T E A FEIR E 5 BRIE R
observed default rates over the expected life of the trade TEHF AN BEEBRASNELNLL
receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking information that KRhst - WIRBAIEE B LKA S
is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly N ESHRIEEERAZE - E1EE
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about STEHERER - BRETCHEKE

specific trade receivables is updated. SEREEEBEN BRI ER -
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

8. HREERE @
(d) REBELERE

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

For term loans which contain a repayment on demand clause
which can be exercised at the lenders’ sole discretion, the
analysis shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period in
which the Group can be required to pay, that is if the lenders
were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with
immediate effect. The maturity analysis for other bank loans is
prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as

follows:

REEE 2 BUR R TE B EIR S Ko TR Hf
RBESHR  UEREF MRS
B ENERHEERARDESS

%o

i B & R BB R - TR R Ik
KA HEEAZEREITE - D
raBrRIEAEBANRZRFH
RANEEA S RSN ERE
R BIFTRENE) MEE RSN
e EtiRITERZBH A 5 TR
FHEEERE RS -

AEBSHBEZZHASTAT

On
demand or Between Between Total Total
less than 1and2 2and5 Over5  undiscounted carrying
1 year years years years cash flows amount
EZRa PRiE kA

HIME 15525 2EZ55 #1855 HERE REAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL

At 30 June 2022 RoZB-=&XA=1H
Bank loans FOER 9,424 3,093 9,280 1,547 23,344 22,382
Trade payables ENE 5 57,638 - - - 57,638 57,638
Bonds payable ERES 157,733 202,050 898,540 - 1,258,323 1,066,154
Other payables and accruals — E-At BRI FUB KR 08 740,059 - - - 740,059 740,059
Otherloans S 121,506 - - - 121,506 120,400
Convertible bonds ARES 35,400 20,000 - - 55,400 46,477
Lease liabilties HERR 1,536 - - - 1,536 1,483
1,123,206 225,143 907,820 1,547 2,257,806 2,054,593

At 30 June 2021 RZBZ-ExB=1H
Bank loans BITER 44107 3,093 9,280 4,89 61,376 59,166
Trade payables JANEDED 52,077 - - - 52,077 52,077
Bonds payable JEfEH 487,099 49,950 882,107 30,500 1,449.856 1,085,784
Other payables and acoruals ~ EfERFBRE IR 653,685 - - - 653,685 653,685
Other loans SR 60,984 - = - 69,984 68,676
Convertible bonds AhRES - - 63,000 - 63,000 45,339
Lease liabilties HERRE 2,634 1536 = - 4170 3758
1300,786 54,579 954,387 35,396 2,354,148 1968485
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

8. HREERE @

Interest rate risk (e) FZEmpz
Bonds payable, convertible bonds, certain bank loans and other ERES  AIRkES ETRTE
loans were arranged at fixed interest rates and therefore were RREMET Tjﬁzlﬂ&ﬂfcﬁr B0 R
subject to fair value interest rate risk. 7%*"\?%@7? 1|2 2\ B
Certain bank loans were arranged at floating rates varied with the ETRITERDIZEERMUKE 2
then prevailing market condition and therefore were subjected to FEAEGTE o - BIAARBE RN
cash flow interest rate risk. SEE
As at 30 June 2022, if interest rates at that date had been 1% RZZZZFA=+H " W& B H
lower/higher with all other variables held constant, consolidated TTI&/iﬂﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁfrﬁﬁﬁ\m A SN
loss after tax for the year would have been approximately SN - Zliﬁrﬁ?m{%iﬁ/\gﬁﬁﬂ—ri
HK$161,000 (2021: HK$190,000) higher/lower, arising mainly as /A 49161,00008 T ( =T = —
aresult of lower/higher interest expense on the bank loans. £ : 190,000/ 7T) - b EZHMNER
TERZMBRAX TR EFAAE -
Categories of financial instruments Hh EMIBEZESE
2022 2021
—EC-CH& —T 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Financial assets: SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL: LA EFAEZZ
SREE
Held for trading BIEEE 1,971 564
Amortised cost BN 85,924 162,360
Financial liabilities: SRAE
Amortised cost HSHAR 2,006,633 1,889,321
Fair values of financial assets and financial (9) YHFRAFEINRZEME

liabilities carried at other than fair value

As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the
consolidated statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

ErkcrBBEz A AYE
EA_7__¢&_7_ FRA=ZT

EREMBSAIRRRI R ASE S B
é?&ér‘iﬂﬁﬁzﬁ%@fﬁiﬁiﬁ B2
NEEE °
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R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 9. A¥EFE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to NP ERMSB2HEEETERETZERT

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants RPHE—EHEEMKEEZE-BEE

at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value Fr it 2 B#& o AT #E 2 AT EEEA
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three NEEER - BRUAFTERATE 2 EERI
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: ZEABESA=H  FBWT -

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F1REA REE A ERHE ARG 218
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can R - EEESBEEERMSG L
access at the measurement date. WECREARE) -

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within EPESEIPN BREE1ARSRE LASN + B R]
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, g - BN EERRRE CEE
either directly or indirectly. B ERAZE

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. FE3RE A BESBBZEIBRH A

& & o

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out AEEZBERERNER SR EHEE 2 IE

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in NEEE 2B - EREAREH= @R

circumstances that caused the transfer. Efaz— -

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (a) AFEBRKE

At 30 June 2022 R—FE__—FANHA=+H
Fair value at
30 June 2022 Fair value measurements using:
RZIBZZF ERAATSRELEZATETE
ARETRE Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Description it ¥R F18 E28R 3R
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000
FET THT FET FBT
Recurring fair value measurements: REMNTEE
Financial assets at FVTPL: BRAFEFAERZ SR
BE:
Listed securities in Hong Kong B LMES 1,971 151 - 1,820

Total recurring fair value measurements  EEMATEBRAHE 1,971 151 - 1,820
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9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 9. AFEFEw@m
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (a) AV EERFEE@E
(Continued)
At 30 June 2021 R-B-—FAXA=1H
Fair value
measurements
using:
AT
SMIEL 2
AEEFTE
Level 1
Description it FA
HK$’000
FAT
Recurring fair value measurements: REMEDNFETE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:  ZAFEFABREZ EREE ¢
Listed securities in Hong Kong BB LMES 564
Total recurring fair value measurements BEENFEFTEHAE 564
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair (b) BREF=ZHKBLAFETEZ
value based on Level 3 BEEYHER
2022
ol =S - =
HK$’000
FET
Financial assets at FVTPL: BATEFAERZZEREE
At 1 July 2021 R-—ZT-—&+H—H -
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss AR 2 A FEE B (KisE)

(Note) 1,820
At 30 June 2022 R=Z=—=FA=1+H 1,820
During the year ended 30 June 2022, there was no transfer of BEZT-_—_FRA=TRHLEFE -
financial instruments between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer into FIREFE2R R T A2 MW EEZ
or out of Level 3. During the year ended 30 June 2021, a financial s A E3RMEIRE L - HE—
instrument, being securities listed in Hong Kong suspended in T —FA=THIEFE X —BE
trading, had been transferred from Level 1 to Level 3. MTE(MNEAELTHNESREERS)

EHREIREEEEIR
Note: The total gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss included gain of MisE : RiBaRiERm Ik BIEREE
approximately HK$1,820,000 related to assets held at the end of FEREHREEEEAAN K=
the reporting period are presented in the gain/(loss) on fair value of #91,820,000/ 7T * RERABmEN
the financial assets at FVTPL, net in the consolidated statement of LR ATFEFABRCEHEER

profit or loss. FEME(EE)2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 9.

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at 30 June

N EFTE @

(c) XEBFAGERFER=
E__FXA=1THFERQ
BB AT AR E R T R A

2022: BIBHRE
Financial
instrument in Significant
Level 3 Valuation technique unobservable input Percentage Fair value
FIREMTE fRER A ERTABERAYE Epiged AFE
HK$’000
BT
Financial assets at Guideline public company Discount for lack of 20% 1,820
FVTPL method under market marketability (2021 Nil) (2021: HKS$NIl)
approach

BRATFEFABRZ miﬁ/zEIETE’]?a%I BRZ s ma TR (ZB=—F: 8) (ZF=—%:
= E‘ﬂé% /TIZL\ ﬂ/i 7/%'57E)

N EBEAFEFABZZEREED
FEDBENMEEREAMER(H
$HE ) EFEEMISERAESIARA
RVEMERE BRI AR ERT
ﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁ BrEEXERI= ?X%i‘*m
EEAEEZEEUZARA T
?TEJEE’}EKTTEE,T\%V\%UF
input of the fair value measurement is discount for lack of Bz miZmEEE R
marketability. As at 30 June 2022, it was estimated that with all FRA=1TH  REHEMEERHFD

The above fair value of financial assets at FVTPL was determined
using the guideline public company method under the market
approach which employed price-to-sales (“P/S”) multiple
in the valuation. The selection of guideline companies is by
understanding the principal business of the valuation target and
search for public companies with businesses as similar with
the valuation target as possible. The significant unobservable

other variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount for
lack of marketability by 5% would have increased/decreased the
Group’s loss for the year by approximately HK$91,000.

The Group’s financial assets in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
were valued at 30 June 2022 by an independent and qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group. The valuer
holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and
has recent experience in valuing similar business of trading price
being valued.

- BETISRBIETIR D1
5% * RIAKEFRE B, R
#791,000/ 7T °

AEERFEEREILNSHEE
Toi— % A B B E M B S S
BEREXEM[EMN *::E/—\ﬂ
=T HETHE - HEMFERA
HEZEXEER  AREHELURS E
RIEEXRBETHENRIIER
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

10. REVENUE 10. W=
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold and services WaRENAFEEHEEmRRERE 2 ER
rendered, after allowances for returns and trade discounts, and after FEREERERERE ST - WELHIHE
eliminations of all intra-group transactions during the year. MMBRS o
2022 2021
—E-CF — T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
Continuing operations: BEREER
Revenue from contracts with customers within BEMERE AR 155 B 2
the scope of HKFRS 15 BEEHBA
Heat supplying services EpE e RS 158,973 181,855
Electricity supplying services B e AR TS 11,991 15,755
Sales of calcium carbide SHEREES 184,966 =
Sales of lime powder SHE AN 13,698 23,424
Sales of wine HEREA - 7,987

369,628 229,021
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

10. REVENUE (cContinued) 10. Yz
() Disaggregation of revenue (i) 4rez=BA4H
For the year ended 30 June 2022

BE-E-_-_EXA=tHLEE

Continuing operations

BESEER
Heat and Calcium
power carbide Total
Segment ) HERED B 45 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER FTExT
Heat supplying services RaeHERS 158,973 - 158,973
Electricity supplying services BERERTS 11,991 - 11,991
Sales of calcium carbide SHERLIE - 184,966 184,966
Sales of lime powder HERKHD - 13,698 13,698
170,964 198,664 369,628
For the year ended 30 June 2021
BEZZT-—F A=1THLEFE
Continuing operations
FEREER
Heat and Calcium
power carbide Unallocated Total
Segment 2 HeERESN fxfb 85 RO HEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHT T
Heat supplying services R ERT 181,855 - - 181,855
Electricity supplying services E NIRRT 16,756 - - 15,756
Sales of lime powder SHE B - 23,424 - 23,424
Sales of wine SHE T - - 7,987 7,987
197,610 23,424 7,987 229,021

(ii) Al revenue above are recognised at a point in time. (ii) LA LPFrAYERSE — (AR o
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11. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS OR 1. HR AR B SEE
LOSSES
2022 2021
—E-F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
(Restated)
(#=eEm)
(Re-presented)
(sg&E5)
Continuing operations: BEAEEL
Conveyance service income (Note (a)) Eg RIS (K eE(a)) - 2,733
Government grants (Note (b)) BT B (M 5% (D)) 5,942 3,074
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 65 7
Other interest income E A A S A - 944
Gain/(loss) on fair value of financial assets BEATEFABSEZEHEE
at FVTPL, net AFEW (B8 ) F5E 1,765 (3,980)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL HERATET ABRZ S/
BE 2 Was 191 992
Written off of property, plant and equipment WEEWE - BB R&AE - (400)
Reversal of impairment of inventories FERERE 3,726 =
Forfeiture of deposit received for partial disposal R UERH H &t B A FIHE Uk
of a subsidiary (Note (c)) HEACELQ) 30,238 =
Income from consideration received for disposal HERIHRE ARKB A RN
of Deconsolidated Subsidiary BUERERIBA 3,800 -
Gain on early redemption of bonds IZRIERIES M 10,321 =
Sundry income EIET PN 734 958
56,782 4,328
Discontinued operation: BARIEREET
(Provision)/reversal of allowance for receivables FRIEM R IE A, () KR A
and written off of prepayments, net AT RIEF5E
— trade receivables —JEIE ZERR - 894
— prepayments, deposits and other receivables —TERRIE - Al REMEK
A (160) (84,058)
(160) (83,164)
Notes: B
(@  Conveyance service income within the scope of HKFRS 15 represents the @@  AEUBEMEERFAEE 2 ERRK
income from provision of the service for connecting the transition of steam WA FE B P iR e 2 e 18 B AR 75
to corporate customers. FRiSHA ©
(o)  Government grants for the years were received as incentive for capital (o) FAKBBFEHEIE (ERAEAREZ 258
expenditure and subsidy for operating costs. There are no unfulfilled B R 4R B A 2 2R B o A RATE BN © W AN
conditions or contingencies attached to the grants. HAEIR BT Z IR AEIE -
© Forfeiture of deposit received for partial disposal of a subsidiar (© BUE D BB AR ERET SRR
© represented the nFc))n—refundabIe depos?t RMB25 (E)OO 000 for 40% equit§ ’E‘%ﬁiﬂ% H gﬂ%m%’ﬂﬁngEj%%ﬂ
) . ) ' o . £ AR#25,000,000T - BHE=—ZFT——
interest of the Mudanjiang BD Power which was being forfeited and NE=1+HIFEE - ZEZmEse o

credited as other income during the year ended 30 June 2022. HAWA o
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION 12. 7 EBEHR

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to
the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker, the Executive Directors of
the Company, for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance for the year.

The Group has three reportable segments as follows:

Heat and power
Calcium carbide

— generation and supply of heat and power;

— manufacture and sale of calcium carbide and
lime powder; and

— construction and monitor of public facilities
construction.

Construction
services

The Group’s reporting segment of construction services has been
presented as discontinued operation following the disposal of
Mudanjiang Jinyang Municipal Engineering Company Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group engaging in the construction services
segment, on 16 June 2022.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products. They are managed separately because each
business unit requires different technology and marketing strategies.

Segment profits or losses do not include change in fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL, net, gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL,
share of result of an associate, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, loss on
deconsolidation of a subsidiary and corporate administrative expenses.
Segment assets do not include bank and cash balances, financial assets
at FVTPL, investment in an associate, assets classified as held for sale
and corporate assets. Segment liabilities do not include bank loans,
bonds payable, convertible bonds, bonds interest payable, other loans
and other payables and accruals for general administrative use.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales
or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market prices.

BOBERMFERFERE D EBRE M RASE
BEREKLERRE - ARRITERREHD
BRAKE A HREDHER -

AEBEUT =@ HREDE

REERES - EERMERENE

HRAEES —BEREERS M
AR R

T AR —ERLMERDNBRIE

EHERERERB D BRI S TIX
ITRERAGAEEZEWBARE R
2 _FRATAA  AEENEERS
HMED BT AR I ST o

REE BRI E D BRI R E a2 5K
HERBBEM - AN XBEMAR RN AT
SRR T RMBLERE -

DEBEMNHEE T RERAFES ARG Z
ERMEBEATERYFHE  HERATE
FAAERC EREE Wt - fh—RHEE
PEZEE  HEMNBARZKE - HEBAR
BRI NRZBRRARTTHRAX - 28
BEYVESARITIASET - RAVER
ABRZEREE  REELENKRE -2
BRFEHENEERRREE - #AE
I\ ARITER - BNES - JHRERE
7 BNESNE - RS FAREMES
PR —ROTBAGZETER -

AEBRAE =TT EHZ HEHE R (AR
BRITHE)FTE D AR EHE M
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12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 12. ZEER @

Information about reportable segment profit or FRTHREDHBENNEE
loss, assets and liabilities ﬁE&EF A=
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BRCEEK CRIEREER
Heat and Calcium Construction
power carbide  Unallocated services Total
HEREN g4 FA® BERE @it
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TEn TEr TEn TEn TEr
Year ended 30 June 2022 (2 _Z % A=1H
IHFE
Revenue from external customers INERR P M 170,964 198,664 - - 369,628
Segment loss PR (818,961) (85,721) - (176) (904,858)
Gain on fair value of financial assets Tii’&?@”r)ﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬂ‘i
at FVTPL, net BELTENS 1,765
Gain on disposal of financial assets u“jETh’\;@uﬂ\TﬁﬁﬁZ§ﬂ
at FVTPL BiE 191
Share of result of an associate DS ﬁ%%iz (187)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HjEMTE a2 Wig 10,220
Corporate administrative expenses RATHAEY (181,002)
Consolidated loss for the year FERERAEE (1,073,821)
Bank interest income HATFIBHA 32 22 11 - 65
Finance costs BT TSPRAR (13,434) (665) (165,365) - (179,464)
Depreciation of property, plant and % - BERSETE
equipment (16,056) (54,591) (2,730) - (73,377)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREERE (1,599) (3,297) (4,163) - (9,053)
Gain on early redemption of bonds RAERER K& - - 10,321 - 10,321
Provision of litigation claims, net TARERETE (11,605) - (2.871) - (14,476)
Other material items of income and HttEAWARRRIES :
expense;
Government grants BT RBE 5,830 - 112 - 5,042
Income from consideration received for  HEK IHFA ABRKB AR
disposal of Deconsolidated Subsidiary B WEABEIUA - - 3,800 - 3,800
Other material non-cash items: HEEAEREIER :
(Provision)/reversal of allowance JElRIB (RlE) / BE R
for receivables and written off of MBS
prepayments, net
— trade receivables — W B SHRE (7,315) 4,004 - - (3,311)
— prepayments, deposits and other ~BAHE  ZE Rk
receivables Hiw el 4,655 (18,889) (8,579) (160) (22,973)
Reversal of impairment of inventories FERE#D - 3,726 - - 3,726
Impairment of property, plant and nE - BEREERE
equipment (641,841) - (4,371) - (646,212)
Impairment of right-of-use assets (ERERERE (46,526) - - - (46,526)
Forfeiture of deposit received for partial Hﬁ(tlj’% L=NEIEY Gy
disposal of a subsidiary i 30,238 - - - 30,238
Additions to segment non-current assets FEIERBEE 39,490 3,737 - - 43,227
As at 30 June 2022 RZBZ—FA=TH
Consolidated total assets BRBERS 36,004 990,012 212,141 - 1,238,247
Consolidated total liabilities GAE %?@ gﬁ (355,787) (370,055) (1,337,255) - (2,063,097)
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12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about reportable segment profit or

12. D EER @
ERATHREDHEFNNEER - B

loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) ErREEzZ2ER @
Re-presented
L&
Discontinued
Continuing operatlons operatlon
ikrmz«( %fﬁz EZXU:%« %E&
Heat and Calcium Construction
power carbide Unallocated services Total
BEREN k{35 RAE RIERR gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TET AT AT AT
(Restated)
(&)
Year ended 30 June 2021 HE-Z--% A=1H
IHFE
Revenue from external customers IR P 197,610 28,424 7,987 - 229,021
Segment loss HEER (73,031) (119,834) (14,343) (91,851) (299,069)
Loss on fair value of financial assets BATES A ER L2/

at FVTPL, net BEATEEE (3,980)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at ~ HERAD ?@ﬁ)\?ﬁﬁﬁz%ﬂﬂ &

FVTPL el G 992
Share of result of an associate DEBECERE ) 266
Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary ~ FE A A HRE AR 2 B#E (4,394)
Corporate administrative expenses RRTHHEY (153,411)
Consolidated loss for the year FREFAEE (459,586)
Bank interest income RATHIBHA - 1 6 - 7
Finance costs SBRA X (3,160) (1,295) (121,575) @) (126,121)
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREEITE

equipment ‘ (13,876) (51,031) (7,609) - (72,516)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets @EW& BENE (1,543) (1,582) (5977) - (9,102)
Provision of litigation claims, net FARERETE (58,925) - (3,634) (8,524) (71,083)
Other material items of income and HEE AMARRYER ¢

expense; N
Government grants e E 2,786 - 288 - 3,074
Other material non-cash items: HEAEHRSIER ¢

(Provision)/reversal of allowance FEUGRIE (BS) / BE R

for receivables and written off of WeERNZEFE

prepayments, net

— trade receivables = FEH&%’%@E@ (8,440) 2,969 (1,303) 894 (5,880)

— prepayments, deposits and other —BAFE  Zek

receivables Hih IR (14,754) (19,641) (590) (84,058) (119,043)

Written off of inventories s (64) (107) = - (171)
Written off of property, plant and Wi - BEREE

equipment - (400) - - (400)

Impairment of right-of-use assets BRERERNE (1,522) - - - (1,522)
Additions to segment non-current assets AP BB EE 16,399 2,368 - - 18,767
As at 30 June 2021 R-B-——FXA=+H
Consolidated total assets RREESS 742,302 932,436 396,613 2 2,071,353
Consolidated total liabilities SAAREES (296,830) (275,648) (1,365,386) (44,780) (1,982,644)
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12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 12. ZEER @

Information about reportable segment profit or
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The Group’s majority of revenue and non-current assets are derived
from customers based in the PRC and accordingly, no geographical
information is presented.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 30 June 2022, only one customer contributing
over 10% of the total sales of the Group, the sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 57% of the Group’s
total sales for the year ended 30 June 2022 and the sales to the
largest customer included therein of approximately HK$180,106,000
amounted to approximately 49% from the segment of calcium carbide
(2021: No customer contributing over 10% of the total sales of the

ERUTRESBEFDEE - &
EREEZER @)
AEEALO Y RIERB EE TR ERE
2EF At WEZFIHEER -

BEREEFEFNEHR

HE_ZT-_ X A=THILFE E6—
BEPHASE RSB TR ER10%3K
A E - MASBRAREFPHEZHERMEAR
CEBE_ T —F A=t RHLFEAH
BRANST%  ERRAEATFHE 2
$55> 2B 4 &5 A4 4180,106,00078 7T * 1549
49% T —F  ERFPAERMGEASE

Group). BN EREERR10%) °
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. B A
2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FAT
(Restated)
(f&Eam)
(Re-presented)
€ <=7))
Continuing operations: FEREER
Interest on bank loans IRITERF B 1,065 1,734
Interest on other loans H A0 B FHH 8
— wholly repayable within five years — AR AFANEHER 9,678 9,919
Default interest on other loans HEFELFE 9,676 =
Interest on bonds payable JEESFE
— repayable within five years —BRAFAEE 155,489 107,724
— repayable over five years —ARBBRAFRER - 1,697
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESFFE 3,197 4,397
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 359 659
179,464 126,030
Discontinued operation: BRIEREE .
Interest on bank loans RITEFAE - 91
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4. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. FIEHIREX
2022 2021
—E-CF — T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET FHTT
Continuing operations: BEREER
Current tax BEATIE
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax — TSR - 855
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBMED - 35
- 890

FAEMNGHEEFEH MRS T ERE

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided in accordance with the two-

tiered profits tax rate regime under which the first HK$2,000,000 (2021:
HK$2,000,000) of assessable profit of a qualifying corporation of the
Group is taxed at 8.25% (2021: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable
profits above HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000) are taxed at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year
ended 30 June 2022 as the Group had no assessable profits arose in
Hong Kong for the year (2021: Nil).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect
thereof.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, the
subsidiaries in the PRC are liable to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at a
rate of 25% during the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: 25%).

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made for the
year ended 30 June 2022 as the Group had no assessable profits
arose in the PRC during the year.

HEAREBEHE E A [ E2,000,0007 T
— T — —4F : 2,000,00078 7T ) [fE SR A 33
1#£8.25%(—F = —%F : 8.25%) T BN
TRIE - MFIEREBE2,000,0008T( =T = —
4 : 2,000,000/ 7T ) H) & 2R Bt i A1/1216.5%
(ZZ=—4F : 16.5%) Z RN A o

BHE_Z-__FXA=+THILFE R A
SEYEAERBELRRTOEA - SEEF
REBNSHEFE(CZE_—F:F) -

Hithie 2 RS MR IRA R EEZ
EBEEBRRZRITHE - REEMWRITE
R RERESEE -

BIERBEMERRAER  BE_T -
FRAZTHILEE - PEIHER /AR
EO5%(ZBZ—1F : 25%) BN BT
1876 °

HE_ZT-__FXA=THILFE R A
KBS BEL RARTRA - WEAH
ESHER B EMEHAE
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 14. FIEHBAZ @

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax using
the statutory rate for the countries in which the Company and its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax credit at the effective tax rates are
as follows:

BARR BB R R FTRRER ZEEHE
AAEBRHABRERHARX - BIZER
BEFAEZHBERR 2 HRAT ¢

2022 2021
—E-CHf —T -4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Loss before tax BT RIS 18
Continuing operations RS TS (1,073,645) (366,845)
Discontinued operation BRI TS (176) (91,851)
Loss before tax from continuing and REFEREEIKEEER 2
discontinued operations MR A ETE (1,073,821) (458,696)
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEMETE 2118 (222,938) (100,114)
Income not subject to tax BAMTZ WA (2,119) (66)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT 165,937 25,935
Tax losses not recognised RERBIEEE 59,120 75,135
Tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate EASEERHETEZ
TR R > - 890

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is approximately
HK$14,975,000 (2021: HK$10,762,000). No deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the dividend policies of these subsidiaries and it is
probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax of
approximately HK$500,554,000 (2021: HK$512,157,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets has been
recognised due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately HK$500,554,000
(2021: HK$512,157,000) that can be carried forward for a maximum of
five to eight years.

RIREREE R - BZEW ERERIELETHIE
BEZHBARIRASERFERM 2 TKE
AR B14,975,000/8 T (—F = — 4 ¢
10,762,000/ 7T ) ° AR AS BB L HZ
EWB AT ZIREEEE - HBBAEEIHT
SRR DA REE - R ER LS = RERER
BEFIEBE -

REREHIR + AE B 0] BIEE IR R T8
& 7 B) A #5184 500,554,000/ L (==
——4F : 512,157,000/ 7T ) ° M ERTE
RICHM IR + MR ERIRE IR A E o
AERDEEEERIRESZAE N\FEE
A 85 18 #9500,554,00058 T ( —Z T = — 4 :
512,157,000/ 7T ) °
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15. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 15. NEEEE
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the REBRAEE 2 FEEHR (GEA) T3
following: FIHEFER
2022 2021
B T —4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
(Re-presented)
€ =7l))
Continuing operations: BB
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN & 1,100 1,200
Cost of sales and services rendered (Note (a)) SHE RIBHEARTE R AN (P 5% (a)) 395,348 179,127
Reversal of impairment on inventories FERBERE (3,726) =
Written off of inventories FEMSE - 171
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% BERRETE 73,377 72,516
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE 9,053 9,102
Expenses relating to short-term leases B AT E B 2 R 320 536
Factory overhead incurred during suspension of FEHRHEEZ IHAERX
production (Note (b)) (FF5E(D)) - 20,220
Impairment on property, plant and equipment Y% - B REAERE 646,212 _
Impairment on right-of-use assets FREEERE 46,526 1,502
Written off of property, plant and equipment VI - R KRR A e - 400
Provision of allowance for receivables and BLIEUGRIE R IR B R M EE TR
written off of prepayments, net SRIBFEE
— trade receivables —RIE SR8 3,311 6,774
— prepayments, deposits and other receivables —TERIE - 5Te REME
HRIE 22,813 34,985
Gain on early redemption of bonds IR ERES K (10,321) _
Provision of litigation claims, net (included in other  FFFARESEEF 58 (T AH AL &
operating expenses) %) 14,476 62,559
Staff costs (excluding Directors’ emoluments): EIE}Z$(T@?§§$M£) :
Wages, salaries and benefits in kind IE - HekEDI= 19,563 25,667
Employee share option benefits ,\I,ﬁﬁﬂxﬁéﬁf 1 - 9,236
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RINEFFT SR 4,347 4,520
Discontinued operation: BARIEEEETE
Provision of litigation claims FAREE R - 8,524
Provision/(reversal) of allowance for receivables BRI HR B, () &
and written off of prepayments, net W SE TS R F R
— trade receivables —EURE SRR - (894)
— prepayments, deposits and other receivables —?EH/TA s B K At e
RIA 160 84,058
Notes: Fit3E
(a) Cost of sales and services rendered includes staff costs and depreciation (a) HERRBREKABIES Iﬁ}z N
of approximately HK$7,600,000 (2021: HK$9,761,000) and approximately E 9 5 497,600,000/ T ( — E
HK$8,487,000 (2021: HK$6,150,000) respectively, which are included in 9,761 ooo,%irc ) & #98,487, oooﬁém (=%
the amounts disclosed separately above. - 6,150,000/ 7T) ' ¥ E?r)\'ﬁ@i
MBI HE LSRN o
(o)  During the year ended 30 June 2021, factory overhead was incurred ) HBHEZZTEZ—FA=THLFE IR
during the temporary suspension of the production line of calcium carbide A %5 X TR A FE R AR TR EBERE
segment due to a substantial decrease in profit margin. The amount was Hoale EEGEREENHEE - EH

included in other operating expenses. SHEEFAEMLEFRZA -
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 16. EEE K E S M
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of each director were as follows: BEEZMEmT ¢

Basic salaries, housing
benefits, other allowances  Retirement benefits

Fees and benefits in kind scheme contributions  Share option benefits Total
ExFe EREA
g Hit2ERENHE BIEA AL BRERA &3t

2022 2021 2022 2001 2022 2021 2022 2001 2022 2021
ZE-C& -T--F C-B-CE -Z--£ C-B-CE ---£ C-B-CE -Z--% CZB-ZE -Z--%
HK$000  HKSO000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$O000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Thn ThL TEn Thn Thn ThL TEn Thr Thn ThL

Executive Directors HiTEs

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe BEat - - 120 120 - - - 2,070 120 2,190
Mr. Gao Ran RARE - - - - - - - - - -
Mr. Yu Defa (Note () FEE £ (H) - - - 120 - - - 2,070 - 2190
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric BTEREL - - 300 300 15 15 - 2070 315 2,385
Mr. Chen Lei (Note (i) R A (B3 - - - - - - - - - -

Non-executive Director ~ 3Eii/7E%
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note i)~ ZJ:# 5 A= (i) - - - - - - - . ) ;

Independent non-executive  BIFHTES

Directors

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan SEmAE 180 180 - - - - - 1,353 180 1533

Mr. Tam Ching Ho BRELE 180 180 - - - - - 1,353 180 1,583

Mr. Hau Chi Kit U Sk 180 180 - - - - - 1,353 180 1,583

540 540 420 540 15 15 - 10,269 975 11,364

Notes: B

0] Mr. Yu Defa was retired from an executive director on 9 December 2021. 0] FEBEEERZTE-_—F+ZANBRE
WITES ©

(ii) Mr. Chen Lei resigned as an executive director on 3 May 2021. (ii) BRESLER T —_—F A A=HBEEHNT
EEo

(i) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May @iy BFEFEERZZE__FRA-T/BE

2022. ZERERNITES -
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 16. EEEHE R IES FH M@

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included
Nil (2021: 5) Directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining 5 (2021: Nil)
individuals for the year ended 30 June 2022 are set out below:

FRN - AEEREEEHFEERRETER(Z
T —F 58)EF  HEZHEER EX
%WZ DT c R TEH(ZFZ—4F -
T)VEERE T —FXNA=THILFE
Z e T

2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Basic salaries, housing benefits, other allowances E A% & - EEEH « HAERL %

and benefits in kind EWFz 2,766 N/A TNEH
Pension scheme RIKEFTS 48 N/A i
2,814 N/A & B

The emoluments fell within the following bands: B9 F oA T &k :

Number of individuals
EEAH

2022 2021
—ECCHE T —4F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 5 N/A N3
The Company granted 129,500,000 share options to certain Directors ARaRZZE=TF+—A=HRETES

and employees on 3 November 2020. The fair value of share option
was HK$19,505,000.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office in both years and no
Directors waived any emolument during the year ended 30 June 2022
(2021 Nil).

The aggregate of contributions to pension schemes for the five highest
paid individuals amounting to HK$48,000 for the year ended 30 June
2022 (2021: HK$15,000).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save for disclosed in note 46(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transaction, arrangement and contract in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected
party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

&1E 8 ?* 1 129,500,00017 HE A 4 o B AR 4
ANFAE £19,505,0008 7T °

REZMEFE  AEBRE M EAME T
ERESEH TR RHER AERINEZLR
51 B ANER [ 2 BRI S B RR 7H (E L O
E-T__FRAZTHLFE  HEES
MEHMW(—ZE——F : |) o

RBE_ZT-_—FNA=1THILFE -
EREBFATHERSEHR ?@%EL
48,000/ C(=F=—% : 15,000/7T) °

EERXRZ RBFHEWZEKR
e

B R A B A MR R M SE46() F R EE & 51 -
B (kAR R 2 BAEMEHE
B MARAEERMESEERARE
Bk RS A B ARSI A PO RS
MR EAEARS ~ R HAK -
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17. DIVIDEND 17. BRE

18.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share
From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$1,064,206,000
(2021: HK$450,353,000) and on the weighted average number of
approximately 2,169,103,000 ordinary shares in issue during the year
(2021: 1,436,876,000 ordinary shares). No adjustment to the weighted
average number of shares is required for the purpose of calculating
the basic loss per share for the rights issue during the year due to the
fact that the exercise price of the rights issue (note 30(e)) was not lower
than the market price immediately before the exercise of the right.

From continuing operations

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$1,064,030,000
(2021: HK$358,502,000) and on the weighted average number of
approximately 2,169,103,000 ordinary shares in issue during the year
(2021: 1,436,876,000 ordinary shares). No adjustment to the weighted
average number of shares is required for the purpose of calculating
the basic loss per share for the rights issue during the year due to the
fact that the exercise price of the rights issue (note 30(e)) was not lower
than the market price immediately before the exercise of the right.

From discontinued operation

Basic loss per share of the discontinued operation is approximately
HKO0.01 cents per share (2021: HK6.39 cents per share) based on
the loss for the year from the discontinued operation of approximately
HK$176,000 (2021: HK$91,851,000) and the denominators detailed
above for basic loss per share from continuing operations.

Diluted loss per share

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years did not assume
the exercise of outstanding share options and convertible bonds of the
Company since these options have no dilutive effect and convertible
bonds were anti-dilutive during the years ended 30 June 2022 and
2021.

EETRREKNEE_E-__FA=1TH
IFEZRB(ZT=—F &) -

BREE

BREXREHE

ms
EREARNBEEDBEARARES AERMN
&5 18 #91,064,206,00078 7T ( =& — — 4 :
450,353,000 7T ) R AN FEE BT BR
DNAEF 8 42,169,103,000 % (=& = —
4 : 1,436,876,0000% L BAR ) 5T E - ARAH
BE 01T (8 (B 7E30(e)) TR B BE 17 42
TR Z TSER - Bt EFAHER SR
ERBARER HMNET I REEITAR -

BREABENRERNRGEES ABG
518 491,064,030,0008 7T (ZE = — £ :
358,502,000/ T, ) R AN F [Z B 1T L @R
HN#E 15 81 492,169,103,000 0% ( =& — —
1 1,436,876,00fk LR ) 5T & o B
R 1T 8 (B 7E80(e)) TR BBa 17 42
NETZ S ERE - B ErTEF AR
BB AR ER TR EE TR -

MERIEREEKMS

B M A ¥ TR E A K18 A F 8 40.01
BIL(ZZ=—F : B8%6.397%1l) - HEE
RSB TS F B 4176,0008 T (= F
——% : 91,851,000/ 70 ) & S Fraf i
BISEEBEREABIENSTTHE -

BREBEEE
STEFE SRS EER T ERRITEAR
A2 MARITE AR R AT R ES - RER
Z RN EEE R R AT R E SR E
ET - FR-F-—FARA=TAHILF
& B RESEHE -
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. 1% - BERRE

149

Furniture,
office
equipment Pipelines
Construction Plant and Leasehold and motor and
Buildings in progress machinery  improvements vehicles trench Total
i BAZ
BF EEIE HEREE  BENEEE HERAE EEREE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T
Cost HA
At July 2020 R-E-5£+A-A 640,902 431,231 990,761 4234 28,428 147,566 2243122
Addttions AE - 14,792 3,197 = 178 - 18,767
Written off ik - - - - (486) - (486)
Transfer to assets classified as BRENBARELEYD
held for sale (note 29) B (Mzto9) (119,897) - - - - - (119,897)
Exchange differences EiZR 61,435 41,942 95,546 - 2,308 14807 216,078
A30Jne 2021 and 1 July 2021 RCE-—FXA=TEE
“Z--%tA-A 582,440 487,965 1,089,504 4,234 31,048 162,393 2,357,584
Addttions AE = 2,780 1,397 307 2,882 36,861 43221
Disposal of a subsidary HE-HHBAA - - - - (200) - (200)
Transfer from assets classifiedas ~ BEEAHBAREHER
held for sale (note 29) B (fiiog) 116,876 - - - - - 116,876
Exchange diferences By =8 (14,591) (12,379) 07.491) ) (759) (5,350) (60,575)
At 30 June 2022 RZBE-ZF7~A=1H 684,725 478,366 1,063,410 4532 32,975 192,904 2456912
Accumulated depreciationand ~ EitiTERHE
impairment
At1 July 2020 RZZZEELA-A 306,372 62,109 349,962 4,234 19,755 49,99 192,401
Charge for the year ERER 20,282 = 0,43 = 2,154 7,644 72516
Witten off Wi - = = = (86) = (86)
Transfer to assets classified as BREHRARELEN
held for sale (note 29) EE(fio0) (35,969) - - - - - (35,969)
Exchange differences EXER 29,924 5,984 30,692 - 1537 5,020 73,157
A30June2021and 1 July 2001 RZB=-F/A=TRR
“RT-£tA-A 320,609 68,093 423,000 4,234 23,360 62,659 902,045
Charge for the year ERRY 17,4% - 43889 12 2,449 9,532 13377
Impairment HE 71,984 2417 20,774 - 2,573 126,664 646,212
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HNBAA - - - - (200) - (200)
Transfer from assets classifiedas ~ E&ES "* BARELER
held for sale (note 29) B (fiEog) 39,738 - - - - - 30,738
Exchange diferences B =8 (10,784) (14,728) (12,643) = 627) (5,951) (44,739)
At 30 June 2022 R=EZZ4 A=TH 439,042 477,582 475,110 4,046 21555 192,904 1,616,439
Carrying amounts AR
At 30 June 2022 RZB-—#7A=1A 245,683 784 588,300 286 5420 - 840,473
At 30 June 2021 RZB--%7A=1A 261,831 419,872 666,414 = 7,688 99,734 1,455,639
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ¥ - RERREB@®

(Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, the carrying amount of certain buildings amounted
to approximately HK$153,757,000 (2021: HK$84,820,000) for which
relevant legal titles have not yet been obtained. At the date of approval
on these consolidated financial statements, the application for obtaining
the aforesaid legal titles is still in progress.

As at 30 June 2022, the carrying amounts of buildings amounted to
approximately HK$48,418,000 (2021: HK$54,780,000) have been
pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans and other loans.

During the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021, the Group carried
out reviews of the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment. The review led to an impairment loss of approximately
HK$646,212,000 (2021: Nil) recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 30 June 2022 of which approximately HK$641,841,000 (2021:
Nil) and HK$4,371,000 (2021: Nil) were attributable to the heat and
power segment and other unallocated items respectively.

The recoverable amount of the Group’s buildings which do not allocate
to the Group’s operating segments as at 30 June 2022 had been
assessed by reference to the fair value performed by an independent
professional valuer under the depreciated replacement cost method.

Except for the recoverable amount of the Group’s building as
mentioned above, the recoverable amount of the remaining property,
plant and equipment of the Group were assessed based on value-in-
use calculations. The cash flow projections underlying the value-in-use
calculations was based on financial budgets approved by management
for the purposes of impairment reviews covering a five-year period.

Save for disclosed above, the recoverable amounts of the CGU of
the heat and power segment (“Heat and Power CGU”) and the
CGU of calcium carbide segment (“Calcium Carbide CGU”) at the
end of reporting period had been determined based on a value-in-
use calculation which use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the directors of the Company and valued by an
independent professional valuer covering a five-year period and pre-
tax discount rate. Cash flows beyond that five-year period have been
extrapolated using the estimated growth rate stated below. This growth
rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the market.

R-ZZBE-_—FXA=1+H " HEEEZE
ERABERzZETEFZ2EEBEOAR
158,757,000/ 70 ( ==& — —4F : 84,820,000
BIT) o RZFineMBmERIERR - &
EX B3t TE 5648 2 AR D TE#ETTH o

MR-ZZE-_—FXA=+H " BFZKM@

E#) 5 48,418000 8 T ( =& = — F :

54,780,000/ ) B I E AR EERTE
R EAEFRAIELR o

RBEZZ_—_FRk=F=-—F-A=1+H
IEFE  REEHYE - BB KR AT
ElEREETEN  BHEBUREEENR
646,212,000/ T( =T = —4F : T) » A&
B _FXNA=THIFENESTRE
R ERERGERE NS B REMARSAIAE
2 Bllfh 49641,841,000/8 L ( — T = — £ ¢
) 4,371,000 L(ZF=—F : F) o

RZFBE_—_FA=1H  A5EEEFHA]
U Bl 58 (WD il AL B RS 5 E8) TY
KBEB BEGEMBBEITEEENAE
EITHAFETE -

B EXFTRAREEFTO AR E SRR - A
SEKTYE - BERRENAKE ST
RIEEREEEE - EREEFEMK
BRI RETRRIRIRE IR E AT FHIR
EERMMIENT RS

Br EXPratESN - RIREHR - EREN
”%ﬁ%%i%h@ﬁ%& ENABREE
B |) RAR L5 0 BPER A A B AL ([ Wk
%ﬁ%ﬁ%éi Efy )R E 2B TIIRE
ﬁ%ﬁ@? T %At EDARAEREAR
NRAIERAENBY EXGEMGENT
FHUKRENRSRETN - LB
BEGFHEFL - BBRFHRZRERET
ER T XA EETIERAER - HIRRET
M5 L2 RBFIGERE
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ¥ - RERREB@®

(Continued)
A A
STEVEPTA 2 BARERRAT

Impairment assessment
Key assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F

Heat and Calcium Heat and Calcium
Power CGU  Carbide CGU Power CGU Carbide CGU
RERED igld o3 HEREN ixfEs5
REELEN REELBEQ ReELEN  REELBN
Gross loss/profit margin E8B/EFIR(HRAL -27% to -34% 36% to 48% 27% t0 30% 34%

(% of revenue) BAH) -271%Z-34% 36%Z%48% 27%%30%
Net loss/profit margin SEEREFR(ERALY  -49% to -57% 11% to 23% 4% to 1% 20%

(% of revenue) AAH) -49%Z-57% 11%Z23% 4%%11%
Long term growth rate EH E R 2% 2% 2% 2%
Discount rate & 13% 13% 12% 13%

The above key assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation
of the Heat and Power CGU and Calcium Carbide CGU as at 30
June 2022 and 2021. The following describes each key assumption
on which the management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of property, plant and equipment.

Gross loss/profit margin — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross loss/profit margin is the average gross
profit margin expected to achieve since the year when heat and power is
provided, and the calcium carbide is sold.

Net loss/profit margin — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted net loss/profit margin is the average net profit margin
expected to achieve since the year when heat and power is provided,
and the calcium carbide is sold.

RZEZ—FR-ZF-_—F=R=+—1"
FERTE 2ee R E R E A B MR i5IR
CELBENZFRAEEREERLRFEER
R UTAEEEEIRSRENETEY
¥ BEESBEREIRBEREZSBEEEZR

i .
Su

8/ EFE - ARERE TREEREL
EEOEEAEHE REBERE N RHE
RIS R T TA, EF% -

FER ERE - ARERG T EEEE
8,/ EFIEMBENIE AT R
BB R HE RS T T
sk o
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ¥ - RERREB@®

(Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)

Long-term growth rate — The long-term growth rate does not exceed
the long-term average growth rate for the industry and the country in
which the Heat and Power CGU and Calcium Carbide CGU currently
operate.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the Heat and Power CGU and Calcium Carbide CGU.

Based on the above, the management of the Group assessed that the
recoverable amounts of the Heat and Power CGU and Calcium Carbide
CGU were lower (2021: higher) and higher (2021: higher) than their
respective carrying values as at 30 June 2022.

Accordingly, an impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$646,212,000 (2021: Nil) was recognised in the
Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year ended
30 June 2022 on the basis of material decline in the recoverable
amount of the Heat and Power CGU and adverse changes in the
market in heat and power business.

BB R ()
EHEER - REEERRYEBBNERE
HBSEE B R IER SE B A A
EURETERBRN R T RRE -

BEIRE — P {E A RBAIR R BRI RR IR R
BREIEGE R BHIR S EE BN RIREISIRE
ELXSAABNEERR

ERM EATl - AEEEEED T AEEE
BIRSEEEMN ISR EEEND
AW ESELSEN(ZE=—F : @)K
BR(CE—F  aR)FBRZZE==F
NAZ=TBEMEEE -

Hit - W BERKEHREEEL
646,212,000 TC(ZF=—F : E)RNEAE
EEE—T-_—F A A=THILFEHFRARE
mRTHER - DERAERENREGELS
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fRE ISR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. EREEE
Leasehold Leased
land property Total
HE LT HEME et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FA&T FAT FAT
At 1 July 2020 R-ZE-—ZTFE+A—H 291,798 5,578 297,376
Depreciation e (6,943) (2,159) (9,102)
Impairment BB (1,522) - (1,522)
Reclassified to assets classified as  EF D BE D EAFIEHER
held for sale (note 29) B (M5E29) (28,415) - (28,415)
Exchange differences bE =R 21,836 - 21,836
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZE_—FA=+HK
—ZT-—4%tH—H 276,754 3,419 280,173
Depreciation e (6,894) (2,159) (9,053)
Impairment HE (46,526) - (46,526)
Reclassified from assets classified B EAFELENEEEH
as held for sale (note 29) o3 (HI7E29) 26,981 - 26,981
Exchange differences PE =58 (3,784) - (3,784)
At 30 June 2022 RZZE-_FXA=*1H 246,531 1,260 247,791

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,483,000 (2021: HK$3,758,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$1,260,000 (2021: HK$3,419,000) as at 30 June 2022. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

M- —FNA=+ARIBEAREY
1,483,000/ 7L ( =T = —4F : 3,758,000/
7T ) B KB 5 A & A= 491,260,00078 70 (=
T ——14F : 3,419,0008 L) - BRHBARZE
WIEEENERERI  HEREITRKE
INERHE - HEEETERIEGRER -
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R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 20. FHEEE®@

2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FAT
Expense relating to short-term A0 HATH &S 4ERE 2 2

leases 320 536
Depreciation on right-of-use assets  {FAEEENTE 9,053 9,102
Impairment on right-of-use assets ¥ FEEERE 46,526 1,622

Interest on lease liabilities (included THE & &EF| 8 (Bt AT
in finance costs) FXAR) 359 659
Total cash outflow for leases HEZHRS LR 2,954 3,170

For both years, the Group leases office for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of three years (2021: three
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several office buildings and industrial
buildings where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located. The
Group is the registered owner of these property interests, including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land components of
these owned properties are presented separately only if the payments
made can be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for motor vehicles,
machinery and equipment. As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term leases expense disclosed above.

MEFERN - AEBSHERFRIELER
#® o AT VG NEEFMA=F(=
T_—F =F) - HEMTIREREEE
7 BE TR SR - EEEEH AT
ARSI KA - AEERR S 8
EFE - WEE A KR HITHHRE -

A - AEE S % E X BRER TR
WMARNBRTENE - AEBERZSYHERE
HHEMEBA  SFEEEEEL - B4R
RIS N — BRI - WBZSMERE - R
BEABNKA AR SEDBR - Z5CHA
YMENEETHE DT EEBZ25 -

REEFHETRE - i KRR R HATE
E -RZTEZ=FRZF=—F A=
B SEHEEASEUR EORFEABERE
ERATMEHAEHRS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 20. FHEEE®@

The leasehold lands are located in the PRC under medium-term leases
and the leased property in Hong Kong are held under short-term
leases.

As at 30 June 2022, leasehold land with carrying amount of
approximately HK$203,968,000 (2021: HK$183,927,000) have been
pledged to secure banking facilities and other loans granted to the
Group.

Impairment assessment

At the end of reporting period, management of the Group concluded
there was indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on certain leasehold land and leased property with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$246,531,000 and approximately
HK$1,260,000 (2021: HK$276,754,000 and HK$3,419,000)
respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the leasehold land and leased property
related to the Heat and Power CGU and Calcium Carbide CGU have
determined based on a value-in-use calculation same as disclosed in
note 19 and others have been determined based on their fair value
less costs of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison to estimate
the fair value less costs of disposal of the assets with amounting to
approximately HK$176,976,000 (2021: HK$345,498,000) which is
based on the recent transaction prices for similar properties adjusted
for nature, location and conditions of the property. The fair value
measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value hierarchy.

HEL R ERETIHEQRFSE - MEE
YMEREBRIERIBLOFE

R—ZE-_—_FNA=+H EE
#9 203,968,000 /& 7T ( = & = — F
183,927,000/ 7T ) ;& T 2 {EHE R -
PARRIS AN BERAIRITRIE REME R -

BB

RBEER  AEBEEEBLERASTER
BEHR - I3t AR E E 5 5l A&246,531,000
7 7T 2 491,260,000 T (— T = — 4 :
276,754,0007% 7T % 3,419,000/ 7T ) By 7 T
TE T i RISV TR ER Y

B REHIRGEEEMRI(CIEIRE
EABUAENEE T RHEMENT
U El & 58 B E R EH E19% B /948 R &
FREErEREAE  MEMDERNE
ATEREEKAEE - ~NEBFEREE
L& - HEEREEN R FERDEK
RNH) A176,976,000 B T (=T = — F :
345,498,000/ 7T ) + H LAREI Y 3 A9 3T 2
RGEISHELE LD - 2 R
EHFAE - A FENEFREAFIRATE
[BAR -
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #Z —Z— —#F A =1+HIFFZ

21. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (RESTATED) 21. REt& ¥ IRE(KEIM)

Reconciliations of the Group’s investment in an associate accounted AEEFEAEREARZRBEREZIRE
for using the equity method are as follows: ZEBRIATE
2022 2021
—ECCHE T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
(Restated)
€ <=3u9)
At 1 July REA—A8 10,108 8,971
Share of post-acquisition (loss)/profit and other  FE(GUSEEL % F, /(B8 ) R H 2 mE
comprehensive income A (137) 266
Share of other comprehensive income PMEE b2 E S (592) 871
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale R EH A EHENEE (9,379) =
At 30 June RINA=+H - 10,108
Details of the Group’s associate: AREERE RS

Proportion of ownership
Place of establishment and interest/profit sharing

Name of associate Principal activity principal place of business held by the Group
rEEREZ

REDEER FEXK LM EE R E B b R FiERFEa =l
2022 2021

—E--F —E-—%

Mudanjiang Xusheng Limited* Manufacture and sales of PRC 50% 50%
chemical products
HA TR BR AR EEREE(CTEMR a2

* English name is for identification purpose only “ BXEEEEES
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R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

21. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (RESTATED) 21. REF& M IRE (KEMR) @)

(Continued)

Summarised financial information of an associate is set out below.
The amounts presented below are after adjustments made to equity-
account of the associate.

BECEZMFAREERNTX - TX2
FISIE BB O MR (R B -

Mudanjiang Xusheng Limited*

HATHEEERAR
2022 2021
—ECCHE —E - —4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
At 30 June: RNA=+H:
Non-current assets ERMBEE - 13,358
Current assets MENEE - 40,889
Current liabilities mEBE - (34,563)
Year ended 30 June: HEANAZ+TRHLEFE
Revenue Wz - 43,205
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE(ER),m T (274) 532

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in an
associate and the entity also had no material contingent liabilities.

Despite the Group owns 50% of the equity interest in Mudanjiang
Xusheng, however, the Group was unable to obtain power over
more than 50% of the voting rights in Mudanjiang Xusheng by virtue
to the terms and conditions set out in its Articles of Association.
Consequently, the Group classified investment in Mudanjiang Xusheng
as investment in an associate.

On 21 January 2022, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with Tianjin Boguang Chemical Technology Company
Limited*, an independent third party to the Group, pursuant to
which the Group has conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity
interest held in Mudanjiang Xusheng, being 50% of its share capital,
at a consideration of RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,379,000) under which a cash deposit amounted to
RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,276,000) had been
received by the Group. Accordingly, the carrying amount of investment
in an associate had been classified as assets held for sale and are
presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2022. Details of above are set out in note 29(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

*  English name is for identification purpose only

BEARASEN XD AR
& ZERTEEAIAREE -

BERNEEEFLIHIIBSS50%HRKE - 1B
RIBH TR R B9 AA R E 12 40 RIAR 7 B9 16K
MG AEEEZESHHETIBF50%
WA ER)FRIARME - Bt - Bt - NEREREH
FTBANREDBARBERR2RE -

RZZE-——F—F=+—H  AEEHEALE
ERBLE = FREE N TRITERAR
RV BB Bl AEEBKRERED
EHARFENHA TSR AR ([HAT
JBS 1) Hy 2 SRR AE (BN E50% M AN ) - K (E
A A R #8,000,0007T (48 & 5 #79,379,000
BIL) AR AEBE RIS SRS ARE
4,500,0007T (1 E R 495,276,000/ 7T ) °
It RIS EZRENRAEC O EA
BELENERBEE YR =__F X
A=+ BRNGAMBMRARTPERES - E
MEFIBES R ARG SRR FE29(r) ©

* EXEFEEAES
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

22. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

22, HihEEE

Exclusive Trade Technical Construction
right name know-how contracts Goodwill Total
55E [ AR BESH Gk #act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT AT TAT TAT TAT
Cost EEZF
At 1 July 2020 A\"ZT-ZF+A—H 72,347 33,459 16,784 85,887 699 158,626
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B AR (FiE41)
(note 41) - - - - 10,679 10,679
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary & iHzA ARMBAE
(note 42) (PizE42) - - - - (10,679) (10,679)
Exchange differences EHEE - - 1,617 3,405 - 5,022
At 30 June 2021 and W-ZE-—%xA=1H
1 July 2021 E=E-—F+H—H 72,347 33,459 18,401 38,742 699 163,648
Written off s = = = (38,960) - (38,960)
Exchange differences i =58 - - (464) 218 - (246)
At 30 June 2022 R=ZE-—F,A=1H 72,347 33,459 17,937 — 699 124,442
Accumulated amortisation RSN RERE
and impairment losses
At 1 July 2020 RZE-FF+A—H 72,347 33,459 16,784 356,337 699 158,626
Exchange differences EHEE - - 1,617 3,405 - 5,022
At 30 June 2021 and WZE=Z—F:A=1H
1 July 2021 —T-—F+A—H 72,347 33,459 18,401 38,742 699 163,648
Written off | = = - (38,960) - (38,960)
Exchange differences ERER - - (464) 218 = (246)
At 30 June 2022 RZE-—FA=1H 72,347 33,459 17,937 - 699 124,442
Carrying amount BREE
At 30 June 2022 iy o= - - - - - -
At 30 June 2021 R-_Z-_—%F:A=1+H - - - - - -
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 23. MERAREHR

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and paid up/ Percentage of equity attributable
Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
HEMERL/ ERE BRTRAR/
R EESL LS ZMER RARMERAR S TEEH
2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F
Direct  Indirect Direct Indirect
E# it B itk
Dragon Boom Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary United States 100% - 100% - Investment holding
(‘BVI) dollar (US$") 1
RERARRAA HERLES H e ESRES ) R
([%BEZEE])
Gold Capture Investments Inc. BVI Ordinary US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
RERIEE TRRIET REBR
Prosper Path Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
RERIEE TRRIET REBR
Qualty Gain Investments Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
RERIHE TRRIET REBR
Better Day Power Limited BvI Ordinary US$2 100% - 100% - Investment holding
ERABARAT RERIHE LidfkoxT REBR
Master King Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% - 100% - Inactive
EhEEERAA B LRRIET ERLH
Daytech Group Limited BVI Ordinary US$2 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
REEEARAR RERIHS LRRoET REBR
Powerful Rise Group Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100% - 100% Inactive
RERIHS LRRIET TELH
Racing Dragon Group Limited BVI (Note (a)) Ordinary US$100 - 90% - 90%  Investment holding
(‘Racing Dragon’)
SREBERLA(FE]) REREEE (M) LAR100ET REBR
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. B ARER @

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration and
Name operation
HRRL/ K
£ CELE LS

Percentage of equity attributable
to the Company

Issued and paid up/
registered capital
BRTRER/
ZMER

Principal activities

RAFARERFE
2022 2021
—ECCE ===
Direct  Indirect Direct Indirect

E# ) B R

IERH

Mudanjiang Better Day Power Limited”
(‘Mudanjiang BD Power’)

HAIERATERAA
(HFTERRE])

Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical Limited"
(‘Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical’)

HAPTRE IERAR (HATHERT])

Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical Engineering
Company Limited*
(‘Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical’)

TR IERAR RATIRELT])

PRC (Note (b))

i (FfzE()

PRC (Note (c)

hEl(HE()

PRC (Note (d)

GELGRIV)

Registered:
RMB260,000,000

Paid up:
RMB260,000,000

(2021: RMB127,400,000)
Bl

A& 260,000,007
#R

A& 260,000,007
(CF—-%:

AR 127,400,0007T)

Registered:
RMB558,844,000
Paid up:
RMB383,050,000
Bl

AR 558,844,007
#R

AR 383,060,007

Registered:
RMB110,910,000
Paid up:
RMB110,910,000
Bl
ARE110910,0007C
AR
ARE110910,0007

100% - 100%  Generation and supply of

heat and power

LERHEREREN

100% - 100% Manufacture and sale of

calcium carbide

BUERHERAAS

63.11% - 63.11% Manufacture and sale of

vinyl acetate

HELHERRLS
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. EARER @

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and paid up/ Percentage of equity attributable
Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R BRTRAR/
R CESEYLEE ZRER RARFMERAR S TEXH
2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F
Direct  Indirect Direct Indirect
E# i Ef filfk
Mudanjiang Donghei Gaoxin Chemical Company  PRC (Note (g)) Registered: - 100% - 100% Manufacture and sale of
Limited" (‘Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin’) RMB237,050,000 polyvinyl-chloride
Paid up:
RMB237,050,000
IR IERAR i (fz(e)) S HERHERA LR
(MABIRLES]) AR937 050,000
B
AR 237,050,007
Heihe Longjiang Chemical Limited* PRC (Note (f) Registered: - 90% - 90% Manufacture and sale of
(‘Heihe Longjiang Chemical’) RMB266,300,000 calcium carbide, polyvinyl-
Paid up: chloride and vinyl acetate
RMB265,000,000
RAETTARNR( BARILI)) rh (Pl () i1 HEREERIE BB
AR 266,300,000 ERERLE
#R:
AR 265,000,007
Mudanjiang Jinyang Municipal Engineering PRC (Note (g)) Registered: - - = 100% Provision of municipal
Company Limited* (*Jinyang Municipal’) RMB23,900,000 engineering construction
Paid up: services
RMB23,900,000
HAIeHETHIRERAR(eREmH)  RE(HHg) B R IRRERE
AR#23,900,00070
#R:
AR#23,900,0007
China Zenith Construction Materials Limited Cayman Islands Ordinary HK$0.01 - 100% - 100% Inactive
HEREN AR A FEHE LER0OIET TEZH
Success Eagle Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - 100% - 100%  Provision of administrative
and consultancy services
ERiAERAR B LRRIAT FRAATI s Rt 2 R
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. B ARER @

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and paid up/ Percentage of equity attributable
Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
HMRL/ R BRTRER/
R CESEVAE EREAR RARMERAR S TEEH
2022 2021
-8-cf “ZC-F
Direct  Indirect Direct Indlrect
Ei i E# i
Mudanjiang Longtuo New Energy Company PRC (Note (h)) Registered: - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited" (‘Mudanjiang New Energy’) RMB50,000,000
Paid up: RMB Ni
HRIERERARAR(MAIHER])  RE(FEH) S RAMR
AR50,000,0007T
AT \REET
Mudanjiang Longjin Wine Company Limited® PRC (Note (i) Registered: - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(‘Longjin Wine") RMB1,000,000
Paid up: RMB Nil
HATREEEARAR(EEEE]) rhE (fizE) S REBR
AE1,000,0007T
R AREET
Mudanjiang Longtuo Lithium Battery New PRC (Note () Registered: - 100% - - Inactive
Material Company Limited" RMB100,000,000
Paid up: RMB Ni
TSI RERAR R (fifzE() S EELH
AR100,000,0007
BR: \REET
Nature Enterprise Management (Tianjin) PRC (Note (k) Registered: - 51% - - Inactive
Company Limited® RMB100,000,000
Paid up: RMB Ni
AMEEER(RZ)ERAA I (fifzEK) R TR
ARE100,000,0007C
T \REST

*  English name is for identification purpose only

* EXEFBEAES)
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group acquired equity interests in the subsidiary on 19 June 2009, 12
January 2012 and 16 June 2016, and the percentage of equity interests
attributable to Company increased from 55% to 67% and then to 90%.

Mudanjiang BD Power is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered
in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing from the
approval date of 9 June 2006. During the year, 51% of the share of the
company was pledged to secure of other loans raised amounted to
RMB40 million of the Group.

Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
registered in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 30 December 2006.

Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical is a sino-foreign equity joint venture
established in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 27 May 2004.

Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
registered in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 26 April 2005.

Heihe Longjiang Chemical is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established
in the PRC for an operating period of 20 years commencing from the
approval date of 5 June 2008.

Jinyang Municipal is a limited liability company established in the PRC with
an indefinite operating period. Jinyang Municipal was disposed during the
year.

Mudanjiang New Energy is a limited liability company established in the
PRC with an indefinite operating period.

Longijin Wine is a limited liability company established in the PRC with an
indefinite operating period.

Mudanjiang Longtuo Lithium Battery New Material Company Limited is a
wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered in the PRC with an indefinite
operating period.

Nature Enterprise Management (Tianjin) Company Limited is a wholly
foreign-owned enterprise registered in the PRC for an operating period of
50 years commencing from the approval date of 20 June 2022.

23. B A TER @

Wi

(@

AEBR-_TEThFE~A+HLE =%
——F—A+ZBR=-Z—FFNAT
AUEEZ M B A R 2 Bk - NA R FENRR
B DL R55%E NEGT% « REEINE
90% °

HATIERREART BRI GBEE
- KEBPEMERSB ST F A
FLBREET RHAS0F - FR - B AKEA
MEFIEIMAREIOBEETERZ AR
51%M 17 °

HHIBE I ARF RGN B E
¥ KEHEMERR ST F+=
A=+ Hist AHI50%F -

HATRIE T ARFEKL 2 FINEE
AELE  KEHEIERB-_TTNE
A A= +tEHEBHI50F °

HIDIRIL &I AR B2 N B E
¥ KL ERM ST AFMA
Z+NBEEAHI50EF ©

BT I RNPBRKIZIEBED
¥ KREHBHERH —ZTENFRAR
B 5T A 1204 -

CHETBARTBERIZERAR @ &
RELEH - SETHRERFAHE -

HATH R AN P BRI Z ERAF
WEEREEASEH -

REBOXEANPBERLZBERAR @ &
EEE@%HH °

HATRREECHTMHBERAR RN
Bz INEEE (R - WERELZH -

EER(RE)ERAAARHEF
MzioEBERE - KEHBIAERH =
T —F AT HIEFABHEI50F ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company eliminations.

23. B A &R @)
THITEG S A ERBEA Y IS
(T3Emmas )2 HBATEHR - Bty
B ERHE A TS AT £ -

Mudanjiang
Dongbei Chemical Racing Dragon
HATRIE(ET i
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F CZEBE-HE —E-—F
Principal country/place FEBEERAR M2
of business/country of i AVACIER PRC/PRC PRC/PRC PRC/BVI PRC/BVI
incorporation HREHE B RE PEEE PR EE
BLZHE RS
% of ownership interest/voting  JFH% A% HE 25 B4
rights held by NCI Fra iRz HE#EY% 36.89% 36.89% 10% 10%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FET FAET
At 30 June: RAB=+H:
Non-current assets ERBEE 34,833 41,378 825,876 787,262
Current assets mBEE 242,179 288,119 54,151 145,174
Current liabilities mEBE (29,628) (69,896)  (1,309,445)  (1,298,654)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(8E)F8E 247,384 259,601 (429,418) (366,218)
Accumulated NCI SRR 91,260 95,767 (42,942) (36,622)
Year ended 30 June: BZEAA=1tHILEE:
Revenue hé - = 198,664 23,424
Loss [ (5,856) (2,426) (74,548) (66,210)
Total comprehensive income 2EMALLEE (12,217) 20,544 (63,200) (94,180)
Loss allocated to NCI DB T IEIERR i RS 2 518 (2,160) (895) (7,455) (6,621)
Total comprehensive income DT IEERR RS 2 2 EUA
allocated to NCI 4= (4,507) 7,579 (6,320) (9,418)
Net cash generated from L EEFTSIR©F R
operating activities - - 5,119 13,339
Net cash used in investing REEEARFRE
activities - - (3,090) (2,368)
Net cash used in financing BEEBTAFIRE T8
activities - - (726) (9,851)
Effect of foreign exchange rate  SMNEME R &)~ 2
changes - - (91) 6
Net increase in cash and cash ~ 3R& NIR&SEEE 0
equivalents R - - 1,212 1,126
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24. INVENTORIES 24, ZE

2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FBT FAT
Raw materials JRAT 5,395 8,327
Finished goods 2K mm 16,802 1,112
Less: Provision for impairment loss B R EEIE R - (3,704)
22,197 5,735
During the year ended 30 June 2022, reversal of impairment of slowing HEZT-—_FA=THILFE H#HE
moving and written off of damaged inventories of approximately mAVRERRE R EEETENMED BN A
HK$3,726,000 (2021: HKS$Nil) and HK$Nil (2021: HK$171,000) 3,726,000 L (= F = — THEIT)NE
respectively have been (credited)/charged to the consolidated Br(ZE=— ¢ 171 OOOi%ﬁ) - B B4R

statement of profit or loss. BEFRGIA)HBR
The reversal of impairment of slowing moving inventories was caused HHE mBREREEBENFERN SN EIE

by resumption of manufacturing of the HLCL during the year. TR AEEFTEL ©
25. TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. EWE ZER1E

2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FBT FAT
Trade receivables from contracts with customers R B BF & R EIE S ER1E 51,478 42,373
Less: allowance for ECL B EEEIEERE (21,719) (19,353)
29,759 23,020
The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. The NEEF EiREEERE IR5 15
credit terms generally range from 15 to 30 days (2021: 15 to 30 EH—MRNMF15=30H (:2?\:—¢ 152

days). The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the Directors.

30H) °

AR BB BRI S ERE R RN

WF

IR o AR R EE T HEN -
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date,

25. EWWE 3 RE @)
FEUR R 5 85 T8 (K10 B ) IR B = A 25

and net of allowance, is as follows: ZEEBOITMT
2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30HA 6,447 1,252
31 to 60 days 31260H 314 1,226
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,679 2,944
91 to 120 days 91£120H 3,990 1,592
121 to 150 days 121£150H 3,456 1,623
151 to 180 days 151£180H 3,463 3,812
181 to 365 days 181£365H 10,410 10,571
Over 365 days B#365H - -
29,759 23,020

The Group’s trade receivables are denominated in RMB. AEE 2 EWE ZERTBIAARKEEHE ©

As at 30 June 2022, an allowance of approximately HK$21,719,000 RZZZZF"A=TH ' st TaUk
(2021: HK$19,353,000) was made for estimated irrecoverable trade Bl fE I E 5 BRTB AT IR B 1# 4921,719,00078 7T
receivables. (ZZT——% :19,353,000/87T) °

The movement in allowance of ECL for trade receivables is as follows:

HHEEBRREEZRARB ZZEH 1IN

T :
2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
At 1 July wtEHA—8 19,353 12,147
Provision of allowance s 3,311 5,880
Exchange differences ME i =5 (945) 1,326
At 30 June WANA=+H 21,719 19,353

R-E-—FXA=1H EKBESKEKHE
(MR TEERE B BB R ) £923,312,0007%
JL( T = —4F : 21,768,000/ 7T ) B #HHE
WHERE - EERSEERIEERTAE
1B WEASEREVERANBYEFHE
B o 155530 BAND B HE R GE KT R ©

As at 30 June 2022, trade receivables net of allowance of ECL of
approximately HK$23,312,000 (2021: HK$21,768,000) were past
due but not impaired. These mainly relate to a number of independent
customers that are either active and or have a good track record and
established creditworthiness with the Group for whom there is no
recent history of default.
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 26. EARIE - AT RAEMER

RECEIVABLES b1 |
2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Prepayments TE{I IR 30,400 44,531
Deposits Hik 757 757
Other receivables H At fEGRIE 42,646 59,808
73,803 105,096

The carrying amounts of Group’s prepayments, deposits and other

receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBERNRIA - 72 R E A BRI Bk

EEETIA TP EHEHE

2022 2021
—E-F —E=——4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FBxT FAT

HK$ TSI 18,801 28,803
RMB AR 55,002 76,293
73,803 105,096

As at 30 June 2022, allowance of approximately HK$22,973,000
(2021: HK$119,043,000) was made for estimated irrecoverable other
receivables under general approach of HKFRS 9 with reference to
historical loss record of the Group. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information as factors affecting
the ability of the counterparty to settle the receivables.

RZZEZ__FEA=1H REKEEH
BAEELSE - RBEEBMBHREENE 9
SRE—RR T EE B ET N AT E R E 5
BRIEFHE A E4922,973,0008 (=T ——
£ :119,043,00087T) - AEBEEBEE
BRELAERURBMEETER FHFEE
FEUGRIERE N R =80 E BT R ATHEIEE RS o



168

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 27. RAFES A BRzEeREE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed shares in Hong Kong, at fair value (Note) AZE# 1 2 B (&%)

Note: Listed shares in Hong Kong included in the financial assets at FVTPL
were mainly investment in China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co.
Limited (Stock Code: 1940) (“CGIl HLDGS”) amounting to approximately
HK$1,820,000 (2021: HK$NIl) as at 30 June 2022.

Given the trading of the shares of CGIl HLDGS on the Stock Exchange
was suspended as at 30 June 2022, the fair value of the Group’s
investment in CGIl HLDGS as at 30 June 2022 was arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected to the Group, using the guideline public company
method under the market approach which employed price-to-sales
(“P/S”) multiple in the valuation, which is a generally accepted approach in
the industry. The selection of guideline companies is by understanding the
principal business of the valuation target and search for public companies
with businesses as similar with the valuation target as possible.
Subsequently to 30 June 2022, the trading on the Stock Exchange of the
shares of CGIl HLDGS was resumed on 13 September 2022.

28. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

2022 2021

s —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET T

1,971 564

ik : R=ZT=——FA=1+H  RATEEB
BHRIEZeMEETHRES LMK

B EZE A China Gas Industry Investment
Holdings Co. Limited ( B& 15 X 5% : 1940)
([CGIl HLDGS |) 2 # & #1,820,0007% 7T
(_7_ E 2/%75)

EEHACGI HLDGSHIIR M —E = =F 75 A
=T REBRZAHER  AEER=ZT=—
758 =1 BHCGI HLDGSH)IE BB A F
BERIBEE I HEEITHHERS L AER
SEEBANSERBEGEM - BIERAGE
ERERATHEE((MER])BHEOTEE
RAESIARARE  WAERLEES
BJT)% o BEBIES|IRAI BB T RIGER
EZEBEBRTE Bz%ﬁﬁiT CER (A B
BHRUZARAR - BEEZTZZF<
A=+H - Call HLDGSW%G:%::E
NAT=BEERFERE -

28. RITRBREHET

2022 2021

—E-F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET AT

Cash in banks and on hand RITRFEEHEE 12,874 46,775

As at 30 June 2022, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$4,532,000
(2021: HK$10,134,000) and out of which amounted to approximately
HK$1,734,000 (2021: HK$712,000) was frozen by the Court of
Heilongjiang Province. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations. The Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

R-ZZ-_—_FXA=1H KEEURAER
W REN ZIR1TRIRE 174 /54,532,000
BIL(ZZF = —4 : 10,134,000/87T) * M
HERS 541,734,000 L (Z T = —F :
712,000/ 7T ) B BRI A AR E © A
R 5 5N ks 7B 52 BICONE B BRI ) K2
(HEIE « BERMNESTEREIRS - NEE
A BB R T TINE TS IRTT i A RIS
HAHME o
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29. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

The following assets were classified as held for sale as at 30 June:

29. TERIFELENEE
RAAZTE - THAESEARIELE -

169

2022 2021
—EC-CHE —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Assets classified as held for sale PERABEHENEE
Property, plant and equipment (Note (b)) Y - BB K (FT () - 83,928
Right-of-use assets (Note (b)) FAEEE(M5Eb) - 28,415
An associate company (Note (a)) Bt N ) (i) 9,379 =
9,379 112,343
Notes: Fd =
(a) Save for disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, on (@) RS IEHRERM 21 EEEI R
21 January 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement T__F—A=-+—H KXEHEKEE
with Tianjin Boguang Chemical Technology Company Limited, an BN B = R EB(ETEMAR AR
independent third party to the Group, pursuant to which the Group has FIVEEWE Bl AEBAIEERE
conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity interest held in Mudanjiang HEEMBFEHFIT R /2 3P ME (BNE
Xusheng, representing 50% of its share capital, at a consideration of 50%A%A%) - R AB A ARES,000,0007T (18
RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,379,000) under which BN 499,379,000 7T ) - HhAREE D Uk
a cash deposit amounted to RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to approximately IR &% & AR 4,500,0007T (FEERL
HK$5,276,000) had been received by the Group. Accordingly, the 5,276,000/ 7T) ° Fit - REFEREZ &
carrying amount of investment in Mudanjiang Xusheng had been classified BHEAEC Y EABFELENEE -
as assets held for sale and are presented separately in the consolidated YR =ZZB==—F A=+ HBEETER
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022. SARAEBZ o
()  On 28 December 2020, Heihe Longjiang Chemical, a company indirectly ) RZZEZZEF+-A=+/\B  K2FIHE

owned as to 90% by the Company, entered into an agreement (the
“Disposal Agreement”) with Heihe Longhe Investment Management
Limited* (B)AEESREBREREERAT) (‘HLIML”), an independent
third party, pursuant to which Heihe Longjiang Chemical had agreed to =) Bt BagEl{tIREEZEMR
transfer the land use rights of certain pieces of land (the “Land”) located R R TR ([ St iE |) B9 1+ st fE B
in the PRC at an aggregate consideration of RMB156,440,000 (equivalent i BREAANRM 156,440,000 7T (46
to approximately HK$185,500,000), comprising RMB139,440,000 with & R 49185,500,000/ 7T ) * B IE AR
land compensation of RMB17,000,000 (the “Land Disposal”). 139,440,000 7T LA & A E # 17,000,000 7T
BB (E ([ L HEBIF]) -

BEHA 90%H) A~ B B m BE /T T 858 57
FZTRIRAKREEEERALAR
([BTESREEE )T i ([ HER

As the Land had been left idle by the Group for a long time and in view of
the consideration to be received from the Land Disposal by the Group,
the Directors considered that the Land Disposal was a good opportunity
for the Group to generate cash inflow, improve its liquidity and reduce the
carrying cost of the idle land.

BRNZSFHRE A RERERE R
> BENAEBERAK L i H & FIREUKE
MRE EERRIMHESTHEEER
¥ AERASEELRSR  RERDE
BRI PR B b IR EVBREI BN ©

*

English name is for identification purpose only * BEXETEEERZS
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29. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

()

(Continued)

The gross consideration generated from the Land Disposal would be
RMB156,440,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$185,500,000) and the
Company intended to use the proceeds for, among others, (i) repayment
of debts; (i) tax payment in relation to the Land Disposal; and (iii) general
working capital of the Group.

The Land Disposal were previously classified as “non-current asset held
for sale” in accordance with HKFRS 5 as at 30 June 2021.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the management of the Group
resolved to suspend the Land Disposal (the “Suspension”) following the
businesses of manufacture and sale of calcium carbide became reactive
under which unanimous consent of the Suspension had been reached
between Heihe Longjiang Chemical and HLIML. For the purpose of
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2022, the Directors of the Company are of the view that
the plan to complete the Land Disposal is not highly probable under which
the conditions in classifying the Lands as non-current asset held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 is unable to meet and therefore approximately
HK$83,928,000 and approximately HK$28,415,000 attributed to the
Lands were reclassified from non-current assets held for sale to property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets respectively.

The movement in assets classified as held for sale is as follows:

29. TERFFELENEE@®

(®)

(&)

T ESHELANBREAARK
156,440,000 7t (48 & 7 #J 185,500,000 7
TL) * MARBEKAEREBERAR(EFE
FBNVEERER © ()Xt L s EHEEE
B Ri)ERAEE —REEES -

R=B=—F7A=tH  REEEUS
HREERIEY - L & FIHER S
Bl EH SRR DA -

RBE_E_—_FAA=ZTHLFE &
REERHERCIEREBTEER - &K
SEEEBARTEIwHE([TFEHE
BE]) B TtIRBAEAREE
BEREFEHESHEEN —HER - 3R
BREFE-_SE-_—FNA=+HIF
ENFEEMBREANBENMS @ AARE
ERATH I B ER AR - TiE
REE MR IRBB B RS ERIFE 55
15 i E FES B AIFELEMNIETE
BEMNGRG - At - SERZEHIRAL
83,928,000 78 7T K& #9 28,415,000 /% 7T #
FIELENERBEENRETHIEEY
X BERRBREAREE -

DERFHELENBEENEFHNT ¢

2022 2021

—E-F —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

At 1 July ®ntEA—HB 112,343 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment BRI - WEREE - 83,928
Transfer from right-of-use assets ERETREEE - 28,415
Transfer from investment in an associate EEEHEPENIEE 9,379 =
Transfer to property, plant and equipment BB EYE - BE MR (77,138) =
Transfer to right-of-use assets ERSTRAEEE (26,981) =
Loss on reclassification charged to profit or loss BFH AT A B EE (5,393) =
Exchange differences R (2,831) =
At 30 June WNA=1H 9,379 112,343
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. A
2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
Authorised: JETE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,000% &I E{E
HK$0.10 each 01078 T 2 T B 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
2,660,560,978 (2021: 1,603,707,319) 2,660,560,978%( == = —4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,608,707,3190% ) B IX A
0.1078 T2 Tk 266,056 160,371
Number of
ordinary
shares issued Par value
ERTEER
A HE
‘000 HK$’'000
TR FAT
At 1 July 2020 R-—Z-—ZF+H—H 1,339,927 133,993
Exercise of share options (Note (a)) 1T R RRRE (T 5E () 71,280 7,128
Conversion of convertible bonds (Note (b)) s R AR E S (M 5 (0)) 92,500 9,250
Placing of shares (Note (c)) BeE R (M 3E(C)) 100,000 10,000
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZE_—FAA=Z+HK
—E-—4%t+H—H 1,603,707 160,371
Placing of shares (Note (d)) fic & %17 (BT 5E()) 170,000 17,000
Rights issue (Note (e)) HEAR (FE(e)) 886,854 88,685

At 30 June 2022 RZZZ=FA=1+H 2,660,561 266,056
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(@) On 6 July 2020, 5 August 2020, 26 August 2020, 7 September 2020, 8
October 2020, 10 November 2020 and 26 April 2021, the subscription
rights attaching to 71,280,000 share options issued pursuant to the share
option scheme of the Company were exercised at the subscription prices
of HK$0.325, HK$0.345 and HK$0.38 per shares, resulting in the issue
of 71,280,000 shares of HK$0.1 each for the total cash consideration
of approximately HK$24,097,000, which was used for general working
capital.

(b) On 283 December 2020 and 16 February 2021, a total of 92,500,000
shares with exercise price of HK$0.40 per share were issued upon
conversion of convertible bonds.

(c) On 10 June 2021, a total of 100,000,000 shares with subscription price
of HK$0.30 per share were issued under general mandate pursuant
to the subscription agreement dated 1 June 2021. The net proceeds
of approximately HK$29,362,000 was used for working capital for
resumption of production of the Group.

(d) On 3 September 2021, a total of 170,000,000 shares with subscription
price of HK$0.25 per share were issued under general mandate pursuant
to the subscription agreement dated 24 August 2021. The net proceeds
of approximately HK$40,951,000 was used for repayment of debts and
general working capital of the Group.

(e) On 7 January 2022, a total of 886,853,659 rights shares with subscription
price of HK$0.12 per rights share were alloted and issued pursuant to
the underwriting agreement entered on 23 November 2021. The net
proceeds of approximately HK$106,422,000 was used for repayment of
the Group’s indebtedness and general working capital.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares,
buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets
to reduce debts.

30. A (@m)

!

#

(@) %:f:”itﬂﬁﬁ _?_7¢AH
AH - —E-ZTF)N\A-+H —T—
TFAALRA - ZE=TF+ANA -
T-TF+— H'?'EI&_ZE:*iEH
Z+RA8  BEBEARRRERESEE ﬁz
71,280,00017 BRI 75 2 RIBEZRE
PR R% {5 0.32578 7T 0.345,%7z&0.38/%7c
HRIBEEITE - FBE1771,280,000
BEROIBITZRGD  BRIRENKRED
24,097, 0008 TERE—MREEES °

(o) N_T_EF+_At+=HRZZT=_—
FZA+RA KRR ESFR T
& #£92,500,0008% (%15 © 1TEEB AEB R
0.40/%71:“

(© J‘S@*::* FXXA+AH - };‘?E”Elﬁﬁﬁi%:
—E XA —BHNREBZRE—
?ﬁﬁeé%éfﬁ:.mooooooooﬁxﬁxf "R
BEAEROINET - IBREFEL
29,362,000/ L E AIEA S EEEN & &
B o

@ RZZEZ—FHALA=H & #
170,000,000/%/% 0 - 17 B A EAR0.257%
TEREBEASHA-ZT-_—F/\f-+MmMA

VR - A —RERERT - FTSRIE
YR EA#Y40,951,000/8 T i AR EEARNEE
Bk —REEES -

€ R-ZE-_—F—A+tR BERER=Z
——F+— A - +=HiTuN B
2 N B 1745 +£886,853,659 A it AR A% 15
REBEATRERBKRD0.12T ° ATEH
TH % 58 49106,422,0007# 7T 15 FA A E 8 2
SEEKER—REEED -

BXEE
mﬁlﬁﬁ$ﬁﬁimaﬁﬁﬁW$%lﬁ

BELE  BBBCEBRRAEHA
h%hf?ﬁ@ﬁ REBHERRERE
RS -

AEERERLIIETEASHE - AEEE
BENGRE - WRBEENRRZ(CRBEE
ENRRFBELRAE - RERSIFHEER
e AREARERBEINHRE - BITH
I - EfERt - SEHER - BORENE
B EEENRDET -
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30.

31.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue
of new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling assets to reduce
debts.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group is in order to
maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange, it has to have a public float
of at least 25% of the total number of the shares in issue.

The Group receives reports from major shareholders and other
connected persons on any changes in shares held by them to ensure
the continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year.

The Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules during the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
on 20 December 2012 for a period of 10 years. The purpose of
the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to the eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
Under the Scheme, the Directors may, at their sole discretion, grant
to any eligible participants options to subscribe for ordinary shares of
the Company at the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (i) the
nominal value of the shares. The offer for a grant of share options may
be accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the Directors
and in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of share
options, subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

30.

31.

& NE )

EXREE @)
AEEBBERBEANARESHERNEH
E’JHM&‘&%%F‘?QZX B o ANEE SRR
IR B ~ BEITHTAR R AR (D B B DA e BE 1T 3
& - ﬁg@ﬁﬁf%&ﬂi%éé%ﬂ%ﬁﬁx
e RR RS & ARLRHE o

SNEBEI AR BRI EAELK -
BARD RO BITRMNBEHI25% -
H B3 AT ey _E AL ©

N

AR

AEERETERNEBEEALTERES
PRSI (R B R IRE - AREREEFE
NFFAE B T25%HIPR AR °

REE-Z-_—_Fr-_ZF-_—FA=1+H
IEFE  AARE#RF ERARENAR

FIRE -

BRESE

AARRZE——F+ A=+ AEMARH
10¢Zﬁﬁﬂx$§afﬂ(fﬁ?<#sﬂ) o #EtElz
BRAFAREEEREGERSEERTER
¥ ERESFHASEEL TR 2 KB E
o BIEZET S - ESA2RMEREAE
B2 EER T BRE - HR()A 2 &R0
RRRERNEREES A (WEREFEH )1
REFFAHRERMBEHE : (VAR FRN
REREEREEREZAAEEXATE
B2 Fr g A RE R R H T Tf : (|||)
BOEE=EFR &= BIRREAR
fx - R ETRIEER TR Hﬁfié‘fm E W
B ABEAEREMARIFEH1B T
KEANRE - IR HEREZTEHHES
BE TEBARPELEZHAERRT - £F
falfE S TR BB AR B B ST 10F Ak
B o
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31. BRAETTE )

Fra Rzt 8l R A E B R H AR T
BIE B 1 8 R T1E 2 AR T T R S T
g MBI 2RI ERSEHE @ AETEEZR
AR E /TR N 2380% © 1R
LT BIHE R H 2 F17E B AR 1 T A T A
B NEIT RN RS - BMERERRERRIAR
eAMBH-FT——F+-_A=-+HZAR
RIEEITARDEE A910% °

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares to be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the relevant class of shares of
the Company in issue from time to time. The total number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of the extraordinary
general meeting held on 20 December 2012.

BRI B TRA A ZREIRERA
BREZIERN -

Share options do not confer rights to the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

A

Vesting period (Note (1))
5B EA (P EE(1))

Exercise period

1A

Exercise price at date of grant

RIRE BB 1768

Price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant (Note (2))

ARABBMRE L BHZ B (FTEEER)

Exercise price adjusted after rights issue (Note (3))

HBRIRTTE(E 8 2 (FIRE(3))

—E-N\F+A=+HMA

24 December 2018
- N\F+=-A=+mMA

24 December 2018 to

23 December 2021
—E-N\F+ZAZTHEZE
—E-—F+=ZA=+=H

0.325

0.325

N/ATNEA

(@) Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: (a) BREZETHEHMMOT :
Option A Option B
RBIRREA BB
Grant date 24 December 2018 3 November 2020

—E-FF+—H=H

3 November 2020
—E-TFE+—H=H
3 November 2020 to

2 November 2023
—E-TF+—HA=HE
—E=F+—H=H

0.380

0.380

0.397
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31. B E

(a) (Continued) (a) &
Notes: MIsE -
(1) The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the (1) BREzFEHAKLABREITE

grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2) The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of the
grant of the share options is the higher of the closing price of the
shares of the Company on the date of grant of the share options
or the average Stock Exchange closing price for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the share
options.

©)) As a result of the rights issue as detailed in note 30(e) to the
consolidated financial statements, the exercise price of the
outstanding share options — Option B was adjusted from
HK$0.380 to HK$0.397 per share with effect from 7 January 2022
after taking into account the adjustment factor of theoretical ex-
rights price per share of HK$0.958.

At 30 June 2022, 99,135,542 share options (2021: 171,500,000
share options) remains outstanding under the Scheme,
representing approximately 4% (2021: 11%) of the ordinary
shares of the Company in issue at that date. The Scheme allows
the Directors of the Company, when offering the grant of any
option, to impose any condition including any performance target
which must be met before the option shall vest and become
exercisable. The share options granted so far by the Company
have been imposed with just a service condition. The exercise
price is determined by the Directors of the Company, and will not
be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant and (i) the average closing price of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant. HK$1 is payable by each eligible participant to the
Company on acceptance of an offer of options, to be paid within
1 month from the date of the offer.

HARALA L HAR -

@  ARERMRIEBRER L A SR E
ZEBRRAR RO B
B H 2z Wi (B sk R BRI IR H A
HAR0 FLE & 2 AR PP ER
WHmEREZRSE °

(@) EHRERAE WK W FE306) FTEf
MR - CE BTRIERIREE
0.958 THFAREZE  WARITE
K FERRIE — BBIREBMITEEHRE
}%0.380 LA ZE0.397 8T B
R Rt HBREXR -

R-ZZE-_—_FA=+H " Z%:t&
T8 35 99,135,5421p BB #E (==
— —4% : 171,500,00017 BE A% #E ) i1 K
17 - HERARARRZABETYE
PR Z 894% (ZE=—F : 11%) °
ZETEIR A RBEER R LI MEE
&2 B Y AN AEAR SR k1 - B AE RN EE
& 57 B S X B R T AT B B A
KILBHZ - KRR B RIRH Z BAHE
EM I — BRI - TTEERAR
RERET  MEATERUTESE
(AR BED AR Bz T E R
(VPR BERH BT AEL ¥R
ZFHRHIE - SAEEIRDEEAR
BEMEREZNRARRZM1ET
MR B4 A BT — @A AT o
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BRETE @
(b) The movement of share options granted and (b) B & HEREREREINRE
weighted average exercise prices of share FIGITEE 2B E
options
Director Employee
= 8
Weighted Weighted
Number of average  Number of average
share exercise share exercise
options price options price
iR R B R
4= TEE #E TEEE
HKS HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at 1 July 2020 “ZTFLA-HEATR 21,560,000 0.328 143,620,000 0.330
Granted during the year $¢E&ﬁ 64,500,000 0.380 65,000,000 0.380
Exercised during the year REETHE - - (71,280,000) 0.338
Lapsed during the year REZ LN (21,560,000 0.328  (30,340,000) 0.345
Outstanding at 30 June 2021 and ~ RZZ=Z—F~A=+HK
1 July 2021 T —F A —HERITE 64,500,000 0.380 107,000,000 0.352
Adjustment due to rights issue NEE HAMERR T T AR
during the year 2,171,688) NATER  (2,192,770) NATEMA
Lapsed during the year REFRM - - (55,000,000) 0.325
Cancelled during the year REEZFH (13,000,000 0.380 - =
Outstanding at 30 June 2022 RZEZZFA=+H
W ARITEE 49,328,312 0.397 49,807,230 0.397
The share options outstanding at 30 June 2022 have exercise RZTZZF A=+ HERITERE
prices of HK$0.397 per option (2021: HK$0.325 to HK$0.380) % 1 zfﬂif‘f?%ﬂ 7 B8 AR 7 0.397 75
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.34 years TT(=ZZF=—%F : 0.325% 7L £0.380
(2021: 1.75 years). BIL) RIMEFHBTAEOFHA

1.34F (ZF=—%F : 1.754)
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BREE @)
(c) Fair value of share option granted (c) EREIBRENATE
Fair value of share options granted during the year ended 30 BEZZ - A=THLEFER
June 2021 was as follows: THREREN A TENT

Number of shares

of the Company

to be issued upon

exercise of

the share options
granted to such Fair value of the

Grantees Position Date of grant grantee in full option granted
RFZARAN
BREBE2MITEE
BEITHALAT OREBEREN
ERA Bz & A RGEHE AFE
(HK$'000)
(F#7T)
Chan Yuk Foebe Chairman and Chief 3 November 2020 13,000,000 2,070
Executive Officer
RS FEFRITIAREL —E-FTE+—HA=H
Law Tze Ping Eric Executive Director 3 November 2020 13,000,000 2,070
‘T BITES —E-FTF+—HA=H
Yu Defa (Note 1) Executive Director 3 November 2020 13,000,000 2,070
FEE(Pi1) HWITES —Z-TF+—H=H
Ma Wing Yun Bryan  Independent 3 November 2020 8,500,000 1,353
Non-executive Director
SEJI BUIEHITES —E-EE+—HA=H
Tam Ching Ho Independent 3 November 2020 8,500,000 1,353
Non-executive Director
R BUIFHITES —ETF+—H=H
Hau Chi Kit Independent 3 November 2020 8,500,000 1,353
Non-executive Director
G BN TES —ZE-TF+—H=H
Employees (Note 2) 3 November 2020 65,000,000 9,236
& 8 (FisE2) —Z-TF+—H=H
Notes: BsE -
(1) Mr. Yu Defa was retired from an executive director on 9 December (1) TEBEEERZZEZ—F+=ZAN
2021 under which 13,000,000 share options granted to Mr. Yu BREWTES RN_T=_—F
Defa at fair value amounted to HK$2,070,000 was cancelled on 9 T—ANBEETERAFERTT
December 2021. 12 8% 5% 4 #913,000,00017 B AR4E -
& %8/52,070,00078 7T ©
(2)  Five employees’ share options were lapsed during the year ended @ IHEEENEREREZE-ZT_—
30 June 2022 under which 55,000,000 share options granted to FERA=ZTHIEFERY - iR
those employees at fair value amounted to HK$1,727,000. ATEE TZZ R 5 /55,000,000

1P EBRRHEA1,727,000/8 7T ©
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31. B E

(c) Fair value of share option granted (Continued) (c)
The share options were measured at fair value at grant date with
reference to a valuation report prepared by Ample Appraisal
Limited, calculated using Binomial Pricing Model with the
following key assumptions:

& B R 2 P E ()
BRI A ATENE - ¥
REEUBEFHEARAARE M
B0 15 A —E R MR AT5
8 FERNRRERRNT

24 December 3 November

2018 2020

—E-N\F —ECEF

+=A=+MmA +—HA=H

Option A Option B

BIREA BB

Share price AR (E 0.325 0.380
Exercise price IE(E 0.325 0.380
Expected volatility (Note) T8 B Eh (BT aE) 85% 65%
Expected options life TEHARE A% F HA 3 years 3% 3 years 34
Expected dividends TEHARR S 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate (per annum) R R F () 1.869% 0.155%

Fair value of a share option at grant date  EEISEN R H B 82 AFE

Note: The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility which
based on data available for the past 1.5 years. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimates.

No share option was granted for the year ended 30 June 2022.
The total expense recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 30 June 2021 in respect of the Scheme amounted to
HK$19,505,000.

Share options were granted with a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date fair
value measurement of the services received. There were no
market conditions associated with the share option grants.

0.0314  0.1421-0.1592

MEE - FRERRED Ty AR BIE BF RIS EK
B2 SN B SR o THE AR
BRREFIEHAFEMGTEL
BRTE-

HE_Z_—FXA=TRHILEFE "
MEERLERE #E-_T—_—F
NA=TBIEFERZATEIR B RS
R P 4858/519,505,000/8 7T °

BREZ S RS It - DIET
RBAEE B2 ATEFBRIA
A o B RRAER L3 2 T8
o
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  32. KA T ZHBIRRER EES

MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE COMPANY 3]
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) AT ZEBARRE
Company
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BaE FHET FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHEB AR ZIRE 23 8,742 17,935
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHT S A RIFIE 342,857 684,090
Other receivables Ho A e R IE 18,036 20,000
Amount due from a deconsolidated fllﬁlﬂjtiﬁ/*\/\ﬁ%w%’& Gl
subsidiary FRI8 42 - 32,000
Bank and cash balances fETT&fE% ETF 1,354 7,531
362,247 743,621
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 370,989 761,556
Capital and reserves R #E
Share capital PR 30 266,056 160,371
Reserves G 32(b) (1,232,655) (752,039)
TOTAL EQUITY BRER (966,599) (591,668)
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Convertible bonds Al AR {E 5 40 16,538 45,339
Bonds payable ERES 38 916,770 635,596
933,308 680,935
Current liabilities REBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary PN X R IA 219,400 219,449
Other payables and accruals L {th A< 5RIE KR FER T FIB 5,557 2,652
Bonds payable ERES 38 149,384 450,188
Convertible bonds Al EEiRfE A 40 29,939 =
404,280 672,289
TOTAL LIABILITIES waesd 1,337,588 1,353,224
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ##EZKREE 370,989 761,556
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ RE(BE) EEFE
ASSETS (42,033) 71,332
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BREERABEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES (33,291) 89,267
DEFICIENCY IN CAPITAL BB A (966,599) (591,668)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
21 October 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chan Yuk Foebe
RE

Chairman
T

7,=|=.77 —
_7__

Law Tze Ping Eric

BT

Execut/ve Director

HiTE

F1+A +—EI§€E§$AM/E&
?L‘%:F‘Jﬁéﬂﬁaabx"l—/\iﬁi
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  32. KA T ZHBIRRER EES

MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE COMPANY @)
(Continued)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company (b) AT ZHEEE
Share Convertible
Share option  bonds equity  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
BRRE TRRES
BADEE (53] BEfE RitEE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AL AT AT T
(Note 33 (b)(i)) (Note 33 (b))  (Note 33 (b)(iv))
(MizE33b)))  (FIsEss)i)  (BT=ES(b)iv)
At 1 July 2020 R-Z-ZF+A—H 60,808 11,752 - (787,791) (715,231)
Loss for the year AEREE - - - (142,452) (142,452)
Grant of share options R iE - 19,505 - - 19,505
Exercise of share options IR RE 21,801 (4,832) - - 16,969
Lapsed of share options Bk - (7,040) - 7,040 -
Issue of convertible bonds BT ES - - 34,065 - 34,065
Conversion of convertible ERAARES
bonds 28,347 - (12,604) - 15,743
Placing of shares B &M 19,362 - - - 19,362
At30June2021 andat1duly R-E=—F<A=1HRK
2021 R-E-—F+H—H 130,318 19,385 21,461 (923,203) (752,039)
Loss for the year REERR - - - (527,906) (527,906)
Redemption of convertible FE B AT AR (E 5
bonds - - (14,648) 14,648 -
Issue of convertible bonds BT AR ES - = 5,602 = 5,602
Issue of shares on rights issue  EREIZ TR 17,737 - - - 17,737
Placing of shares FeERR D 23,951 - - - 23,951
Lapsed of share options BRELN - (3,797) - 3,797 -

At 30 June 2022 RZZEZZF,A=+H 172,006 15,588 12,415 (1,432,664) (1,232,655)
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33. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group
(i) Share premium
The share premium account of the Company includes
premium arising from the new issue of shares in the current
and prior years netted of share issue expenses.

(ii) Share option reserve
Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees and business associates of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in note
6(X) to the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Exchange reserve
Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note
6(e) to the consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Convertible bonds equity reserve
Convertible bonds equity reserve represents the value
of unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds.

181

33. f#fE

(a)

(b)

REE
AEBZ FREBREZH NG
ERAR LRSS EB RS -

rEEREBEZHEERAR

(i) BHRE
AAaE] 2 DR EREENR
B ETERBHAREE RIA
TFEMEITROEENRE °

(i) BRERE
B ERERREREE VB
KM AR EE 2 B
NERAEFTER - R
SEEEREKHEALER
18 AR 1T {57 B AR R sk A AT

ZATE -

(iii) IPEREE
SNE BB 2 P A R EE SN
RS2 B =

o ZREBIRBERA MR
RISEEO() BN FTI R IR ©

(iv) TR EZEREE
AR ESEEFEHERRAR
BB TR AT AR E S R 1T R
AREHWEE - ERBEH AR
PRARZFER AR & ST BURFERR ©
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34. TRADE PAYABLES

fRE ISR MR ()

FNH=THIFFE

The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 30 to 120 days

(2021: 30 to 120 days) from its suppliers.

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of

34. BNESZREA

AEE—RERERLS TI0R120H (=ZF

Z—% : 3021208 Z2EEH -

e E SRR E R E R B BN25 2Rk

goods, is as follows: MranTF :
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Within 30 days 30HA 9,745 8,264
31 to 60 days 31£260H 3,023 279
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,780 518
91 to 120 days 91£120H 3,170 3,910
121 to 365 days 1212365H 8,515 5,976
Over 365 days 8781365 H 31,405 SRS
57,638 52,077

35. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 35. HittEARIE R EFTRIE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Other payables HAb e 5RIE 596,899 487,736
Accruals FEETFE 66,569 64,800
Deposit (Note) & () - 30,067
Provision for litigations EIE/N 76,591 71,082
Contract liabilities arising from customers REEFHEHERE

- Heat and power — R E 4,490 9,135
— Calcium carbide —RAbES 3,199 3,267
— Construction services — BEARTS - 879
747,748 666,966

For the contract liabilities at the year ended 30 June 2022 and 30 June
2021, the entire balances are recognised as revenue within one year.

WEHE_ T - —FANA=tTHEER-_ZT-—F

NA=ZTRLEFEZANEENS
BRI —FARER AU ©

EEbAE
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35. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)  35. HEL.{th FE 7R IE & FE 5T 73 (40)

Note: The deposits of approximately HK$30,067,000 (equivalent to MisE : 49 30,067,000 % 7t ( HH E RN A R ¥
RMB25,000,000) was non-refundable and represented the deposit 25,000,0007T) KiE& AT A RE - KK
received for the disposal of 40% equity interest in Mudanjiang BD Power B B T B 245 40% A% 4 AT B
which was being forfeited and credited as other income of the Group e EERRKIEFARERHE=T
during the year ended 30 June 2022. ZZEXNAZTAILEFEREMIRA -

36. OTHER LOANS 36. HittEMK
Contractual Contractual
rate 2022 rate 2021
EHRNE —B-—F BHFER T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FHIT
Secured HK$ loan BEMBITER 14% 44,960 18% 35,000
Secured RMB loan BERAREER 9%-24% 75,440  12%-24% 33,676
120,400 68,676

As at 30 June 2022, the other loans are secured by the pledge of the R-ZZT-_—FA=+H HEZULE

Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and 51% Bz - BEREE  CTRAEEERTEE

equity interest in a wholly-owned PRC subsidiary (2021: property, plant BB ARSI %RIE(ZTE=—F : W% -

and equipment and right-of-use assets). Detalils of which are disclosed [R5 R it M (R PR M R ) 1R R 4R - BB

in their respective notes. BRES BRIMEE o

All other loans are repayable within one year from drawdown date. Fra Bt EFEN IR B HiE —FAEE o
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37. BANK LOANS

The Group’s bank loans are repayable as follows:

37. SRITER

REEZSRITEFRARTIIHREER

2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Within one year —&FR 9,115 42,885
In the second year F_F 2,842 2,778
In the third to fifth years inclusive FoFEFAF(BREEMT) 8,893 8,692
After five years hEE 1,532 4,811
22,382 59,166
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B 1218 A RZBEE 2 FIE
months (shown under current liabilities) GtEREBERE) (9,115) (42,885)
13,267 16,281

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans are denominated in

the following currencies:

AEERTERZEHREDATIIEERE

fi :

2022 2021
—EC-CH& T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
HKS$ I 16,051 19,001
RMB AR 6,331 40,165
22,382 59,166
2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FAT

Analysed as: DR
Secured [SEe 22,382 26,217
Unsecured 4R 1 - 32,949
22,382 59,166
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37. BANK LOANS (continued)

37. SRITER @)

Movement of bank loans is as follows: RITEREEHAT
2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT

As at 1 July RntEA—H 59,166 67,304
Repayment =N (3,676) (12,297)
Proceeds Fr{S 5838 - 6,000
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary Sl SR =N TN - (6,000)
Disposal of a subsidiary Hj'%—%ﬁ [ JESNGT (32,119)
Exchange differences b ZERE (989) 4,159
As at 30 June RANA=+H 22,382 59,166

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had aggregate outstanding bank loans
of approximately HK$22,382,000 (2021: HK$26,217,000) secured by
properties and right-of-use assets of the Group.

The Group’s bank loans were at fixed-rate interest by 5.65% (2021:
5.65% to 12%) and variable-rate interest ranged from Hong Kong prime
rate less 2.9% (2021: Hong Kong prime rate less 2.9%) per annum.

Amount of approximately HK$6,331,000 was matured but still
outstanding at 30 June 2022 (2021: HK$32,949,000).

MN-BE-—&FXA=1H AEEHKE
BIRTTERARFEH 522,382,000 0 (==
Z—1F : 26,217,000/ 70) * AAEB A Y
FREAEEEFEERA -

AEENRITEREFIEN T5.65%0EE
ﬂ”(:—;_fﬁ 5.65%%E12%) M E B
BEFEFH2.9%MFEFER(ZF=—F :
BB REEFERF2.9%)5 B °

6,331,000 TR —E - —F A =+HZ|
HE IR EE ( ZZ = —4F : 32,949,000/
JT) °
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38. BONDS PAYABLE 38. EftES
The movement of the bonds payable is as follows: ENESFEBMT
2022 2021
—ECCf —ET %
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
At beginning of year REA] 1,085,784 988,268
Interest charge for the year FAFBRXZ 155,489 109,321
Interest paid for the year FRZFHF B (8,800) (9,805)
Redemption of bonds lBEES (147,719) (2,000)
Settlement of bonds by issuing convertible FBRBTIRRESEEES
bonds (18,600) -
At the end of year RER 1,066,154 1,085,784
Less: Amount due for settlement within B mBBEETARR12EARN
12 months shown under current liabilities FHEEN SR (149,384) (450,188)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ERBBEE FARR12ME A%
shown under non-current liabilities HHEEN SR 916,770 635,596
During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group and the Company did REBEEZZZ_FA=THILEFE ' K
not issue any corporate bonds (2021: Nil). SERARR B EBTEMNEERES(ZF
—F )
Detalils of the settlement by issuing convertible bonds was set out in the BRFTIRRESEERNFBENAQA
Company’s announcement dated 21 June 2022. AR -_—F A +—HHASE -
The Group’s undiscounted cash flow of outstanding bonds were RNEEIRER 2 ARBEIRIA /R T 51 HAfE
repayable as follows: =4
2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Within one year R—FR 157,733 487,299
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_EFEERF(BIEEEME) 1,100,590 932,057
After five years R FE - 30,500

1,258,323 1,449,856
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tZ —ZF — —F NA=1HIFFZ

38. BONDS PAYABLE (continued)

The bonds payables are unsecured and interest bearing at coupon
rates ranging from 0% to 12% (2021: 3% to 12%)).

39.

38. EfJEH )

The bonds payable are measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, and the effective rates are ranging from 2.2% to
18.92% p.a. (2021: 2.2% to 18.92% p.a.) after taking into account the
transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the bonds.

Amount of approximately HK$80,608,000 was matured but still
outstanding at 30 June 2022 (2021: HK$8,840,000).

LEASE LIABILITIES

FEREHFAEERIEZEEENTOEE12
B(ZZ=——% : 3EE12E) -

FEHES AR R R AL IR AT E &
STNEBITESFEEREZRHERERERST
MENFR22EFE18RE(ZT-—% ¢
ERRNF22EE18.92F) °

#980,608,0007 TTH) K IB — T = —F X
A=+HEHENAERE(ZE=_—F :
8,840,000/87T) °

39. HEAE

Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payments lease payments
BIEHERE REAERERE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CFE —ET - B —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHT TERT FHT
Lease liabilities payable: FERFRERRE
Within one year —&FR 1,536 2,634 1,483 2,275
Within a period of more than — & HETRBMER
one year but not more than HAH
two years - 1,536 - 1,483
Within a period of more than ME L BT BER TR
two years but not more than HAf
five years - = - =
Total minimum lease payments (X EFIB 4R 1,536 4,170 1,483 3,758
Less: Future finance charges B RS E A (53) @12) N/A N/A
Present value of lease HEAERE
obligations 1,483 3,758 1,483 3,758
Less: Amount due for settlement & : BB EIE NN
within 12 months shown 1218 A R E| ER 4
under current liabilities SR eE - - (1,483) (2,275)
Amount due for settlement after  3E7EE) & (518 PR
12 months shown under non-  A12{8 A B EH
current liabilities G| - = - 1,483

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 15.18%
(2021: 156.18%). All lease obligation that is denominated in functional

currency.

75 2 (B PR A0 B A B 315,189 (=
T——fF  15.18%) - AT E K (R
EUEE -
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40. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 40. TR ES

2022 2021
—EC-CF —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FAT
Liability component =N
Liability component of convertible bonds RN—E_FF+— A+ =ABTRE
issued on 13 November 2020 measured HXN AT EMARRESBETH
at amortised costs (Note (a)) (FffzE(a)) 16,538 45,339
Liability component of convertible bonds issued M=% = =X =—+— B&17i%#
on 21 June 2022 measured at amortised SHN AT EMARRES 8BTS
costs (Note (b)) (P 5 (o)) 29,939 -
Total liability component of convertible bonds ~ AJ & EH B EIH A% 46,477 45,339
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilites 3l : BN BEFTREEE (29,939) =
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities ERBEEFI SR 16,538 45,339
Equity component D
Equity component of convertible bonds issued RZZE =T F+—H+=HETH
on 13 November 2020 (Note (a)) AR ESEm D (@) 6,813 21,461
Equity component of convertible bonds issued R=-ZE=—FA-+—HETH
on 21 June 2022 (Note (b)) AR ES = B0 5 (BT (o) 5,602 =
Total equity component of convertible bonds ~ AIHAR% (B A RS20 4858 12,415 21,461
Notes: BdaE -
(@) Convertible bonds issued on 13 November 2020 containing liability (@ R-ZB-_EBF+-A+=HRITHNITRR

EHEEEEREESS(Z2=—F7
BRES])
R-ZZE-_TE+—A+=0 ' ARAIET
N4 4858 /100,000,000 TR ZEZ 8 K&
BHRZZE=_=F+—A+=-RHEHN=F
——FARRES o

and equity component (“CB 2021”)

On 13 November 2020, the Company issued CB 2021 with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$100,000,000 with zero coupon rate and to be
matured on 12 November 2023.

The major terms of CB 2021 are as follows: TR —FBMRESFEZERAT ¢

(i) The bondholders of CB 2021 have the right to convert all or i) R —FARREFNESFEE

(i)

any portion of CB 2021 into shares of the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.4 (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments).
The conversion rights can be exercised at any time on or after
13 November up to five days (excluding a Saturday) on which
banks generally open for normal banking business in Hong Kong
(“Business Days”) prior to the third anniversary of the date of issue.

The Company may at any time from the issue date to the maturity
date, having given not less than 10 Business Days’ notice to the
bondholders, redeem all or some of the convertible bonds on the
day fixed for redemption at such amount equivalent to 100% of the
outstanding principal amount of CB 2021 (“Issuer’s Redemption
Option A”).

(i)

ABRIRIMREOABTTH T = —
FRAHARE 7 2 B AR AR D A
AR A E D (AT #E1T = 358 59
) o AR+ — AT =HxX
ZEEEETHME=BFHNAH
(EHRRIN)  ERBRITEDR
FRET—RIRITEBOE T ([E
B DEERTE ©

ANRF A RETTHHAEDH B AR
BER BERESEABRH AR
10fAZ XA EA - BEE A SE
AR 2 APk E ) AT AR E S
ERBEFRHAREE T —F0
BIEHFARSHR100% ([ HTAE
EIfEA]) -
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40. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Convertible bonds issued on 13 November 2020 containing liability
and equity component (“CB 2021”) (Continued)

The CB 2021 contains two components, the liability and equity
components. The initial fair value of the two components was determined
based on proceeds at issuance. The initial fair value of the liability
component was estimated to be HK$65,935,000 as at 13 November
2020 (date of issue) using the residual method, taking into account the
terms and conditions of the CB 2021, based on the valuation undertaken
by an independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair value of the
Issuer’'s Redemption Option A on the date of initial recognition are
considered insignificant based on the valuation results. The liability
component is subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective
interest rate method. The effective interest rate of the liability component
of the CB 2021 is 14.90% per annum. The residual amount representing
the value of the equity component of HK$34,065,000, was presented in
equity under the heading “convertible bonds equity reserve”.

Convertible bonds issued on 21 June 2022 containing liability and
equity component (“CB 2022”)

On 21 June 2022, the Company issued CB 2022 with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$35,400,000 with zero coupon rate and to be
matured on 20 June 2023.

The major terms of CB 2022 are as follows:

(i) The bondholders of CB 2022 have the right to convert all or
any portion of CB 2022 into shares of the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.1 (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments).
The conversion rights can be exercised at any time on or after
21 June 2022 up to five days (excluding a Saturday) on which
banks generally open for normal banking business in Hong Kong
(“Business Days”) prior to the third anniversary of the date of issue.

(ii) The Company may at any time from the issue date to the maturity
date, having given not less than 10 Business Days’ notice to the
bondholders, redeem all or some of the convertible bonds on the
day fixed for redemption at such amount equivalent to 100% of the
outstanding principal amount of CB 2022 (“Issuer’s Redemption
Option B”).

40. AR ESF @

Wi

(a)

(b)

(%)

R-B-ZEE+—-A+=HRTHTER
BEHEEEEREESF(=2=—F7
BRES ) (H)

- —FARRESFE S M EE
ABERERTD - MERD 2B AFE
TRIBRTRMEBREBEE - R_T=-%
F+—A+=A(FTEE)  REHEBL
BELERGHEMETHGEE - RAKE
FEHEWEE -E - —FABRESZE
KRG E\Lunzmﬁm\?fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
65,935,000 7T ° IRIK(GELER - BITA
BERAR S ERBHNA ¥@17§
X o BEID HEB TR BRI R AZESE
%W$ﬁ50:%:f¢7ﬁhﬁﬁaﬁ
B 2 BEEFFIRA14.90% ° FIgrE&5EE
D 2 (B1E34,065,000/8 7T * JHAHE

m=A AR ESFESFEEI T2 -

o
D; tl;

R-B-—EXA-+—HRTHTERR
BHFESEBERERTA([=S=—F7q
BRES])
R-_ZE-_—FXA=-+—H ARQ7
$$@ﬁ%%4mom%ﬁ%2$%&%

R-E-—=FXA-t+RHEBH T ==
FAARRES
T FAMREFEZRFAT ¢

i) R _FABRREFNESFEE
ANGREEBREONB TN T
FARRES 2 BRAERE D ER
f%zﬁilijEﬁﬂﬁf\(gTiL??Eiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ

B) MREITR_-_ZT=__F,A
Zt+—H®ZBREFETABRE=
BEATAB(2HEAKRI) - ERH
RITETFRPIET —RRITEBD
BT ([&%A DEERTTEE -

(i) ANARRIAE 1T B = 25 B H3 R
FERF BB AERFIE A AR L TR
102 £BMEN  BEEBETE
AIED 22D AT R ES
CHEASRHEAREE-S=__F"
R ES NS FE100% ([ BT AHE
E#B]) -
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40. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Convertible bonds issued on 21 June 2022 containing liability and
equity component (“CB 2022”) (Continued)

The CB 2022 contains two components, the liability and equity
components. The initial fair value of the two components was determined
based on proceeds at issuance. The initial fair value of the liability
component was estimated to be approximately HK$29,798,000 as
at 21 June 2022 (date of issue) using the residual method, taking into
account the terms and conditions of the CB 2022, based on the valuation
undertaken by an independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair
value of the Issuer’s Redemption Option B on the date of initial recognition
are considered insignificant based on the valuation results. The liability
component is subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective
interest rate method. The effective interest rate of the liability component
of the CB 2022 is 18.80% per annum. The residual amount representing
the value of the equity component of approximately HK$5,602,000, was
presented in equity under the heading “convertible bonds equity reserve”.

As at 30 June 2022, the outstanding principal amount of CB 2021 and
CB 2022 was HK$20,000,000 and HK$35,400,000 respectively (2021:
CB 2021 was HK$63,000,000).

40. AR ESF @

Wi

(b)

(%)

Ro-B- XA+ HRTHTERR
BEHEEEERERSS (2 =—F7
BRES ) (H)

R FuRREFEEMERS - B
ABERERTD - MERD 2B AFE
TRIBRTRMEREBEE - R2T_=
FRAZT+—B(EITEY)  RBHEB
BELERGHEMETHGEE - RAKE
EHEWERE T —F A RRES 2K
KRG :éf/\unzmm‘lfﬁﬁﬁﬁ’l
/29,798,000/8 7T ° IRIBHELR @ 1T
/\EEE%BWJJ;FEEWEB;%/AiﬁIT
BKX - BES ‘E«ém BEBRF R AR
BHRAGTRE - —T - —FARRESE
BEfD 2 B EFE518.80% ° Ftrw
RS E D 2 (B{E495,602,000/8 7T * JTHHA
A I BRRESERSHEE T2

RZTE-_—FXA=t+H —FT=—%F
ARBEEFR S —FAARESN
KRIEE A £ 55 5l &20,000,000 % 7T K&
35,400,000 T(ZFBE=-_—F : T -_—4F
A% &5 A63,000,000/87T)
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40. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 40. TR ES @)
Notes: (Continued) BisE : (48)
(b)  Convertible bonds issued on 21 June 2022 containing liability and b) RSB -FEXA-+—HBITHAERRK
equity component (“CB 2022”) (Continued) BEXEsaBRERS s (=S =—F7
BRIRES ) (&)
The movement of liability component and equity component of CB 2021 BE-_ T A=tHR-_T_—%F
and CB 2022 for the years ended 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 is set ANA=TAHLFE  ZE=—FraRE
out below: FREIZZCFABRKRESFHNEESS M

RO MEBBIIT :

Liability component Equity component
aEHD RS
CB 2021 CB 2022 Total CB 2021 CB 2022 Total
—E--F —EC-CE —E--F C—B-CE
TARES  ATRRES ax  TRRES  TRRES st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T T TBT T TET THT

Issuance of CB 2021 BT
Itz 100,000 = = = = = -
Liability component of CB 2021 =% = —Ea[#Ai (5
at the date of issuance FRETHENE
&y (65,935) 65,935 - 65,935 - - -
Equity component of CB 2021  —Z = —Fa## k(&
at the date of issuance HRE(T AR E
%555 (34,065) - - - 34,065 - 34,065
Interest accrued FESTFIE = 4,397 - 4,397 - - -
Conversion of CB 2021 into BT —FAk
Company’s shares REFAART
&t - (24,993) - (24,993) (12,604) - (12,604)
At 30 June 2021 and RZB=—F5xA
1 July 2021 =tARR=Z
——%tA-A - 45,339 - 45,339 21,461 - 21,461
Issuance of CB 2022 e S—
&% 35,400 - - _ _ _ _
Liability component of CB 2022 —Z = —Fa[#&fk(E
at the date of issuance FRETAERNE
& (29,798) - 29,798 29,798 - - -
Equity component of CB 2022 —Z = —Fa[#k(E
at the date of issuance FREITH R
%85 (5,602) - - - - 5,602 5,602
Interest accrued TS - 3,056 141 3,197 = = =
Redemption fE [ = (31,857) - (31,857) (14,648) - (14,648)
At 30 June 2022 R=B-—&xA

SidH = 16,538 29,939 46,477 6,813 5,602 12,415
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41. BUSINESS COMBINATION 41, ¥EE6

Acquisition of Aevitas Wines Limited

On 16 October 2020, Prosper Path Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party vendor to acquire 70% entire equity interest
of Aevitas Wines Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, at
a cash consideration of HK$8,400,000 (the “Acquisition”). Aevitas
Wines Limited are principally engaged in trading and sourcing of wine
and related accessories. The Acquisition was completed on 19 October
2020.

The non-controlling interests in Aevitas Wines Limited recognised at the
acquisition date was measured with reference to the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of net assets of Aevitas
Wines Limited at that date.

Since the Acquisition, the acquired entity contributed approximately
HK$7,987,000 to the Group’s revenue and approximately
HK$5,723,000 to the Group’s loss after tax for the year ended 30 June
2021.

Had the above business combinations taken place at the beginning
of the year, the Group’s revenue and loss after tax for the year would
have been approximately HK$236,571,000 and approximately
HK$460,707,000 respectively. The proforma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of the total
revenue and loss after tax of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the Acquisition been taken place at the beginning of the
year, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.

W BEAevitas Wines Limited
N-ZZE=ZFFE+A+A8 ARARZENE
A Al Prosper Path Limited 82 — 8 % 37 55 =
FBHIMEE R - WEES SR
#) A & Aevitas Wines Limited #)70% % 4
3% R {8 48,400,000/ 7T ([ WEEEE ) -
Aevitas Wines Limited T EX EBRHEE &
HE o WHEBEON T -_ZF+A1+AHE
SERK ©

YRR E B FE R Aevitas Wines Limited &9 3F
YRR HEZS - JH 222 Aevitas Wines Limited#E
® B EEFENATEMGIHERER
BlEtE o

BUEEERE HE_E-—FA=1
ALEEE BRBEEEAANEEERKES
7,987,000/ 7T * WARNEEBRKRIRZE
18495,723,000/ 7T °

& LR HRFNET  ARER
ZFEN RS RGREBRSED AN
236,571,000, 7T 1 4 460,707,000 8 7T °

EEETRBEERERBEREINELRE N
BREEREE - MEBERBREENRA -
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41. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 41, ¥¥ES6tm

Acquisition of Aevitas Wines Limited (Continued)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
acquired during the year ended 30 June 2021 as at the date of

Acquisition is set out below:

Y i& Aevitas Wines Limited (&)
REZE-ZT - —FA=1THIEFE @ F1ikk
BB AR HAEERBEEKES
HHBNAFESSOT ¢

Aevitas Wines

Limited
HK$’000
FAT
Inventories F& 582
Trade receivables fEURE 5 8R1E 13,020
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEFRIE ~ AT R E MR IE 18,239
Bank and cash balances RITRIR S EET 40
Trade payables FEE S5 BR1E (137)
Other loans HEMER (35,000)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value DA EF AR FEEEARE (3,256)
Goodwill arising on Acquisition WHE S THEEEE 10,679
Non-controlling interests FEE IR A 977
Total consideration #wRE 8,400
Consideration satisfied by: HUATAXNZARE :
Cash consideration paid BEfRESRE 8,400
Net cash outflow arising from the Acquisition: WEEEELENRS R RE :
Cash consideration paid B3RS NRE (8,400)
Cash and cash equivalent acquired g IR € RIREe EEY 40

(8,360)
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42. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 42, KILFEE AIRME AT

Save for disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Acquisition, during the year ended 30 June 2021, the
Group acquired 70% equity interest in Aevitas Wines Limited (the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiary”), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong and principally engaged in trading and sourcing of wine and
related accessories.

Since May 2021, the sole director of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary,
being the vendor of the Acquisition, who held 30% equity interest in
the Deconsolidated Subsidiary immediately following the Acquisition,
did not cooperate with the management of the Group to maintain the
appropriate internal control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiary and
provide all books and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary despite
various communications with the sole director of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiary. For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021, the
Directors of the Company were unable to obtain sufficient and
appropriate books and records regarding the financial information of
the Deconsolidated Subsidiary. In this connection, the Directors of the
Company were of the view that the Company was unable to exercise
effective control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiary following various
efforts has been made by the Directors of the Company to resolve the
aforesaid matter. As a result, the Directors of the Company resolved
that it was impracticable to consolidate the financial information of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiary under which the financial results, assets
and liabilities have been deconsolidated from the Group with effective
from 30 June 2021 (the “Deconsolidation”). The Deconsolidation had
resulted a loss of approximately HK$4.4 million to the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2021.

BRRERE R4 R ENRES
BN REEZ —FEXNA=ZTHILSF
B AEBEWRERESEMNL - 21
=05 B B K IERE A Aevitas Wines Limited
([#IEERE NBRMB A A ) K 70%[%# ©

BE-ZE-_—FH AR  BEERKILGRE AR
F B A R RO ME— E?LTT%/A—’EL B4
FaARMBEARNE—E=(AKEEE
WERH @ REEZREBFEERFERILES
AR P8 2 R130% AR #E ) ARG B AR SR B I8 &
a1 iTmlJ:iﬁ/\)\EEWJ%“ET,%’E%@E?E@
WEPESE - IR AIRMKRILGRE ARIB A
AIWVFTA BRE RAC 8% o Z%fﬁ*”zﬁﬁlﬁi_
T —FRNA=THLEFERNGE WER
® ' ARREFEARRIGZEARNEBA
RIS ERES RS MEE ERE M adk o
Fit - AR ESHEERFEZHETRR
AR - BARRMIAREEE R IERS ARR
M A RITTREARUES] - Bk - ARARIES
R BRI E ABRME A RIM M B ER
oNe) )\%‘?T\tﬂf—ﬁﬁ EIH:’%?R—F NS ]
ﬁ%%iﬁ ° §F&QEZ*A)\EE(f%¢%§éA
B #HEZTZ-—FA=THLFE "
RILERE ABRBEUSIEL4.48 8B T
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42. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 42, & IHRE ARMEBA B @

(Continued)

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company and the sole
director of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (“SPA”) dated 7 October 2021, pursuant to which
the sole director has agreed to acquire, and the Group agreed to
dispose of the entire equity interest in the Deconsolidated Subsidiary,
being 70% equity interest in the Deconsolidated Subsidiary at a cash
consideration of HK$3.8 million (the “Disposal”). The Disposal was
completed on 13 April 2022 which resulted a gain on the Disposal of
HK$3.8 million recognised in the Group’s profit or loss for the year
ended 30 June 2022.

For the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2021, the Group had consolidated the financial
results, assets and liabilities of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary based
on its unaudited management information received from the date of
acquisition of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary up to 30 June 2021.

The following is the unaudited financial information of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiary as at 30 June 2021:

HE_T-_—_FA=THILLFE  &~AQAF
B FERA ABRI B A RIRME—E SR H
HAE—T-_—Ft+AtHEEHR(EE
W&l Bt ZE—EFRBEWE -
AEEREHERLEGE ARMNBEARR
2 PR (BN IEAR & ABRHT B A Fl/I70%
rpRiE) - WERERISERB ([ HES
BH])  HEFEER T —FMWA+=H
TR WEREREBEE-_T-_—F A=+
AIEFEERxRRALESEH =38
BEAT

REEBE—T-—FA=THIEFEZ
FelsmRmE - AEBESREEKE
MAREEZEREE BRI R IR S ARNE
RERBBL e ARKB AR EHEE
R FERA=THIENMEES BE
RAEFEAARK -

RIEEEARNBARR _E_—FXA
=T HEREEZMBERDT

HK$’000

FAT

Goodwil (kS 10,679
Inventories FE 854
Trade receivables FEURE 5 8RR 1,459
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEFRIE © e R EMEIERIE 45,243
Bank and cash balances 1T IR B R 510
Amount due to the Company JEN AN B FIE (32,000)
Other payables and accruals EAth S 5E K ERTE A (238)
Other loans HER (18,807)
Bank loans RITER (6,000)
Net assets of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary LI E ANBRNBARMNEEFE 1,700
Non-controlling interests VIR 2,694
Loss on Deconsolidation R A NBRRETE 4,394
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42. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 42, K ILFEE ARME A T @)
(Continued)
Transactions had been carried out by the Deconsolidated Subsidiary BWEEEEEEE—_T—_—F, A=1+H
since the Acquisition up to the year ended 30 June 2021 are as follow: IEFERILGRA ARKBARFTHETR S0
T
HK$'000
FAT
Revenue Weas 7,987
Cost of sales SHERAR (2,045)
Gross profit FEH 5,942
Other income and other gains or losses E A A R H iz sk 518 (4,443)
Selling and distribution costs $HE & 2 $HRCA (12)
Administrative expenses THAX (7,127)
Loss from operations KRB E (5,640)
Finance costs BARS R AR (48)
Loss before tax BRETAIE (5,688)
Income tax expense FriSH 2 (35)

Loss for the year FAEE (5,723)
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43. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 43. HEMBE AT

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

On 17 December 2021, Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical, an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sales and purchase agreement
with an independent third party to the Group, pursuant to which,
Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical agreed to dispose its 100% equity
interest in Jinyang Municipal at a consideration of RMB1,200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,451,000). The disposal was
completed on 16 June 2022 and resulted a gain on disposal of a
subsidiary amounted to approximately HK$10,200,000 recognised in
the Group’s profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2022,

Save for disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements,
Jinyang Municipal was engaged in construction services, being
a separate major line of the Group’s businesses, accordingly,
the comparative figures for the year ended 30 June 2021 under
the reportable segment of construction services presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income had been re-presented as a discontinued operation. Set out
below the financial performance of Jinyang Municipal for the years
ended 30 June 2021 and 2022 re-presented under discontinued
operation:

HERB AR ZWE
N-ZT=——F+=—A++tH HEZENE
AR T HEC THEAEBE L E =75
NEE R Bt HTHECTIRES
EEMBPFESEMEM100%E - RKEAR
A K #1,200,0007T (1HE R #1,451,000%8
) HEEEER-E-__F XA +xH
TR WERAAEEBEE-_T-_—F~A
= tRIFENERRPERALENE AR
U %54910,200,000/8 7T °

BN E MR RME12FT R EEN - &
Pt B REERT - AASBEBNEL
T At - NEAERREMEERAR
B EERE I RE D PEES = —FN
A=THIEFENERETEEIAERIE
R - @GMBEE—T - —FR=F
CoEARACTHIEFERERIEGERT
HTEEIWFEMBRENT ¢

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Administrative expenses TR (16) (72)
Other operating expenses HAb > - (8,524)
Reversal of impairment on trade receivables [EUNE 5 RIE R E R D - 894
Impairment on other receivables H fth fE e OB RLE (160) (84,058)
Finance costs P ZIDIN - 91)
Loss for the year from discontinued operation 28 B B 4% | F & S 55 10 E N B8 (176) (91,851)
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43. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 43. HEMEB A B @)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Continued) HEMRB QR 2 @)
Net liabilities of Jinyang Municipal at the date of disposal were as EMEALERNEEFERRAT
follows:
HK$’'000
FAT
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR ~ e REMEREIR 465
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEEE 1
Other payables and accruals HAth fES SIE K B AT E A (10,642)
Bank loans RITER (32,119)
Total net liabilities disposal of EHEAEFE (42,295)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve FRIR HINEEBE (R 6,312
Financial guarantee of a bank loan IRITE R BEHER 27,214
Gain on disposal ez s 10,220
Total consideration receivable (Note) FEUR R (B 4858 (MI5E) 1,451
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEMNBSMAFE :
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHENRe MREEEIER ()
(1)
Note: The consideration of the disposal of Jinyang Municipal amounted to Mz : B2 _—FA=THIEFE ' HK
approximately HK$1,451,000 had not yet been received during the year IRER 49 551,451,000/ TR & 2 BB B A
ended 30 June 2022. The consideration receivable is included in the RE - ZERRREBAFALREEAR-_T -
Group’s other receivables as at 30 June 2022. Subsequent to the end FERNAZTHNEMERTIE - REBZE=
of reporting period in September 2022, the consideration receivable was T _FAAREHRE BRREER

fully settled. S ©

r
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44, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 44. FREE

Litigation with China Electricity Construction
Consultant Group Dongbei Electricity Design
College

On 19 November 2012, China Electricity Construction Consultant
Group Dongbei Electricity Design College* (B E ) T2 EREE R
JEE I &ETFL) (the “Plaintiff”) filed a writ (the “Writ”) at the high court
of Heilongjiang Province in the PRC (the “Heilongjiang High Court”)
against Mudanjiang BD Power, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

Mudanjiang BD Power had contracted the Plaintiff to construct certain
coal-powered electricity generating facilities at the business address of
Mudanjiang BD Power (the “Contract”). According to the management
of Mudanjiang BD Power, the construction work had been slowed
down because the financial resources available for the project
development were tied up by unfavourable business operations since
2009. Owing to the alleged delay in the progress of the construction,
the Plaintiff claimed against Mudanjiang BD Power () the payment of
the contract sum in the amount of approximately RMB42,700,000
and the interest thereon; (ii) the grant of the first priority right to
receive payment from Mudanjiang BD Power in respect of the subject
construction project under the Contract; (i) damages in the sum of
approximately RMB13,300,000 for alleged termination of the Contract;
and (iv) the legal fees arising from this legal case. The Company has
been seeking legal advice in respect of the Writ on the dispute in the
payment for the Contract since December 2012.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Heilongjiang High Court had
adjudged that Mudanjiang BD Power was liable to compensate the
Plaintiff of approximately RMB61,400,000. Upon the end of the year
ended 30 June 2021, Mudanjiang BD Power was negotiating with the
Plaintiff to continue the construction of the coal-powered electricity
generating facilities. Once performance of the Contract was resumed
under the mutual agreement between Mudanjiang BD Power and the
Plaintiff, part of the damages granted may be absorbed in the cost of
construction. Up to the approval date on these financial statements,
the negotiation between Mudanjiang BD Power and the Plaintiff had yet
been concluded.

Despite the above, the management has made sufficient provision for
this legal claim included in other payables and accruals at the end of
each reporting periods and believes that a favorable settlement could
be reached with the Plaintiff.

*  English name is for identification purpose only

EPEENIRERSERLE
R ETBE RYER A

R-Z——F+—A+tNB FEEHTE
B S EERALE D RatB ([ RE DR R
BEIERSER ([ BEIRSER DR
HARRRZEE2ENBEARMTERRE
2R <R »

HATERRAEGHUNE S TERRE L
B2 B TR RBEEREER TRINITIR
E(EE)]) - BEHATERRAEEEE -
HRE ST NFRAMBIEEHESHA
BERI T AR R SERIRE
—E&E -  HNEBERTREEHT @ R
SRS TERRERR()INERESER
H ) AR EE42,700,0007T B EF S (i)iRH
BHATERAERERE N EEERIEE
WEGRIE 2 BBk s (iEBBRIEE
B B8 A E 4 AR #13,300,0007T ¢ K (iv)
KNERFRAEEZERER - ARAIEZT
——HF+ AR ERBEERNRTEE

SHREICEZER °

HE-_ZT-NFAA=THLFE Bl
EBEERBHSHMNIERRAEARERES
B E A A R¥61,400,0007C ° REZE - =
——F®XA=THILEEER  HPTERZR
BEREEITRER - NEEEIEREER
Mo AR EH T ERATEREE R
B TNIRIEETT » 3P0 £ B E n] BE BN AR 4%
MRBEKARFR - BEEZFLRE M HREIE
BE - M TR AE E RS AL
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BE EXpr - BERED RS REHR
B ET AR FOR K B AT B A AR
RatiRFn R BE - WREATEBREZKE T
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45. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 45 BEEBEEZEBHE
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows

TRAJAEEREEDELZAEBE
(BRAS LIRSS - RERBELLZ
BEREASREER  HAKRRERER

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated ERAEENLGEHESRERADEARE

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

B HEREZRE

Liability
component
Other Bank Bonds  of convertible Lease
loans loans payable bonds liabilities Total
ERES
AEH RIEH Efif% a&Hs HEER @t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Thr ThT T ThT
At 1July 2020 R-E-F4¢A-A 65,716 67,304 988,268 - 5733 1,127,021
(Changes from financing cash flows HERERELRY (16,199 (6,297) (2,000) 65,035 (1,975) 39,470
Acquisttion of a subsidary WE-HKBAR 35,000 - - - - 35,000
Deconsolidation BIHFA AR (18,807) (6,000 - - - (24,807)
Exchange differences EXER 2,960 4,159 - - - 7,119
Interest expenses R 9919 1,825 109,321 4397 659 126,121
Conversion to ordinary shares SRALER - - - (24,993) - (24,093
Interest paid classfied as operating NRRRERENEY
cash flows EffE (9919 (1,825) (9,809) - (659) (22,208)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZB--FrA=TAR
“--%tA-A 68,676 59,166 1,085,784 45,339 3,758 1,262,723
(Changes from financing cash flows HEREREZEY 53921 (3,676) (137,399) (31,857) (2.275) (121,285)
Exchange differences EiER (2,197) 989) - - - (3,186)
Disposal of a subsidlary HERBAR - (32,119 - - - (32,119
Interest expenses HEH 19,354 1,065 155,489 3197 359 179,464
Interest paid classified as operating NEBREREREL
cash flows EfifIE (6918) (1,065) (8,800) - (359 (16,142)
Interest accrued in other payables REMERTEZEHE (13.436) - - - - (13,436
(Gain on early redemption of bonds RABRESNE - - (10,321) - - (10,321)
Settlement of bonds by issuing convertible ERETARES
bonds - - (18,600) 29,798 - 11,198
At 30 June 2022 R=B-—F~A=1H 120,400 22,382 1,066,154 46,477 1,483 1,256,896
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,

46. BEALIRS
AR B TS TRR TR A I - AN EdfE

the Group had the following transactions with related parties: ATHR ST :
(@) Compensation of key management personnel (a) FEEEEASNFMNSEE

(b)

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

FR - EEREMBIEEEEKEN
HEHaT

2022 2021
s F - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THETT
Short-term employee benefits EEEEERN 1,920 1,900
Share option benefits AR A - 10,269
Post-employment benefits BERRE A 33 33
1,953 12,202

Balance with related party (b) EREAEALHVEEER
Name of related party  Relationship Nature of balance 2022 2021
BEALHB e REERMEE —ECF —T—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT FAT
Aevitas Wines Limited Deconsolidated subsidiary Current account (Note) - 32,000

BILGEANRMBLR  BIEARR(PHED)

Note: Immediately following the Deconsolidation, Aevitas Wines Limited is
no longer a related party of the Group.

The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Miek: ZBRER LS AKRE © Aevitas
Wines Limited 1~ 4 2N &5 B /) 78 132
AL e

BERREER - 2B NARENRE
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

(b)

(c)

Taking over and deconsolidation of
Mudanjiang BD Power

On 26 August 2022, # f)T T 1% 5 F1 35k 46 72 % H Mudanijiang
Authority of Housing and Urban-Rural Development* (the
“Authority”) issued a notice (the “Notice”) to Mudanjiang BD
Power, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on
26 August 2022 (the “Effective Date”) stating that in order to
ensure the stability of the heat supply to the local residents in
Mudanjiang in the coming winter, the Authority has temporarily
taken over (the “Taking Over”) the operations of Mudanjiang
BD Power in order to safeguard the public interest of the local
residents. Since then, the Group has lost control over Mudanijiang
BD Power from the Effective Date until the Notice shall no longer
take effect.

In view of the escalating coal price resulting in huge operating
costs of Mudanjiang BD Power, the Group had not been able
to meet the requirements on coal storage, maintenance of the
plants and the capital requirements imposed by the Authority.
The Group had been discussing with the Authority in the past
few months to deliver the operation of Mudanjiang BD Power to
the Authority. The Authority had issued the Notice to the Group
for the Taking Over subsequent to such discussion. Details of
above are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 6
September 2022 and 14 September 2022.

Conversion of convertible bonds

On 21 June 2022, the Company issued convertible bonds in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$35,400,000 with the rights
to converted into 354,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
at conversion price of HK$0.1 per share. The convertible bonds
with carrying amount of approximately HK$29,939,000 were
converted into 354,000,000 ordinary shares on 4 July 2022.

Capital reorganisation and rights issue

On 18 October 2022, the Company announced that the Board of
the Company proposes to implement the capital reorganisation
(the “Capital Reorganisation”) which comprise the followings:

(i) the share consolidation whereby every twenty (20) of the
Company’s existing ordinary shares to be consolidated
into one (1) consolidated share;

* English name'is for identification purpose only

47. MEWREH

(a)

(b)

(c)
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(c) Capital reorganisation and rights issue

(Continued)

(i)  the capital deduction whereby the issued share capital of
the Company will be reduced by (a) rounding down the
total number of consolidated shares in the issued share
capital of the Company to the nearest whole number by
cancelling any fraction of a consolidated share in the issued
share capital of the Company; and (b) cancelling the paid
up capital of the Company to the extent of HK$1.9 on each
of the then issued consolidated shares such that the par
value of each issued consolidated share will be reduced
from HK$2.0 to HK$0.1;

(i)  the share sub-division whereby each of the authorised but
unissued consolidated shares will be divided into twenty
(20) adjusted shares of HK$0.1 each;

(iv)  the share premium reduction whereby the entire amount
standing to the credit of the share premium account will be
reduced to nil; and

(v)  the transfer of all the credits arising from the capital
reduction and the share premium reduction to the
contributed surplus account of the Company within the
meaning of the Companies Act which will be applied to
reduce the accumulated losses of the Company or be
applied by the Board in any other manner in accordance
with the bye laws of the Company and all applicable laws
of Bermuda from time to time without further authorisation
from the Company’s shareholders.

Subject to the Capital Reorganisation becoming effective,
the Board proposes to implement a rights issue (the “Rights
Issue”) on the basis of five (5) rights shares for every two (2)
then shares held by the Qualifying Shareholders (as defined in
the announcement of the Company dated 18 October 2022
(“October 2022 Announcement”)) on the Record Date (as
defined in the October 2022 Announcement).

Details of the proposed Capital Reorganisation and Rights Issue
are set out in the October 2022 Announcement.

47. REPESEH @

(c)
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 47. BEP RSB @

(Continued)
(d) Litigation with Liao Yuan Jingang Cement (d) EBEEEREMARE(KE)ER

Group Limited* (“Liao Yuan Jingang”) E/R&
R (RE) BRAF

On 26 August 2022, Mudianjiang New Energy, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company commenced a
legal proceeding against Liao Yuan Jingang in Jilin, the PRC,
demanding it to return 51% of the equity interest of Mudianjiang
BD Power which had been pledged to Liao Yuan Jingang as
security for a loan in the principal sum of RMB60 million (the
“Loan”) at an interest rate of 9% per annum pursuant to a loan
agreement and a share transfer agreement dated 28 September
2021 and 30 September 2021 respectively. Liao Yuan Jingang
is in breach of the said agreements by failing to advance the
Loan to the Group as per the terms of the said agreement. As of
the approval date on these financial statements, the Group has
been informed by its PRC legal advisers that the court of Jilin has

DT ([FEREM 1) KRR

—E_—FN\A=+XH  A2FME
2 EWEB R AT HEREF =
HEMEHBERSAIREEARZFA - BX
HiRED GG ERS M TE
HEES1%RIIE - BRIBRE R -
tEARe ARBeOEE TNER([&
RDER - FHERBI% - KEHS
MEZE_—FALAZ+NBRZ=ZE
——FhA=tBEHBRHERGS
FERESRIARZE LB IETR AN ER
BNER - ER bz - BEARY
BWERIER - AEBEDEHEFPBE
ZEMENEWEARE RBZAER

accepted the legal proceedings. 7o

48. #tEMBERE

MHHRERER_E-_—_F+A=-+—RHEE
EERAERIAETIH -

48. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 21 October 2022.

*  English name is for identification purpose only * Y TEEM



